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The Council Plan adopted in 2009 was guided by the following Vision, Mission and Values:

VISION A strong, engaged community creating a dynamic future together.

MISSION Leadership in the provision of community infrastructure and services.

VALUES FARINESS 
We respect and understand the needs of our community and balance these  
in our decision making.

PARTNERSHIP 
We work with others for the benefit of our community.

EXCELLENCE 
We strive for quality in all our work.

ACCOUNTABILITY 
We make decisions openly and take responsibility for our actions.

RESPONSIBILITY 
We provide stewardship for the Shire’s assets and finances in order to  
protect them for the future.

The Council elected in October 2012 drafted a new Council Plan for the period 2013-2017.  
You can read more about the new Plan on page 68.

Council’s vision, 
mission and values
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ABOUT OUR SHIRE
Mount Alexander Shire is a diverse municipality 
with urban and rural communities, some having 
national, historic and environmental significance.

The region is widely known for its historical 
significance heralding from the boom time of the 
1800s gold rush. Picturesque rural land, rolling hills, 
granite outcrops and environmentally important 
bushlands add great beauty to the area.

Located within commuting distance of both 
Melbourne and Bendigo, our population of 17,800 
people live mostly in the townships of Castlemaine, 
Guildford, Harcourt, Maldon, Newstead and 
Taradale. Castlemaine is the largest town, with 
Castlemaine and surrounds home to 50% of our 
population.

Mount Alexander Shire has a history as a centre 
for manufacturing, which remains the Shire’s 
largest employer. Other major employers include 
health care, retail, education and training, and 
construction. 

The expansion of KR Castlemaine, the region’s 
largest employer, continues our history with food 
manufacturing. Several large heavy engineering 
companies are vital to the local economy. 
Agricultural and horticultural enterprises are 
also an important part of the region’s economic 
diversity and success.

The introduction of faster and more frequent 
commuter train services both into Melbourne and 
Bendigo has widened employment opportunities 
for local residents.

The works at the local hospital, the Castlemaine 
Secondary College and Loddon Prison will also 
contribute to a strong future for our Shire.

We have a highly engaged and active community, 
with strengths in the arts, culture and sustainability. 
The Shire benefits from above average levels 
of volunteering, community engagement and 
participation in artistic and cultural activity.

Like many regional communities, our community is 
ageing. According to our 2013 community profile 
the median age of Mount Alexander residents is 47.

In this financial year, Council adopted its 2013-2017 
Council Plan with a vision for a thriving community 
working together to create a sustainable and 
vibrant future.

Council has been working to deliver improved 
infrastructure to meet the needs of our community. 
Our roads, bridges and community facilities require 
ongoing attention. Our role in advocating for the 
needs of our community continues in the areas of 
transport, housing, youth, sport and recreation and 
aged care services.

Promoting our Shire as a great place to invest, 
innovate and do business is an important aspect 
of what we do to ensure our community remains 
vibrant and self-supporting.

A detailed profile of our community can be 
accessed via Council’s website  
www.mountalexander.vic.gov.au

A snapshot of Mount 
Alexander Shire
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I have gained a great deal of satisfaction from 
reading the 2012/2013 Annual Report of the Mount 
Alexander Shire Council. 214 staff and seven 
Councillors have worked to implement Council’s 
plan for the year. We have essentially completed 
flood recovery work needed as a result of the  
2010-2012 floods, using Federal and State 
funding. This was an enormous undertaking and 
congratulations are due to our Infrastructure 
Department that carried out the works. 

Several major projects are now underway. We have 
seven major recreation reserves and 11 smaller 
reserves. The Master Plans for the major recreation 
reserves are now being implemented. Construction 
of a pavilion at Newstead will soon begin and plans 
are being developed for a pavilion at Wesley Hill. 
These are some of the first steps in a 15 year,  
$21 million project which will revolutionise our 
sporting facilities. We will also carry out works 
at all 11 smaller reserves. Planning is also being 
carried out for a walking/cycling path from Maldon 
to Castlemaine, as part of a broad plan to link 
communities with such tracks. 

Much of the work required to prepare the Civic 
Centre as a base for Council staff was carried out 
in the year and the results are there for everyone 
to see. The project was completed on time and on 
budget and much credit is due to Alison McKenzie, 
our Major Projects Facilitator. I can already see  
the lift in staff morale which has followed from 
moving together into a very functional and well 
designed building. 

A highlight of each year is the Community 
Grants Program and this year we distributed over 
$160,000 to a wide range of groups. We are able 
to maintain such a program as a result of carefully 
managing our budget and our financial statements 
clearly show that we are in good financial shape. 

Reports against our Council Plan commitments 
shows that we achieved most of our objectives. 
We acknowledge that the Community Satisfaction 
Survey results reveal that we have some way to go 
before we can claim to have widespread support in 
the Shire. The figures improved from 2011/2012 and 
we have committed ourselves to consulting more 
widely over the life of the present Council. 

We move ahead into the 2013/2014 year with 
confidence and determination, aiming to build  
on the considerable achievements demonstrated  
in this report. 

Michael Redden  
Mayor

Mayor’s  
message
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I am pleased to report that the 2012/2013 financial 
year has been very successful. Council delivered 
a significant capital works program, continued 
the trend in achieving substantial income through 
State and Federal Government grants for key 
projects and reinforced Council’s improved financial 
sustainability over recent years.

Council again adopted an Annual Plan setting out 
the major projects and initiatives for the year and 
regular reports on progress have been provided 
during the year. 

The newly elected Council spent considerable 
time developing the new Council Plan to guide 
their term. Councillors were keen for community 
involvement in shaping up the plan and the 
positive response from community members 
was encouraging. This response reinforced the 
improved results reflected in the Community 
Satisfaction Survey which show growing 
community confidence in Council’s overall direction 
and in advocacy on behalf of the community on 
the major issues.

Financial performance

Council’s budget strategy is guided by the Long 
Term Financial Plan. Reviewed each year, the plan 
aims to ensure that Council has the resources 
available to it to meet community needs into the 
future. The strategy seeks to manage debt levels, 
increase financial reserves, maximise income from 
grants and channel increased investment into 
upgraded local roads, community buildings and 
sporting facilities.

The major program of capital works to repair 
flood damage to roads, drainage systems and 
community buildings has been concluded on time 

and on budget. In total over $25 million in repairs 
and improvements have been delivered over 
the last two years with funding from the Natural 
Disaster Funding Program, a joint program of the 
State and Federal Governments.

Thank you

On behalf of the staff I would like to thank the 
Councillors for their support and for the time 
they commit to the role. I would like to especially 
acknowledge the Councillors who retired at the 
Council elections held late last year and wish 
them all the best for the future. Thank you also 
to our Council staff for their dedication and 
professionalism. Our community should be proud 
of the highly qualified and passionate team that 
works on their behalf. The new accommodation 
arrangement with the completion of the Civic 
Centre and refurbishment of the Castlemaine Town 
Hall provides a contemporary working environment 
for staff and delivers an integrated customer 
service centre for residents.

This year’s results reflect a constructive relationship 
between Councillors, staff and the community. I 
encourage you to read the report and reflect on the 
important progress that we have made together 
in reinforcing Mount Alexander as a great place in 
which to live, work and invest.

PHIL ROWLAND, 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Chief Executive 
Officer’s  
message



Your Council
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COUNCIL ELECTIONS
In October 2012 all Victorian Councils held 
municipal general elections. Mount Alexander Shire 
Council’s general election was conducted by the 
Victorian Electoral Commission as a postal election. 

The seven Councillors of Mount Alexander Shire 
Council were elected by voters in five Wards. Four 
Wards, comprising one Councillor each, elected four 
of the seven Council members under the preferential 
voting system. These Wards are Tarrengower, 
Coliban, Calder and Loddon Wards. The Castlemaine 
Ward elected three Councillors under the 
proportional representation system of voting. 

Councillors are elected by voters to represent the 
whole Shire of Mount Alexander.

ELECTED REPRESENTATIVES
The newly elected Council presented a balance of 
experienced and new members, each elected to 
represent the diverse needs of the Shire.  
 
Initial responsibilities included the mapping out 
of a new four-year Council Plan 2013-2017, the 
assuring of long term financial sustainability for 
the Shire in the Long Term Financial Plan and 
the adoption of the Annual Plan and Budget for 
2013/2014.

The new Council comprises Tim Barber, Tony Bell, 
Chris Cole, Christine Henderson, Jessica Howard, 
Michael Redden and Sharon Telford.

Jessica  
Howard 
CASTLEMAINE

Christine 
Henderson 
COLIBAN

Sharon 
Telford 
TARRENGOWER

Michael 
Redden (Mayor) 
LODDON RIVER

Tim  
Barber 
CALDER

Chris 
Cole 
CASTLEMAINE

Tony 
Bell 
CASTLEMAINE
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Councillor Michael Redden 
Elected Mayor for 2013/2014 mayoral year at the Statutory  
Meeting of Council on 1 November 2012.
Ward: Loddon
First elected to Council: December 2008
Committee Membership:  
Guildford Hall Committee of Management  
Guildford Saddle Club Reserve Committee of Management  
John Powell Reserve Committee of Management  
Muckleford Community Centre Committee of Management  
Newstead Community Centre Committee of Management  
Newstead Rotunda Park Committee of Management  
Goldfields Regional Library Corporation  
Mount Alexander Shire Audit and Risk Advisory Committee  
Disability Action Plan Advisory Committee 

Councillor Tim Barber
Ward: Calder
First elected to Council: February 2012
Committee Membership: 
Sutton Grange Hall Committee of Management  
Calder Regional Waste Management Group  
Municipal Association of Victoria  
Harcourt After the By-Pass Committee 

Councillor Tony Bell
Ward: Castlemaine
First elected to Council: October 2012
Committee Membership: 
Calder Highway Improvement Committee  
Calder Regional Waste Management Group 

Councillor Chris Cole
Ward: Castlemaine
First elected to Council: October 2012
Committee Membership: 
Castlemaine War Memorial Stadium Committee of Management  
Buda Historic Home and Garden  
Mount Alexander Shire Council Audit and Risk Advisory Committee  
Municipal Emergency Management Planning Committee  
Disability Action Plan Advisory Committee

YOUR COUNCIL
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Councillor Christine Henderson
Ward: Coliban
First elected to Council: December 2008
Committee Membership:  
Chewton Community and Senior Citizens Centre Committee of Management  
Elphinstone Community Facilities Committee of Management  
Metcalfe Hall Committee of Management  
Taradale Hall Committee of Management  
Taradale Mineral Springs Committee of Management  
Taradale Recreation Reserve Committee of Management  
Victorian Local Governance Association  
Local Community Planning Project Project Management Group  
Mount Alexander Shire Heritage Advisory Committee  
Municipal Fire Management Planning Committee 

Councillor Jessica Howard
Ward: Castlemaine
First elected to Council: October 2012
Committee Membership: 
Mount Alexander Diggings Management Board  
Friends of Lolotoe  
Mount Alexander Community Information Centre  
Mount Alexander Community Land Trust Ltd Board

Councillor Sharon Telford
Ward: Tarrengower
First elected to Council: October 2012
Committee Membership: 
Baringhup Community Association Committee of Management  
Mount Alexander Diggings Management Board  
Workspace Australia  
Mount Alexander Shire Heritage Advisory Committee  
Walking and Cycling Advisory Committee 
Bill Woodfull Recreation Reserve Committee of Management 
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WARD MAP

MALDON

TARRENGOWER WARD
Councillors: 1

CALDER WARD
Councillors: 1

COLIBAN WARD
Councillors: 1

LODDON RIVER WARD
Councillors: 1

HARCOURT

CASTLEMAINE

NEWSTEAD

TARADALE

CASTLEMAINE WARD
Councillors: 3

NB: Map supplied by the Victorian Electoral Commission
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From September 2010 to February 2012, a 
series of storm events struck the region. These 
events caused significant damage to Council and 
community infrastructure including footpaths, 
walking trails and recreation facilities.

Since the flood recovery coordination began in 
February 2012, around $20 million was spent in 17 
months and within the constrictions of the funding 
requirements. The Council’s damage assets have 
been restored within the required time frame, and 
within the estimated costs of restoration. All works 
were Federally funded through the Natural Disaster 
Recovery Assistance Fund. Council worked closely 
with VicRoads to substantiate all claims under the 
acquittal process.

ROADS 
Council made significant progress with the flood 
recovery works in 2012/2013. All assessed road-
related flood damage from flood events have  
been completed. 

The flood recovery works undertaken included:

»  resheeting over a million square metres of  
gravel road

» repairing/replacement of 920 small culverts 
» repairing/replacement of 187 larger culverts
»  2,025 tonnes of spalls used to stabilise culvert 

and road drainage systems
» 15,000 square metres sealed roads repaired

Flood works
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BRIDGES AND MAJOR CULVERTS
There were 17 simple to medium complex 
repair projects to existing bridges and major 
culverts. Works on the bridges and culverts were 
undertaken between February 2012 and June 2013. 
There were five major complex bridge and culverts 
repairs which included:

» Spring Creek Road culvert 
»  Simmonds Road culvert
» Baringhup Road at Loddon River  
»  Douglas Road culvert
» Wedge Gully Road culvert

Some of the flood works on bridges included:

»  Restitution of 25 bridges and major culverts  
» Major repairs to five large culverts and bridges
» 100 floodways and fords repaired

Flood restoration works were completed to the 
following community facilities:

» Campbell’s Creek Community Centre
» Camp Reserve 
» Old Shire Offices, Campbell’s Creek
» Castlemaine Town Hall 
» Old Goal Castlemaine 
» Maldon Pre-School
» Newstead Recreation Reserve
» Newstead Tennis Club 
» Taradale Mineral Springs 
» Castlemaine Landfill 
» Castlemaine Botanical Gardens
» Wesley Hill Business Park.

In addition to the works completed above, 
Council also facilitated works with the Catchment 
Management Authority in removing of blockages 
in affected riparian areas of local waterways and 
this work is still ongoing. The types of works being 
undertaken are as follows:

»  An extensive program of flood debris blockage 
removal works

»  Planned riparian vegetation and in-stream 
blockage removal works along Barkers Creek  
in Castlemaine

»  Minor blockage works in progress throughout  
the region

»  Removal of major flood debris blockages  
at regional towns, including Newstead
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Delivering on our 
commitments
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COMMUNITY SERVICES

Home care hours provided for the year 11,153

Personal care hours provided for the year 3569

Respite care hours provided for the year 1918

Delivered meals provided for the year 13,816

»  Number of home care hours delivered increased 
from the previous year by 14%.

»   Number of personal care hours delivered was  
13% lower than the previous year.

»   Number of respite care hours delivered was 
13.5% higher than the previous year.

»  Number of delivered meals increased from the 
previous year by 1.5%.

The number of respite hours have increased 
substantially due to a review conducted during the 
year that identified a gap in the service provision 
particularly for young people with disabilities.

Total number of community care hours delivered

2010/20112009/2010

Total hours care delivered
Period
2012/2013
2011/2012
2010/2011
2009/2010
 
Jul-Sep
4394
4037
4398
4759
Oct-Dec
3999
4059
3992
4208
Jan-Mar
3779
4078
3464
3799
Apr-Jun
4468
4290
4213
4320

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

JUL–SEP OCT–DEC JAN–MAR APR–JUN

2012/2013 2011/2012 2010/2011 2009/2010

2012/20132011/2012

Strengthening our community
DELIVERING ON OUR COMMITMENTS

The oldest tree in the 
Castlemaine Botanical 
Gardens turned 150 on 
26 May 2013. A small 
ceremony was held in 
June to celebrate this 
special anniversary
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RECREATION AND COMMUNITY FACILITIES
Council is responsible for most recreation facilities 
within the Shire. Council supports and maintains:

3 Botanical / public gardens

76 Community buildings

63 Courts

26 Playgrounds

1 Skate park

3 BMX facilities

18 Sporting fields – this includes 7 major 
reserves and 11 smaller reserves

8 Sporting facilities 

4 Swimming pools

Council adopted a strategic plan in 2010, Investing 
in Sport, outlining its commitment to future 
investment in recreation facilities over a 15 year 
period. Investing in Sport provides a framework to 
inform policy direction and assist with the planning 
and management of recreation and sport provision 
with the Shire. It identified the need to significantly 
upgrade sport and recreation facilities across the 
Shire. The estimated total of these works over 15 
years is $21 million. 

ARTS CULTURAL SPORTING AND COMMUNITY EVENTS

$14,327 in grants provided to 12 events

110 events included in the annual event calendar

Phee Broadway Theatre season for 2013 
launched – 7 shows

Regular art exhibitions in the Market Building 
and Phee Broadway foyer

DELIVERING ON OUR COMMITMENTS
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LIBRARY OPERATIONS
The Castlemaine Library’s extended hours during 
the year by one hour Thursday evenings to 8.00pm 
and Saturday afternoon by 2.5 hours to 3.00pm.

As at 30 June 2013, Castlemaine had 9,055 library 
members. This is a 1.4% increase from June 2012. 
This represents 50.8.% of the population of Mount 
Alexander Shire Council.

Number of visits for the year 155,803

Average number of visits per week 3,053

Number of loans over the year 264,964

Average number of loans per week 5,095

The number of visits for the year increased by 2% 
while the number of loans was in line with the 
previous year.

In May 2013, the Minister for Local Government, 
Jeanette Powell announced a Living Libraries grant 
towards the upgrade of the Library foyer. The grant 
will make the space more useable with heating and 

cooling, lighting and furniture to make it suitable 
for toddler story time sessions, WiFi users, group 
activities and author talks. 

The Victorian Government will contribute 
$100,000; Council will contribute $48,000 and 
FOCAL Friends of the Library will contribute  
$3000 towards the works.

Number of Library visits
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Oct-Dec
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COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 
Community Engagement Framework

Council engages with the community in a range of 
ways to ensure community members are able to 
contribute to Council plans and projects.

A Community Engagement Policy and Framework 
was developed to provide a clear statement about 
Council’s commitment to community engagement 
and what community members can expect.

Community members were invited to comment 
on Council’s Community Engagement Policy and 
Framework at two forums held during August 2012. 
Participants were invited to provide input on recent 
Council community engagement experiences and 
expectations and ideas for future engagement.

A Youth Engagement Charter was also developed 
with significant input from young people.

The Community Engagement Policy and 
Framework and the Youth Engagement Charter 
were adopted by Council in September 2012.

Community engagement activities undertaken 
during the year included:

Conservation Management Plan

Extensive feedback was received from community 
groups in the development of the Roadside 
Conservation Management Plan.

The Plan contains 18 actions to guide Council’s 
roadside operations and protection works, 
including improving communications with the 
community, Landcare and other agencies.

Key changes made following community 
consultation were the decision to review Council’s 
slashing regime, to devise an internal process to 
review applications for fire management works  
as well as greater clarity regarding the scope of  
the document, in particular the roads included in  
the Plan. 

Council adopted the Roadside Conservation 
Management Plan on 11 September 2012.

Recreation Forum

In October 2012, Council hosted a recreation 
forum for sporting and recreation clubs and 
enthusiasts. 67 people attended the forum. 
Council staff presented an overview of projects 
delivered over the last three years, a rundown of 
the 2012/2013 program as well as an introduction 
to the Recreation team and launch of the Arena 
Newsletter. The Big Ideas and Big Questions box 
provided an opportunity for everyone to ask 
Council questions and to share ideas. Feedback 
was provided through the next edition of the Arena 
Newsletter.

Early Years Services

Council sought the community’s views about 
the future provision of early years services and 
facilities based in Castlemaine through two drop 
in sessions held on 6 December 2012. Interviews 
and workshops were also conducted with service 
providers.

Council used this information to determine how 
well existing local services and facilities coped 
with current demand and what changes and 
improvements might be required to deal with 
expected future demand.

Early years services offered a range of 
services available to the community to support and 
assist families and carers with the health, 
development, learning and wellbeing of children 
from pregnancy through to the transition to school 
and beyond. These included: 

• maternal and child health
• pre-schools and kindergartens
• occasional care
• long day care
• playgroups
• toy libraries
• early intervention programs
• after-school care programs
• story time

DELIVERING ON OUR COMMITMENTS
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Campbells Creek Walking Track

Community members were invited to two 
community information sessions about the proposed 
walking and cycling track to be constructed between 
Camp Reserve and Winters Flat.

Information about the proposed track was 
displayed and Council staff were in attendance to 
answer any questions. Council sought community 
feedback on the construction of the track and 
implementation measures to minimise disturbance. 
The track is identified in Council’s Walking and 
Cycling Strategy.

The route of the proposed track runs along 
the west side of Barkers and Campbells Creeks 
between the corner of Gaulton and Forest Streets 
(south of Camp Reserve) to Winters Flat (near the 
corner of Johnstone and Elizabeth Streets). 

A pedestrian bridge will be constructed to allow 
access from the east to the west side of Campbells 
Creek. The bridge will be located to the south of 
Camp Crescent. 

Economic Development Strategy

The Economic Development Strategy was prepared 
through an extensive process of consultation which 
consisted of: 

»  Individual interviews with approximately 40 
business operators, meetings with 10 industry 
sector groups, questionnaires for stakeholders, 
and a community feedback forum attended 
by 35 participants. The wider community also 
contributed through an online questionnaire.

»  Workshops with Councillors and Council staff.

»  Meetings with regional and state agencies 
involved in economic development policy and 
program delivery.

The Project Control Group included representatives 
from the Department of Business and Innovation 
and Department of Planning and Community 
Development, which has resulted in these 
State Government agencies having a sound 
understanding of the Strategy and likely funding 
opportunities over the next five years.

Municipal Health and Wellbeing Plan 2013-2017

A workshop was held in April 2013 involving 
members of the Mount Alexander Health and 
Wellbeing Forum and other key stakeholders. 
The workshop focused on identifying health and 
wellbeing priorities for the Plan based on the 
health status data in the Discussion Paper prepared 
by the Central Victorian Health Alliance (CVHA) 
and alignment with priorities of health sector 
organisations at a State, regional and local level.

Following the workshop with health and 
community service providers, a meeting was 
held with the boards of Castlemaine Health, 
Maldon Hospital and Castlemaine District 
Community Health. The aim of the session was 
to ensure alignment of the priorities in the Plan 
with the strategic directions of key health sector 
organisations in the Shire.

Council Plan 2013-2017

Council undertook a number of activities to 
seek feedback from the community including 
community forums at Maldon and Castlemaine, 
daily information sessions at the Castlemaine 
Library and at the Farmers Market in Castlemaine. 
A forum with advisory committee members was 
held and there were workshops with primary 
school students in Chewton, Elphinstone and 
Guilford. An online survey was prepared to allow 
for input from those residents unable to attend 
a community forum or information session. 
Submissions were also received from Mount 
Alexander Sustainability Group Inc. (MASG) and 
Maldon Inc. 

These activities resulted in feedback from more 
than 450 community members. Feedback from 
the community was incorporated into the draft 
priorities and strategies. 
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ANNUAL PLAN COMMITMENTS

WALKING AND CYCLING TRAIL FROM 
CASTLEMAINE TO MALDON

Project not completed.

Council’s Walking and Cycling Strategy identified 
the inter-town trail between Castlemaine and 
Maldon as a high priority. Funding of $1.6 million 
from the State Government’s Regional Growth 
Fund, Local Government Infrastructure Program 
was allocated for this trail and a similar trail 
between Castlemaine and Newstead. During 
the year a project manager was appointed 
to commence design of the trail including 
negotiations with relevant authorities and land 
owners (ie VicTrack, Parks Victoria, DEPI and CFA); 
facilitation of engagement with other stakeholders 
such as Victorian Goldfields Railway and develop 
concept designs for the confirmed route.

Construction of the trail will be completed in 
2013/2014.

CAMPBELLS CREEK WALKING AND  
CYCLING TRACK

Project not completed.

Council’s Walking and Cycling Strategy sets out 
a strategic approach for Council to improve and 
increase walking and cycling in the Shire over the 
next decade. It sets out a plan to develop three 
independent and interconnected networks for 
walkers and cyclists. One of the early projects has 
been the development of the Campbells Creek 
Walking and Cycling Track. The Campbells Creek 
Walking and Cycling Track extends from Forest 
Street Castlemaine, near the corner of Camp 
Reserve and finishes at the Campbells Creek Park. 
It follows the creek beds of Campbells and Barkers 
Creek. During the year a design for the trail was 
completed, a Cultural Heritage Management Plan 
(CHMP) undertaken and a working on waterways 
permit obtained. Works on the trail are expected to 
be completed by October 2013.

REDEVELOPMENT OF CAMPBELLS CREEK PARK

Project not completed.

The redevelopment of Campbells Creek Park 
includes the following improved infrastructure and 
facilities:

•   Installation of new play facilities encompassing  
a maze, wobble bridge, play spinner facilities 
with different textures, mounds, rocks, and a 
variety of interactive equipment.

•   Historical signage and ‘state of the art’ sound 
poles to verbalise local history.

•   Construction of public toilets and picnic shelter.
•   Construction of new trails through the park to 

provide safe access and a path for children to 
ride scooters on and link to existing trails behind 
and in front of the park.  

•   Dedicated landscaping including wetland 
planting designed to create a connection with 
Campbells Creek.

•   Shade sail over the existing amphitheatre so  
the local primary school can conduct outdoor  
classes and the playgroup have a shaded grass 
area for activities.

•   Landscape, drainage and electrical works 
are underway and due to be completed in 
September 2013.

CONSTRUCT NEW BRIDGE ON VAUGHAN  
TARILTA ROAD

Project deferred.

Council approved a revised 2012/2013 Capital 
Works Program which included deferring works on 
the Vaughan Tarilta Bridge and instead undertaking 
works to 3 bridges: Douglas Road, Baringup, Fryers 
Taradale Road, Taradale and White Gum Road, 
Barkers Creek. Some minor works were undertaken 
on the Vaughan Tarilta bridge in the interim, while 
more complex issues around permits and approvals 
were negotiated.

DELIVERING ON OUR COMMITMENTS
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NEW CRICKET FACILITIES AT NEWSTEAD

Project not completed.  

The cricket nets at Newstead are to be relocated 
to the South corner of the Newstead Recreation 
Reserve at Panmure Street. To enable this to occur, 
Recreation Avenue, between Hilliers Street and 
Panmure Street was closed and incorporated into 
the Recreation Reserve. The nets will be relocated 
in the first quarter of 2013/2014.

IMPROVEMENTS TO COMMUNITY FACILITIES  
TO ENHANCE ACCESS FOR PEOPLE WITH  
ALL ABILITIES

Program not completed.

Council undertakes an annual program of works 
to improve access to community facilities. In 
2012/2013 a disabled toilet was constructed at 
the Castlemaine RSL. Works to construct a ramp 
at the Maldon Community Centre and at the 
Castlemaine South. Kindergarten in Castlemaine 
were commenced and will be completed in the first 
quarter of 2013/2014.

DELIVER PERFORMANCE PROGRAM AT  
PHEE BROADWAY THEATRE 

Program completed. 

Local productions included in the season were 
works from Castlemaine Theatre Company, Three’s 
A Crowd and Rebecca Morton. There was an 
eclectic range of offerings of drama, musicals, 
comedy, circus skills and dance to explore 
everything from garage sales to earthquakes and 
from Jacqueline Kennedy’s eccentric aunt to the 
end of the world as we know it.  

UPGRADE SPORTS FIELDS SURFACES  
ACROSS THE SHIRE

Project completed.

Over $126,000 was spent on upgrading and 
maintaining sporting fields across the Shire during 
the year.

DEVELOP 10 YEAR PLAY SPACE STRATEGY

Project not completed.

The Play Space Strategy will provide clear direction 
for the future provision and management of play 
spaces across the municipality for the next 10 
years. The Strategy is expected to be complete in 
October 2013.

APPOINT AN EVENTS OFFICER 

Project completed.

An Events Officer was employed to implement a 
streamlined approval process to improve support 
to community events held in the Shire. During 
the year an Events Guide and Application Kit 
was developed that is a comprehensive guide to 
planning and preparing for an event in the Shire. 
The Guide is designed to provide event organisers 
with the knowledge and detail required to run a 
safe and successful event.

WALKING AND CYCLING ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Project completed.

A Walking and Cycling Advisory Committee was 
established that will act in an advisory capacity 
to Council and other land managers by providing 
advice on the strategic development, maintenance 
and promotion of a range of recreational tracks, 
trails and pathways used, in accordance with 
Council’s Walking and Cycling Strategy 2010 — 
2020. Membership of the Committee consists of 
one Councillor as Chair and between eight and 
twelve community members.   

DISABILITY ACTION PLAN ADVISORY GROUP

Project completed.

A Disability Action Plan Advisory Group was 
established to monitor the implementation of 
the Disability Action Plan. The Advisory Group 
will monitor the implementation of the Mount 
Alexander Shire Disability Action Plan 2011-2015 
and advise and guide Council on the issues, needs 
and expectations of people with disabilities.

St
re

ng
th

en
in

g o
ur

 co
m

m
un

ity
DELIVERING ON OUR COMMITMENTS



  Mount Alexander Shire Council Annual Report 2012/2013   21

St
re

ng
th

en
in

g o
ur

 co
m

m
un

ity

The Group will act as an expert and consultative 
resource to Council, assist in identifying issues of 
need for access and inclusion for people with a 
disability and provide strategic and policy advice 
to Council to ensure that strategies, programs and 
services meet the needs of people with a disability.  
Membership consists of one Councillor and up to 
five community members.

ANNUAL PROGRAM OF WORKS ON  
LOCAL ROADS

Project completed.

The project delivered maintenance works to 
Council’s existing sealed road network totalling 
$616,000, which included a number of intersections 
being upgraded across the Shire.

An additional $400,000 was spent on the Bendigo 
– Sutton Grange Road due to bridge decking 
improvements. Major capital works included the 
annual pavement rehabilitation program with major 
works undertaken on Kemps Bridge Road.

The total length of reseal roads completed during 
2012/2013 was 18.85 kilometres, which included 68 
segments in 45 roads.

A further 35 kilometres of sealed and unsealed 
road network were upgraded including the 
unsealed road pavement resheeting program, 
Lyttleton Street Intersection upgrade, and the 
installation of a disabled bus parking shelter in 
Mostyn Street. Upgrades to disabled parking was 
carried out in the CBD and works were completed 
on guard rail improvements.  

REVIEW OF INTAKE AND ASSESSMENT AND 
DELIVERED MEALS SERVICES

Project completed.

The review of the Intake and Assessment and 
Delivered Meals Services provided by Council 
provided a summary of key trends, issues and 
recommendations. The report found that the Home 
and Community Care (HACC) program constitutes 
a significant proportion of Council’s expenditure 
and demand for services is likely to increase into 
the future as the population ages. The review 
findings provide both opportunity and challenges 
for Council in terms of policy, planning and 
management of HACC services in the future.

PRIORITY PROJECTS FROM THE ARTS STRATEGY

Program completed.

Priority projects completed in the Arts Strategy in 
2012/2013 included the increased use of Council 
online facilities to raise the profile of the arts 
within the Shire; creation of an online artists map 
identifying cultural events and the development 
of an Arts Acquisition Policy. Art Fields was held 
in the Castlemaine Market Building in August 
2012, curated by Global Gardens Art. Art Fields 
profiled artists living in the Shire, working in 
diverse disciplines, in a month-long exhibition and 
performance series.

IMPROVE PATH NETWORKS AND  
RECREATION RESERVE BOUNDARY  
FENCING AT CAMPBELLS CREEK

Project re-scoped.

This project was re-scoped to address urgent 
repairs including works to the ceiling in the 
change rooms to ensure safety and integrity of the 
structure, and replacement of the disabled toilet to 
ensure universal access. These re-scoped works will 
be completed by the first quarter of 2013/2014.

IMPROVE TOWN HALL COMMUNITY FACILITIES

Project not completed.

A number of improvements were carried out to 
enhance facilities at the Town Hall. New seating 
was purchased for the Town Hall. Rigging on the 
stage was updated to improve Occupational Health 
and Safety compliance and the performance of 
equipment. A power upgrade of Town Hall stage 
was also completed. A solution to improve the 
safety and compliance of the Town Hall balcony 
was in the design phase and works will be 
completed in the first quarter of 2013/2014.

PREPARE PROJECT SCOPE AND ASSESS OPTIONS 
FOR CASTLEMAINE OUTDOOR POOL

Project deferred.

This project will be undertaken in the first quarter 
of 2013/2014.

DELIVERING ON OUR COMMITMENTS
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PREPARE DESIGN SPECIFICATION FOR 
PEDESTRIAN BRIDGE OVER LODDON  
RIVER NEWSTEAD

Project not completed.

The township of Newstead has developed on both 
sides of the Loddon River, effectively dividing 
the township. A pedestrian bridge would provide 
a strategic link connecting the community and 
facilities on both sides of the river while also 
catering for recreational walkers and bike riders. 
Works on a design were commenced during the 
year with the scope of works extended to include 
flood modelling to complete the design. The design 
will be completed in the first quarter of 2013/2014.

PREPARE DOMESTIC ANIMAL  
MANAGEMENT PLAN 

Project completed.

A four year Domestic Animal Management Plan 
(DAM Plan) is a statutory requirement for every 
Victorian municipality under the Domestic Animal 
Act 1994. The DAM Plan was revised in May 
2013. The revised plan addresses responsible 
pet ownership and animal welfare by focussing 
on registration, identification, dog attacks, 
nuisance behaviour, dangerous/ menacing/
restricted breed dogs, and animal businesses. It 
also deals with Council’s domestic animal control 
services, authorised officer training, emergency 
management and matters relating to the 
enforcement, compliance and evaluation of the 
Council’s control measures. 

REDEVELOP TENNIS COURTS AT JOHN POWELL 
RECREATION RESERVE

Project completed.

The redevelopment of the Guildford Tennis Courts 
involved the reconstruction of the courts with 
two new asphalt tennis courts with a netball court 
overlay. The extension of the playing surface was 
required to meet Tennis Victoria regulations. The 
project was jointly funded by Council ($73,500), 
the Department of Planning and Community 
Development under the Community Facility 
Funding Program – Minor Facilities ($100,000) and 
the Guildford community ($500).

REPLACE CHILDRENS PLAYGROUND AT  
BIG TREE PARK

Project completed.

Replacement of the children’s playground 
was completed at Big Tree Park Guildford in 
consultation with community members and 
primary school students. The playground was  
open for the public on 14 December 2012.

DESIGN WORK FOR NEW NETBALL CENTRE  
AT WESLEY HILL RESERVE

Project not completed.

An architectural firm was appointed to develop a 
concept plan for the design of a multi-use pavilion 
and netball courts at Wesley Hill on the West side 
of the reserve. The concept plan was developed 
in consultation with both the Committees of 
Management. Two workshops were held in May/
June 2013 to enable the design to be produced and 
refined. The design will be progressed in 2013/2014.

UPGRADE TO BILL WOODFULL RESERVE

Project not completed.

This project was re-scoped to address urgent 
repairs and refurbish the home and away change 
rooms to ensure compliance with the Building 
Code of Australia. This includes: new plumbing, 
wall and floor finishes, refurbishment of toilet 
and showers and replacement of the hot water 
system. The Maldon Football/Netball Club will 
contribute $16,500 towards the works. Works will 
be completed in October 2013.

FOOTPATH PRIORITY WORKS

Project completed.

Priority primary footpaths identified in the Walking 
and Cycling Strategy were constructed during 
the year with funding from the Regional Growth 
Fund. New footpaths constructed included on the 
Maldon-Newstead Road between Gray Street and 
Popeks Road and on High Street between Parker 
and Franklin Streets; in Newstead an extension 
to the existing path from 6 Lyons Street to the 
Loddon River bridge. Works in Castlemaine 
include an extension to an existing footpath along 
the Midland Highway (Johnstone Street) from 
Elizabeth Street in Castlemaine to Stephens Street 
in Campbells Creek.
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DESIGN WORKS FOR THE NEWSTEAD 
RECREATION PAVILION

Project completed. 

On 1 March 2013, community members in Newstead 
were joined by Minister for Sport and Recreation 
Hugh Delahunty and Damian Drum, Victorian 
National Party Upper House member for Northern 
Victoria Region to announce funding from the 
State Government of $500,000 as part of a $1.4 
million project to revitalise the Multipurpose Sports 
and Recreation Pavilion at Newstead. 

The Victorian Government’s funding package is 
made up of $250,000 from the Community Facility 
Funding Program and a further $250,000 from the 
$1 billion Regional Growth Fund’s Putting Locals 
First Program.

Through a partnership between Council, the 
Victorian Government and the local community, 
a Multipurpose Sports and Recreation Pavilion at 
the Newstead Recreation Reserve will replace the 
out-dated and non-compliant facility. The inclusion 
of universal access principles in the facility design 
increased its multipurpose use by improving access 
for people of all abilities and amenities for female 
and junior participation. The pavilion is used as a 
base for teams that make up Newstead’s football, 
netball, cricket and tennis clubs.

The new facility will include;

•   Three new large change room areas providing  
for football/cricket and tennis/netball

•   Showers and amenities in each of the  
change areas

•   Universally designed amenities along with  
public toilets

•   A community/social space for social interaction
•   Storage, kiosk, office and first aid room

The new pavilion will increase active participation 
and memberships in the sports that are currently 
played at the Reserve and will increase passive 
recreational use.

Council worked closely with the local community 
in Newstead who represented their sporting clubs 
and the aspirations of the community. 

The community has committed to raise $100,000 
towards the project. Council will provide the 
balance of the costs in the vicinity of $850,000. 
The construction will begin in late 2013.

DELIVERING ON OUR COMMITMENTS

Newstead Recreation Reserve Pavillion design



24  Mount Alexander Shire Council Annual Report 2012/2013

COUNCIL PLAN 2009-2013 COMMITMENTS
OBJECTIVES STRATEGIES INDICATORS RESULT

To enable an active and 
healthy community by 
providing appropriate 
services and facilities.

Provide attractive 
and well maintained 
recreational facilities.

Community satisfaction 
ratings for Recreational 
Facilities.

See Note 1 below

Provide high quality and 
innovative services.

Community satisfaction 
ratings for Health and 
Human Services.

See Note 1 below

Provide high quality and 
innovative community 
programs.

Community satisfaction 
ratings for Health and 
Human Services.

To encourage a vibrant 
community that 
promotes participation 
in the arts and an 
appreciation of our 
cultural heritage.

Support cultural events 
and institutions.

Number of community 
events supported.

110

Recognise and support 
community associations 
and groups.

Funding (as a 
percentage of Council’s 
overall budget) 
for community 
organisations across  
the Shire.

0.82% of Council’s 
overall operating 
expenditure was paid 
to community groups 
during the year. 

To enhance physical 
and social connections 
within the community.

Improve movement 
across the Shire by 
providing a connected 
network of bike paths, 
footpaths and roads.

Increase in path network 
(in kilometres).

3.3 kms of paths were 
completed which was 
1.3kms greater than 
target. 

Work with the 
community to determine 
the needs and priorities 
for Council programs 
and services.

Number of formal 
consultation activities 
undertaken with the 
community.

102 community 
consultation forums held

Note 1: 

In response to feedback from local councils, Local 
Government Victoria introduced methodological 
and content changes to the Community 
Satisfaction Survey in 2012 to provide the sector 
with more reliable and meaningful results to inform 
decision making and support strategic planning. 

Methodological improvements to the Community 
Satisfaction Survey in 2012 included increasing 
the sample size from the previous minimum of 
350 respondents per municipality up to 400 
respondents and ensuring that the sample reflects 
the demographic composition of a municipality. 

The survey also allows for respondents to be 
“residents over 18 years of age” instead of 
restricting respondents to “head of household”. 
These changes together with revisions to the 
performance scale and scoring have improved the 
useability of the survey.

For these reasons, direct comparison with previous 
Community Satisfaction Survey results is not 
possible. (Circular DPCD 20 July) .

St
re

ng
th

en
in

g o
ur

 co
m

m
un

ity
DELIVERING ON OUR COMMITMENTS



  Mount Alexander Shire Council Annual Report 2012/2013   25

ADVOCACY
CONCERNS OVER NBN ROLLOUT 

Council met with senior representatives of NBN 
Co to discuss a number of concerns about the 
rollout of the National Broadband Network in the 
Shire. Council has advocated for more extensive 
installation of the fibre network across the 
Shire. Councillors also raised concerns about the 
potential health impacts from telecommunications 
infrastructure and a commitment has been given 
from NBN Co. for independent assessments of any 
fixed wireless towers once operating.

Council recognises the potential of the National 
Broadband Network to drive the local economy 
and strengthen community links and is seeking to 
get the best outcome for our community. Council 
will continue to advocate for the best outcome for 
our community so that residents and businesses 
can enjoy the benefits of the National Broadband 
Network at the earliest opportunity..

APPEAL AGAINST THE DECISION TO GRANT  
A GAMING LICENCE 

The Victorian Civil and Administrative Appeals 
Tribunal upheld Council’s appeal against the 
decision by the Victorian Commission for Gaming 
and Liquor Regulation to grant a gaming licence  
to the Maryborough Highland Society to operate  
a gaming venue in Kennedy Street, Castlemaine. 
The proposal included 65 Electronic Gaming 
Machines (EGMs). 

Council conducted a Social and Economic Impact 
Assessment of the proposal which found that the 
anticipated economic and social impact of the 
proposal would be detrimental to the wellbeing 
of the community. A survey of 400 residents was 
conducted to determine community attitudes to 
the proposed venue and impacts on community 
wellbeing. When asked about whether there is 
support for the development with EGMs, three  
out of four respondents in the Shire were  
opposed (75%). 

Partnering for better services
DELIVERING ON OUR COMMITMENTS
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COUNCIL SUPPORT FOR COMMUNITY CONCERN 
OVER SMART METERS

Council wrote to the Victorian Government Minister 
for Energy and Resources expressing community 
concerns about the health effects of the Smart 
Meters being rolled out across the region. The 
letter stated that some Victorian residents whose 
smart meters have already been turned on are 
reporting adverse health effects. 

A response was received from Minister Michael 
O’Brien stating that following an extensive 
independent review, they will continue with an 
improved roll-out, with a greater focus on the 
needs of consumers. The Minister confirmed 
that smart meters meet all relevant Australian 
Standards for electricity metering equipment and 
safety guidelines. 

CONSTITUTIONAL RECOGNITION OF LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT

Council supported the Australian Government’s 
plan to hold a referendum to ask Australians 
to financially recognise Local Government in 
our nation’s Constitution. The proposal for a 
referendum to confirm constitutional recognition  
of Local Government has been advocated for  
many years. Numerous forums and workshops  
have been held in the sector to discuss the issues. 
The Federal Government established an expert 
panel to advise on the matter and Council made  
a formal submission to the panel. With the change 
in the Federal Election date, the referendum did 
not proceed.

PREVENTION OF VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN

Mount Alexander Shire Council is the lead partner 
in the Prevention of Violence Against Women 
in Our Community project, a cluster project in 
partnership with City of Greater Bendigo and 
Macedon Ranges Shire. It is a three and half year, 
State Government project funded through the 
Office of Women’s Affairs. Its goal is to create a 
model for a whole of community approach for the 
prevention of violence against women. Prevention 
of violence against women is now incorporated 
in a range of plans across the three Councils, and 
strategies identified in the project plan are being 
undertaken as outlined. The focus has been on 
increasing awareness and developing gender 
equity policies and practices within Councils and 
building partnerships to work on awareness raising 
and prevention in the community.

REQUEST FOR MINISTERIAL INTERVENTION ON 
POTABLE WATER

Council wrote to the Minister for Planning seeking 
his urgent intervention to resolve the uncertainty 
posed by amendments to the Guidelines for 
Planning Permits in Open, Potable Water Supply 
Catchment Areas. 

Council had received advice of changes from 
Goulburn Murray Water (GMW) that would restrict 
residential development in water catchment areas 
of the Shire. Council requested that the Minister 
show leadership in this area, as many residents 
have purchased land in good faith and may have 
restrictions to how they use their land.

The majority of Mount Alexander Shire is located 
within a Special Water Supply Catchment Area 
(SWSCA) and the Mount Alexander Planning 
Scheme requires that most development proposals 
within these areas be referred to Goulburn Murray 
Water (GMW).

A Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) was 
developed between Council and GMW in April 
2013. The MoU provided guidelines around 
distances from waterways, and classifies land in 
terms of risk. Council has commenced assessing 
applications in accordance with the MoU and will 
develop a brochure that will assist those seeking 
planning permits in the future.

HOUSING ADVOCACY

Council conducted a Housing Roundtable in June 
2012. This, and some research into housing needs 
in Mount Alexander that Council commissioned, 
informed housing advocacy activities during 
2012/2013. In September 2012, Council wrote to 
the Minister for Housing to provide an overview 
of housing needs relating to housing affordability 
in Mount Alexander. Council took an active role 
in exploring potential for investment under the 
National Rental Affordability Scheme (NRAS) 
Round five, announced in May 2013. In June 2013 
Council wrote to the Minister for Housing and the 
Victorian Premier to request clarification of the 
Victorian Government contribution to the NRAS 
incentive payments.

DELIVERING ON OUR COMMITMENTS
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WORKING IN PARTNERSHIP
Council works with many agencies and bodies 
to provide service to the community and has 
memorandums of understanding that formalise our 
working relationship, some of the memorandums 
of understanding we have are:

• Central Victoria Solar Cities
• Impact of Dams in the Upper Campaspe
•  Transport Connections Central Victoria Network 

– Southern Loddon Mallee Regional Cluster 
Partnership Agreement

•  Loddon Mallee Local Government Aged and 
Disability Services Consortium

•  Lolotoe in Timor Leste – Friendship Agreement
•  Maternal and Child Health Service Provision from 

Maldon Neighbourhood Centre
•  Heritage Data Sharing
•  Management of Landfill Buffer
•  Connect Central Castlemaine
•  Agricultural Liaison Forum
•  Connecting Country
•  National Trust of Australia (Vic)

OUR VOLUNTEERS

Mount Alexander Shire is a dynamic and thriving 
place thanks to the hard work and dedication 
of local volunteers. Our sport, recreation, arts, 
heritage, education, health, welfare, environmental 
and emergency services are all dependent on the 
contribution of volunteers.

With funding from the Victorian Government’s 
Department of Planning and Community 
Development Flood Recovery grant program, 
Council supported the Mount Alexander Volunteer 
Network by offering local volunteers with a 
program of training and workshops.

Providing volunteers with appropriate training not 
only rewards them with tangible skills development 
but also helps ensure that they safely and legally 
carry out their volunteer roles.

The Mount Alexander Volunteer Network 
conducted the training which included sessions in 
How to Avoid Burn Out, Preparing a Food Safety 
Plan, Changes to the Incorporated Association Act, 
Community Groups and the Law, Making Meetings 
Marvellous, preparing a Marketing Plan for your 
Community Group and Community Fundraising 
that Works.

All sessions were heavily subsidised and open 
to active or potential volunteers and community 
workers. Qualified trainers shared their skills, 
inspiring community groups to maximise low-cost 
professional development opportunities.

COMMUNITY GROUPS BENEFIT FROM  
COMMUNITY GRANTS

Grant funding of $164,219 was approved for 62 
community groups across the Shire through the 
annual Strengthening Our Community Grants 
Scheme.

The grants scheme is open to not-for-profit 
incorporated associations or auspiced by such 
organisations for projects delivered in the Shire 
that demonstrate community benefit.

A total of 101 grant applications were submitted to 
Council in October 2012, consisting of fifty eight 
applications under the Community Wellbeing and 
Culture category, sixteen applications under the 
Events category, and twenty seven applications 
under the Sustainability and Natural Environment 
category, seeking a total of $321,420 in funding 
from Council.

As in most years, demand for the funding under 
the grants scheme far exceeded the amount of 
funding available. Council determined funding 
approvals by addressing the eligibility criteria and 
achievement of funding objectives under each 
category, including community benefit.

Following the assessment process, Council 
approved a total of $112,287 to thirty six grant 
applicants under the Community Wellbeing and 
Culture category, $14,327 for twelve applicants 
under the Events category and $37,605 to fourteen 
applicants under the Sustainability and Natural 
Environment category.

The funds saw a broad range of projects and 
initiatives come to fruition, in the areas of 
health and wellbeing, sport and recreation, arts 
and events, food security and environmental 
management.

While not all groups whose applications were 
approved were able to receive the full amount 
of funding sought, the grants provide leverage 
to enable the delivery of projects that would 
otherwise not be able to get off the ground.

DELIVERING ON OUR COMMITMENTS
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GRANT RECIPIENTS

Community Wellbeing and Culture 

ORGANISATION PROJECT RECOMMENDED 
FUNDING 

ALLOCATION

Maldon Athenaeum Library Celebrating 150 years of continuous library service by 
volunteers to Maldon and District

$2450 

Friends of the Castlemaine 
Botanical Gardens Inc.

Reprint of Castlemaine Botanical Gardens brochure $953

XtremeInc Incorporated Xtreme “Generating Y” workshops $5000 

Castlemaine Creative Artists Promotion of Castlemaine Creative Artist’s Annual 
Exhibition

$500 

Country Women’s Assoc. of  
Victoria Inc. – Harcourt Branch

CWA Annual Concert $620 

Mount Alexander Community 
Children’s Network

Active families in Mount Alexander website $2000 

Write as Rain Castlemaine Children’s Literature Festival $3639

The Meeting Place Teaching the Aboriginal Stories of Lalgambook and 
Mount Tarrengower

$5000   

Maldon Neighbourhood Centre Youth Art Wall $1500   

quarteracreblock The Republic of Trees – A Tale between Earth and Sky $3000   

Friends of Castlemaine Library New Books for Babies $2460   

The Fringe Thing Inc. On behalf 
of The Wandering Cloud

The Wandering Cloud – An arts project engaging 
memory, local history and the flood affected 
community.

$2300   

Families for the Future Families for the Future – a mentoring program for 
younger families of children with a disability.

$4894

Newstead Community Garden 
and Produce Exchange

“Message Board” – signage and noticeboards for the 
Newstead Community Garden

$2240   

Friends of Lolotoe Inc. Fun run and cultural exchange to build friendship and 
support the Lolotoe community in Timor Leste

$1000   

Supported Playgroup 
Partnership

Mount Alexander Carers Supported Playgroup $3600   

Castlemaine Kindergarten A Sensory Garden for Castlemaine Kindergarten $2500   

Global Gardens Art Folklore Series – a series of cultural storytelling 
performance events.

$5000   
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Community Wellbeing and Culture 

ORGANISATION PROJECT RECOMMENDED 
FUNDING 

ALLOCATION

Castlemaine Hot Rod Centre Ltd Filming and production of a DVD to be used for 
promotional and tourism purposes

$1000   

Abbeyfield Australia Castlemaine 
branch

Business Development Plan for an Abbeyfield House 
in Castlemaine

$5000   

The Village Festival The Village Winter Festival $5000   

Castlemaine Theatre Company Inc Castlemaine Theatre company website creation $1716   

Three’s a Crowd Productions Increasing opportunities for community participation 
in musical theatre in Central Victoria – Component 1

$5000   

Castlemaine Secondary College Food Garden at Yapeen School for social health and 
wellbeing, education and community use

$4978   

Castlemaine Word Mine Promotion of reading and writing through the 
Castlemaine Word Mine

$938

Elphinstone Cricket Club Inc Grounds Sustainability project, Stage 2 $2000   

The Fringe Thing Inc. Castlemaine Fringe Festival 2013 $4500   

Mass Culture Mass Culture: Online art and culture guide to the 
Mount Alexander Shire

$5000   

Mount Alexander Training 
Community Hub

Develop a marketing campaign and web portal to 
maximise visibility of training options in MASC.

$2500   

Castlemaine and District 
Continuing Education Inc.

PRIME-ART Castlemaine Youth Arts Hub $4900   

Taradale Community Website 
Working Group

Taradale community website development $2500   

Video Architecture Trace: Community based video arts project $5000   

The Space In Between Alchemy and the elixir of life $5000   

Goldfields Tourism Inc. Capturing the Goldfields Track: a series of videos to 
showcase this unique bushwalking and mountain 
bike experience to locals and the tourism market

$5000   

Run the Maine Inc. Run the Maine – Value health, Live Life $2000   

Elphinstone Fire Brigade Refrigeration facilities for fire fighting trucks $1598   

TOTAL $112,287

DELIVERING ON OUR COMMITMENTS
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Sustainability and Natural Environment

ORGANISATION PROJECT RECOMMENDED 
FUNDING 

ALLOCATION

Castlemaine Goldfields F.C. Let there be Light – Upgrade soccer field lighting with 
LED lights

$3000   

Elphinstone Land Management 
Association

Elphinstone East weed mapping and management $3000   

Harcourt and District Leisure 
Centre Inc.

Supply and installation of solar panels and inverter to 
Harcourt’s multi-user recreation centre

$3000   

Sandy Creek Catchment 
Landcare Inc.

Regeneration and revegetation of old Welshmans 
Reef tip site at Welshmans Reef

$3000   

Sutton Grange Landcare  
Group Inc.

Weed control on roadsides in Sutton Grange No. 2 $3000   

Friends of Campbells Creek 
Landcare Group

Arresting Neighbourhood Weed Infestation $3000   

Muckleford Catchment 
Landcare Group

Mapping, education and control of weeds in roadsides 
within the Muckleford Landcare Catchment Group area

$1500   

Tarrangower Cactus Control 
Committee

2013 Community Offensive Against Wheel Cactus $2000   

Friends of Box Iron-Ironbark 
Forest Inc.

Stopping the spread of Needle Grasses on roadsides 
in the Mount Alexander Shire

$3000   

McKenzie’s Hill Action and 
Landcare Group

Celebrating Quartz Cobble Conglomerate Capping 
and Restoring Degraded Environs

$1390   

The Hub Plot – MASG The Hub Plot: Seasonal workshops $2885   

Mount Alexander Community 
Wind

Wind monitoring for Mount Alexander Community 
Wind

$4000   

Mount Alexander Sustainability 
Group Inc.

Expansion of local capacity for recycling of used 
batteries, light globes and fluorescent tubes

 $1830   

Mount Alexander Shire 
Accommodation and Respite 
Group

Environmental, social and financial sustainability 
of Castlemaine’s new Respite/community house at 
McKenzie’s Hill

 $3000   

TOTAL $ 37,605   
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ORGANISATION PROJECT RECOMMENDED 
FUNDING 

ALLOCATION

Harcourt Valley Heritage and 
Tourist Centre Inc. Applefest 
Organising Committee

Harcourt Applefest $1200   

Maldon Museum and Archives 
Association Inc.

Mount Alexander Shire Family Treasures and 
Heirlooms Assessment Day

$1500   

Castlemaine and District 
Agricultural Society Inc.

Annual Agricultural Show funding for sponsorship 
towards the children’s events, to promote agriculture 
and what we can produce.

$900   

Central Victoria Farmers  
Market Inc.

Increasing awareness of the Castlemaine Farmers 
Market

$1000   

Buda Historic Home and  
Garden Inc.

Experience Buda $1422   

Maldon Twilight Food and  
Wine Festival

Maldon Twilight Food and Wine Festival Event 
Glasses

$1800   

Maldon Easter Fair Maldon Easter Fair – 2013 $1200   

Newstead Short Story Tattoo Newstead Short Story Tattoo 2013 $1000   

Maldon Incorporated Maldon in Winter Festival $1000   

Maldon Folk Festival Inc. Maldon Folk Festival – 39th folk festival of music, 
dance, poetry and community

$1800   

Seven Circles, Spiritual Centre 
for Planetary Peace Inc.

Castlemaine Health and Wellbeing Expo $755   

U3A Castlemaine U3A Castlemaine - Seize the Day $750   

TOTAL $ 14,327   

Arts Support contributions

Castlemaine State Festival $31,500

Buda $7000

Castlemaine Art Gallery $23,580

Total Arts Support $62,080

TOTAL GRANTS $226,298

Contributions to S86 Committees, Reserves, Senior Citizen Centres, PreSchools, SES, 
Chewton Pool and Community Housing

$193,000

TOTAL GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS $419,298

DELIVERING ON OUR COMMITMENTS
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SPECIAL COMMITTEES OF COUNCIL (SECTION 86 COMMITTEES)
Special Committees of Council are created under 
Section. 86 of the Local Government Act. They 
are legally part of Council, with many of the 
responsibilities and obligations of Council with 
regard to meeting procedure, conflicts of interest, 
conduct arrangements and accountability for 
public funds. 

Mount Alexander Shire Council currently has 25 
Special Committees; 11 manage recreation facilities, 
11 manage halls or community centres, one 
manages both. Of the two remaining, one manages 
an event (the Maldon Easter Fair) and the second 
acts as an advisory and coordination group for the 
Mount Alexander Dry Diggings Park.

The powers, duties and responsibilities of Council 
are delegated to Committees by an Instrument of 
Delegation, which describes what Committees can 
do and also what limitations are placed on them. 
In addition to the Instruments of Delegation, the 
operations of Special Committees are subject to 
the provision of the Local Government Act. These 
Instruments give Committees broad powers to 
manage Council facilities and to provide advice  
and guidance to Council on the management of 
these facilities.

In March 2013, Council set about reviewing the 
Instruments of Delegation for all Section 86 
Committees. Under Section 86 (6) of the Local 
Government Act, Council is required to review its 
delegations to all special committees of Council 
within 12 months of the election of a new Council. 
Council’s current Section 86 Committees are listed:

Barfold Hall  
Committee of Management

Baringhup Community Association  
Committee of Management

Bill Woodfull Recreation Reserve  
Committee of Management

Camp Reserve  
Committee of Management

Campbells Creek Community Centre  
Committee of Management

Campbells Creek Recreation Reserve  
Committee of Management

Castlemaine War Memorial Stadium  
Committee of Management

Chewton Community and Senior Citizens Centre 
Committee of Management

Elphinstone Community Facilities  
Committee of Management

Guildford Hall  
Committee of Management

Guildford Saddle Club Reserve  
Committee of Management

John Powell Reserve  
Committee of Management

Maldon Community Centre  
Committee of Management

Maldon Easter Fair  
Committee of Management

Metcalfe Hall  
Committee of Management

Mount Alexander Diggings  
Management Board

Muckleford Community Centre  
Committee of Management

Newstead Community Centre  
Committee of Management

Newstead Rotunda Park  
Committee of Management

Sutton Grange Hall  
Committee of Management

Taradale Hall  
Committee of Management

Taradale Mineral Springs  
Committee of Management

Taradale Recreation Reserve  
Committee of Management

Wattle Flat Reserve  
Committee of Management

Wesley Hill Facility  
Committee of Management

Council did not revoke any Instruments of 
Delegation for Committees in 2012/2013, nor  
were any new Committees established.
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ANNUAL PLAN COMMITMENTS

ADVOCATING FOR BETTER TRANSPORT OPTIONS 

Project completed.

Council was successful in seeking better transport 
options in the Shire through Transport Connections, 
a State Government funded program to work with 
communities with limited access to public transport 
and develop innovative solutions to improve access 
to services, resources, employment and community 
participation opportunities.

Three community transport services were 
established in the Shire. Those in Newstead and 
Baringhup have been community-managed, while 
in Castlemaine it is operated by the Council. All 
three services offer weekly trips to access local 
services and amenities, while the two community-
managed vehicles are also available for chartering 
by individuals and groups in the community. 

The Newstead and District Community Bus Service 
was launched on 11 February 2013. It has made 
32 weekly trips and transported 64 people. The 
chartering service has achieved the expected 
amount of one and a half full days chartering  
per week. 

The Baringhup-Maldon Community Bus Service was 
launched on 22 April 2013. It has made six weekly 
trips and transported 12 people. The chartering 
service has achieved the expected amount of 1 and 
a half full days chartering per week. 

The Castlemaine and Surrounds Community 
Transport Service will be launched in October 2013.

All three services make extensive use of volunteers 
as bus drivers and committee members. Newstead 
community bus service recruited and trained 8 
volunteer drivers and has 6 volunteer committee 
members. Baringhup have recruited and trained 4 
volunteer drivers and has 5 volunteer committee 
members. The Castlemaine service has recruited 
and trained 4 volunteer bus drivers.

ADVOCATING FOR IMPROVED ACCESS TO 
COMMUNITY SERVICES

Program completed. Project ongoing.

Council is committed to advocating to the State 
and Federal Governments for improved access to 
community services. Feedback obtained from over 
450 residents on the Council Plan has provided 
valuable information to ensure Council remains in 
step with the expectations of our community.

HEALTH AND WELLBEING PLAN 2013 - 2017

Project due for completion October 2014.

Council is required by legislation to develop a new 
four year Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing 
Plan (MPHWP) 12 months after the election of a 
new Council. The MPHWP documents the health 
status of the municipality and identifies goals 
and strategies to protect, promote and improve 
community health and wellbeing. A Discussion 
Paper was produced by the Central Victorian 
Health Alliance (CVHA) on behalf of Council in 
April 2013 which included an analysis of state, 
regional and local health and demographic data to 
provide a detailed profile of the health status of the 
Shire’s population.

CASTLEMAINE SOUTH KINDERGARTEN GETS 
UNIVERSAL ACCESS 

Project deferred.

Funding of $350,000 was provided through joint 
funding with DEECD and Council to construct an 
additional room at Castlemaine South Kindergarten 
to achieve universal access requirements. Council 
is undertaking investigation of early years facilities 
which will determine how this project proceeds. 

DELIVERING ON OUR COMMITMENTS
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IMPROVING COUNCILS EMERGENCY RESPONSE 
PREPAREDNESS AND CAPABILITY

Program completed.

Improvements to the Mount Alexander Municipal 
Emergency Management Plan (MEMP) and sub-
plans were carried out including testing and 
exercising the plan by the MEMP Committee, 
completion of a community multi hazard joint 
agency community education program, and 
working with neighbouring municipalities to 
promote, facilitate and advocate for continuous 
improvement in municipal emergency 
management.

ACTIVITIES FOR YOUNG PEOPLE

Project completed.

A number of programs were undertaken during the 
year including:

Youth Space and Activity Program. 

This Program for 12 - 18 year olds was launched in 
July 2012 at The Salvation Army Hall, 47 Kennedy 
Street, Castlemaine, the new home for the youth 
program called Station Y. Station Y opens from 
2.00 pm – 6.00 pm every Friday afternoon with 
activities running between 4.00 pm to 6.00 pm, 
including singing and music workshops, movie 
nights, cooking classes, games and lots more.

Station Y is a partnership between Mount 
Alexander Shire Council, The Salvation Army and 
Castlemaine District Community Health.

Xtreme Youth Festival. 

Skating, hip hop and parkour were the activities 
of choice at Castlemaine’s 2 The Xtreme festival in 
early December 2012. The event was organised by 
Castlemaine Freeza Committee and local, not-for-
profit organisation XtremeInc Youth Projects. 

The program is in its eighth year and aims to 
celebrate young people. The best young skaters 
from central Victoria competed in a skate and 
BMX competition and a dance competition was 
also held. The weekend festival attracted over 40 
competitors and 400 spectators.

FReeZA is a Victorian Government program that 
supports young Victorians to get involved in 
community life by planning and running drug, 
smoke and alcohol-free music and cultural events 
for other young people.

L2P Program. 

This program sets out to provide the opportunity 
for young people to overcome disadvantage 
through community support to successfully 
obtain their driver’s licence. The target age for 
participants in the L2P program is 16 – 21 years of 
age. The L2P Learner Driver Mentor Program was 
launched in the Castlemaine Botanical Gardens in 
the Tea Rooms.

Council is working in partnership with the Salvation 
Army and VicRoads to support the delivery of this 
program throughout the Shire.

DEVELOPMENT OF YOUTH ENGAGEMENT 
CHARTER

Project completed.

Council received funding through the Victorian 
Government’s Rural and Regional Youth Inclusion 
Grant Program to deliver the Youth Engagement 
Charter Project from July 2011 to December 2012.

This grant program is a component of the Victorian 
Government’s Youth Action Strategy which aims 
to improve how rural and regional young people 
connect with their communities by strengthening 
young people’s participation in decision making 
within their community.

A survey was undertaken with young people in 
the community to determine their experience with 
Council consultations. The Youth Engagement 
Charter was developed by the Youth Advisory 
Group based on consultation with young people 
and Council. The process included a review 
of good practice, other frameworks and input 
from Councillors and Council officers. The 
implementation of the Framework was further 
informed by input received from community 
members at two community workshops held in 
August 2012.
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DELIVER HEALTHY AND ACTIVE LIVING PROJECT

Two year project. 

This project is part of the Australian Government’s 
Healthy Communities Initiative, which seeks to 
support healthy lifestyle behaviours in order to 
reduce obesity-related chronic disease. Council 
received a grant of $566,042 over two years 
from the Federal Department of Health and 
Ageing to undertake a range of community-
based initiatives including community gardens, 
tai chi, walking groups, cycling groups, cooking 
classes and other active lifestyle programs. The 
project is a partnership between Castlemaine 
Health, Castlemaine District Community Health, 
Castlemaine Community House, the Central 
Victorian Health Alliance and Council.

Programs delivered included:

•   New Heartmoves Program: Heartmoves is a 
Heart Foundation program run by accredited 
exercise professionals. The gentle physical 
activity program is run in a friendly and 
supportive environment, designed to be safe for 
people with stable, long term health conditions 
such as heart disease, diabetes and bone or joint 
problems. In 2013, two new groups were formed 
at the Campbells Creek Community Centre 
along with the established groups in Maldon 
and Castlemaine. The program was supported 
by the Healthy Active Living in Mount Alexander 
project in partnership with Castlemaine District 
Community Health. 

•   Free Wheeling Cycling: The Free Wheeling 
Project is a partnership between the Tarrengower 
Women’s Prison and Council. The Project saw 
bikes donated to local community services, or 
disadvantaged community members. Recipients 
of the bikes received a bike helmet and a free 
four- week bike education course. Around 40 
people attended the first bike handover where 
Windarring received the newly repaired bikes. 

•   Getting Out In Mount Alexander: Getting Out In 
Mount Alexander is a free guide to healthy, active 
living with over 90 programs included, presented 
in a clear, easily accessible format for community 
members, volunteers and service providers to 
use. Many agencies contributed to the project 
particularly the key project partners including 
Castlemaine Health, Castlemaine District 
Community Health, Castlemaine Community 
House, Maldon Hospital and Central Victorian 
Health Alliance. 

•   Growing Abundance: This project was an 
expansion of the popular Growing Abundance 
workshop series with the Home Grown and Well 
Preserved Program run through the Castlemaine 
Community House. The Project provided $7000 
to Castlemaine Community House to increase 
the delivery of monthly seasonal cooking and 
preserving workshops across the Shire. The 
sessions were free to people on a health care 
card, Seniors Card or student card.

Other programs delivered included:

• Tai Chi
• A 6 Week Austcycle program 
•  Inclusion Training was held with Councils  

Direct Care Workers
•  A Come N Try Harvest day was held, with  

30 people in attendance
•  A new monthly cooking program was set up 

called ‘Home Grown and Well Preserved’
•  Monthly Walking Groups 

IMPLEMENTATION OF HERITAGE STRATEGY

Program ongoing.

A Heritage Officer was employed to implement 
the key recommendations from the Heritage 
Strategy The Heritage Officer has made progress 
on a number of initiatives identified in the Heritage 
Strategy including:

•   Organising the inaugural Mount Alexander 
Heritage Awards with the local branch of the 
National Trust held 29 August 2013.

•   Meeting with local heritage and history groups 
and is shortly to launch a regular e-newsletter to 
improve communication.

•   Convening the first regional heritage officers 
meeting for the Goldfields region.

•   Working on the asset register to identify heritage 
assets and commencing strategic planning for 
long term works and maintenance programs.

•   Engagement with the Heritage Advisory 
Committee on projects for 2014.

•   Hosting a PLANET training workshop for 
tradesmen and building managers.

•   Providing assistance to community groups 
seeking grants and funding.

•   Providing advice to Council staff and community 
members on heritage matters.

DELIVERING ON OUR COMMITMENTS
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COMMUNITY PLANNING

Three year project.

Council continued working with local communities 
across the Shire to identify their needs and 
aspirations for the future through the development 
of nine local community action plans to be 
completed by May 2014. 

The Taradale Community Plan was completed in 
February 2013. The Newstead Community Plan 
was presented in May 2013, and the Harcourt 
Community Plan is expected to be completed by 
July 2013. Community engagement has taken place 
in Chewton, Elphinstone and Guildford through 
meetings with different groups and a community 
survey was conducted for each town. Results 
of surveys will inform priorities and established 
community action planning groups for each 
town. Scoping of community planning processes 
for Castlemaine, Campbells Creek and Maldon 
commenced during the year.

WORKS AT CARAVAN PARKS

Project not completed.

Works undertaken during the year included 
the replacement of the roof at the Castlemaine 
Gardens Caravan Park. Minor repairs including 
the clearance of tree roots was also completed. 
Drainage designs for both caravan parks were 
deferred to enable the fire protection works 
to proceed which were more expensive than 
preliminary estimates.

IMPLEMENT RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE 
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

Project completed.

A review of the roles and responsibilities of Special 
Committees commenced which will improve the 
management of Council’s recreation facilities and 
community halls. A project brief to develop policy 
on how Council supports community groups and 
organisations was developed.

IMPLEMENT PRIORITY ACTIONS FROM 
PREVENTION OF VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN

Three year project.

In June 2012, Council endorsed the Project Plan for 
the Prevention of Violence Against Women in our 
Community Project. The Project aims to prevent 
violence against women by building communities, 
cultures and organisations that are non-violent. 
It also aims to build gender equity to support 
respectful and equal relationships between men 
and women and to encourage non-violent norms.

The Prevention of Violence against Women 
Project is a three-and-a-half-year initiative 
funded by the Office of Women’s Policy, part of 
the Victorian Department of Human Services. 
Council is the lead partner in the Project, in 
partnership with City of Greater Bendigo and 
Macedon Ranges Shire Council. Council’s activities 
during 2012/2013 included: hosting a regional 
workshop to encourage women to nominate for 
the 2012 Council elections; hosting an international 
women’s day event attended by over 100 women 
and girls; providing a scholarship for one woman 
to attend the Nation Rural Women’s Summit in 
Canberra; partnering in White Ribbon Day activities 
in November 2012 with over 100 people; and 
endorsing four White Ribbon Day ambassadors for 
the Shire.

FLOOD MITIGATION WORKS

Program completed

See Page 11 for information on flood works
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COUNCIL PLAN 2009-2013 COMMITMENTS

OBJECTIVES STRATEGIES INDICATORS RESULT

To improve health 
and welfare 
services.

Actively 
advocate on our 
community’s 
behalf to improve 
service provision 
and coordination.

Council 
participation 
in partnering 
activities with 
other agencies.

Council partnered with the Central Victorian 
Health Alliance, Castlemaine District 
Community Health, St Lukes, Castlemaine 
Community House and other health 
providers to make a funding submission to 
the Department of Health and Ageing. The 
Council received $566,042 in funding for 
healthy and active living programs. The grant 
period is until June 2014.

Increase in 
proportion of 
revenue from 
grant funding.

Grants increased from 40% to 52%. Grants 
were received for a number of projects 
including Local Community Planning, 
Prevention of Violence Against Women, 
Transport Connections, Emergency 
Management and Flood Recovery.

Support 
volunteers 
and volunteer 
organisations.

Partner with 
individuals and 
organisations to 
provide services 
and facilities.

Proportion of 
population 
involved in 
volunteering.

53.9% 

Data is unchanged from previous years as no 
more recent results are available.

(DPCD Community Strength Survey 2008 – 
Community Indicators Victoria)

To encourage 
an appreciation 
of our cultural 
heritage.

Support and 
promote 
organisations 
and arts 
businesses with 
the objective 
of protecting, 
promoting and 
building on our 
historical and 
cultural heritage.

Number of 
community 
events and 
arts activities 
supported.

145 events were held during the year 
supported by Council

To improve 
transport 
options for our 
community.

Advocate to 
improve rail and 
bus services and 
connectivity.

Number of 
activities 
undertaken to 
advocate on 
public transport.

Council has written to the Minister for 
Transport, Public Transport Victoria and the 
Department of Transport, Planning and Local 
Infrastructure about changes to the V/Line 
timetable and the cessation of funding for 
the Transport Connections Program. 

Council liaises with other local governments 
in the region regarding public transport 
needs at quarterly Central Victorian Regional 
Transport Connections Network meetings.
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OBJECTIVES STRATEGIES INDICATORS RESULT

To support 
learning 
opportunities 
for residents 
and the broader 
community.

Advocate to 
connect and 
coordinate 
learning activities 
to transition 
young people 
into employment 
in local business.

Number of 
activities 
undertaken to 
advocate on 
employment for 
young people.

There are six regular mechanisms for 
advocacy. The Youth Development Officer 
participates in a range of forums and 
projects:

•  Promotion of learning and employment 
opportunities via electronic communication

•  Participation in Goldfields Local Learning 
Employment Network (GLLEN) Meetings

•  Member of Victorian Rural Youth Service 
Steering Committee

•  Employment opportunities offered to young 
artist and musicians to support Council 
events including Youth Awards, FreeZa 
events, Youth Space Activity Program

•  Youth Off The Streets Scholarship received 
to support a young person to pursue 
education and employment skills

•  Employment of young person as event 
coordinator for Youth Awards.

Advocate on 
Education 
Services 
coordination 
for the broader 
community.

Number of 
activities 
undertaken 
and agencies 
consulted on 
education 
services.

Two regular mechanisms for advocacy and 
10 agencies consulted. 

Council is an active participant in the 
Youth Partnerships Initiative which aims to 
improve youth engagement with education 
and training; Council is represented on the 
Connect Central Castlemaine Management 
Committee whose key work is to implement 
the Service Plan for Vulnerable Youth in 
Mount Alexander — focusing on improving 
training and education options for vulnerable 
youth. Key agencies are consulted through 
Connect Central Castlemaine.

To advocate for 
water security for 
the Shire.

Advocate and 
partner in order 
to obtain water 
security for the 
community.

Achievement of 
water security at 
levels comparable 
to other Victorian 
regional 
communities.

Coliban Water continues to work on projects 
to ensure water security for the region. 
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OBJECTIVES STRATEGIES INDICATORS RESULT

To advocate 
for improved 
communication 
technologies for 
business and 
personal use.

Advocate 
for improved 
communication 
technology 
access.

Number of 
activities 
undertaken to 
advocate on 
communication 
technology 
access.

Council attended several meeting in Bendigo 
and Melbourne. This included a briefing 
from NBN Executives and a meeting with 
the Deputy Prime Minister. These meetings 
focused on the impacts and opportunities of 
the NBN in the region.

Officers have attended several conferences 
which included social media as a topic.

Council has also, via the business newsletter, 
provided a large amount of information on 
the opportunities presented by the NBN. 

To support the 
community in 
preparing and 
responding 
to emergency 
events.

Partner with 
relevant parties 
to better prepare 
for emergency 
events.

Number of 
partnership 
activities 
undertaken with 
relevant agencies.

25 meetings were held including Municipal 
Emergency Management Planning 
Committee (MEMPC) meetings, Municipal 
Fire Management Plan Committee meetings, 
Central Victoria Municipal Emergency 
Management Enhancement Group (MEMEG) 
meetings and several inter-agency 
emergency management exercises.

Current Municipal 
Emergency 
Management 
Plan.

The Municipal Emergency Management 
Plan (MEMP) ongoing upkeep has included 
updates of half of the Plan’s sub-plans and 
Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) , the 
creation of three new SOP’s, for Transport, 
Catering and Accommodation, the addition 
of the Flood Emergency Plan as a sub-plan 
of the MEMP, and the Vulnerable Persons 
Register.

Pa
rtn

er
in

g f
or

 b
et

te
r s

er
vic

es



40  Mount Alexander Shire Council Annual Report 2012/2013

Mount Alexander Shire has a diverse local economy 
providing a wide range of products, services and 
employment. The diversity of industry sectors 
represented across the Shire makes our community 
interesting, dynamic and viable. There are jobs 
here in agriculture, manufacturing, health and 
community services, education, arts, retail, tourism, 
construction, personal and other services.

Council supports initiatives that promote the 
patronage of local business and the development 
of tourism operators. Council wants to create an 
environment that attracts new business and grows 
existing businesses.

Ensuring a prosperous and diverse local economy
DELIVERING ON OUR COMMITMENTS
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PLANNING PERMITS

Number of planning permit 
applications received for the year 

266

Number of active planning permits 77

Number of building permits issued 
by Council for the year

106

Number of private building permits 
issued for the year

307

Value of building permits issued by 
Council for the year

$4,383,562

Value of building permits issued by 
private providors

$81,371,485

Changes from previous year

»  25% decrease in the number of planning  
permits received

»  15% decrease in the number of active  
planning permits

»  16% decrease in the number of building  
permits issued by Council

»  5.5% increase in the number of private  
permits issued

VISITORS
Visitor numbers to Castlemaine

2010/20112009/2010

Period
2012/2013
2011/2012
2010/2011
2009/2010
Visitor numbers for the June quarter down 4% 
on respective quarter last year.
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ANNUAL PLAN COMMITMENTS

RELOCATION OF MALDON  
INFORMATION CENTRE

Project completed.

Council finalised the purchase of the Wheel and 
Loom Building situated at 34 - 36 Main Street, 
Maldon. The purchase will allow the relocation of 
the Maldon Visitor Information Centre to a prime 
town centre location. 

The relocation of the Visitor Information Centre in 
Maldon was established as a priority by Council 
when it adopted the Maldon Retail Review in 
March 2011 and has been an aspiration of the local 
community for many years.

The relocation will significantly improve the 
visibility of the Visitor Information Centre in the 
busy activity centre of Maldon and enable visitors 
to easily access information about what to see and 
do in Maldon, offering greater opportunities for 
tourism and economic development. 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

Project completed

During the year Council prepared an Economic 
Development Strategy with the aim of working  
in partnership with relevant stakeholders to 
develop the Shire as a desirable place to work,  
live and invest.

The Strategy guides Council’s activities in 
economic development for the next five years, 
envisaging the Shire as one of regional Victoria’s 
most attractive places to live, work, and visit with 
sustainable growth and investment in a local 
economy increasingly structured around innovative, 
highly skilled, and service oriented businesses.

This vision will be realised through the following  
six objectives, under which 41 specific strategies 
have been formed to implement the Strategy.

Objective 1: Ensure that Council’s planning  
and policies support economic development.

Objective 2: Promote collaboration and 
innovation.

Objective 3: Provide targeted learning, skill 
development and business support.

Objective 4: Ensure that resources and 
infrastructure support business growth  
and innovation.

Objective 5: Improve factors that impact  
on liveability.

Objective 6: Promote Mount Alexander as  
a desirable place to live or visit. 

The Strategy acknowledges and encourages 
Council’s economic development function shifting 
towards a strong focus on the economy’s growing 
industries such as health, culture and recreation, 
accommodation and food services, while 
continuing to exploit our location and traditional 
industries such as manufacturing, agriculture  
and mining.

Broad consultation and research was undertaken 
by consultants Street Ryan and Associates to 
produce this document.En
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COUNCIL PLAN COMMITMENTS

OBJECTIVES STRATEGIES INDICATORS RESULT

To support the 
development 
of existing 
businesses and 
attract new 
investment.

Support the 
community to 
‘buy local’.

Activity 
undertaken to 
support the 
purchase of 
goods locally and 
locally grown and 
produced goods.

Council continues to promote investment 
in the Shire with a presence at the Regional 
Living Expo in Melbourne as well as 
providing individual advice to businesses 
looking to expand or establish in the Shire. 
A range of material for business start ups 
is available both on Council’s website 
and from the Visitor Information Centres. 
Council also arranged for the Mobile 
Business Centre to be in Castlemaine for the 
third year in a row, providing specialist one-
on-one advice to existing and prospective 
business operators. 

Increase the 
supply of 
industrial land.

Increase in 
industrial zoned 
land in the Shire.

No further land has been rezoned for 
industrial purposes. Policy support  
favours industrial rezoning in Harcourt  
for 2012/2013 as part of the Harcourt  
After the Bypass Project.

To build tourism 
markets 
and provide 
quality visitor 
experiences.

Support Visitor 
information 
Centre service 
delivery.

Number of visits 
to the Visitor 
Information 
Centres.

165,375

Number of visits 
to the tourism 
website.

56,336 

Support 
development 
of business 
capability 
of tourism 
operators.

Nights booked 
in local tourism 
accommodation 
through Council’s 
accommodation 
service.

125 

Advocate for 
increased profile 
of the Great 
Dividing Trail and 
the Castlemaine 
Diggings National 
Heritage Park.

Council 
participation 
in partnering 
activities to 
promote the Trail.

Council provides tour guiding services for 
the Diggings National Park. Council has 
representation on the Goldfields Track 
Committee and has promoted both the Park 
and the Track through its online and print 
marketing activities. 

To support the 
agricultural and 
business sectors.

Support business 
and industries 
seeking 
development 
opportunities in 
the Shire.

Local 
employment 
levels.

Unemployment rate information from 
Department of Education, Employment and 
Workforce Relations (March Quarter Small 
Area Labour Markets 2013):

Castlemaine – 6.7% 
Rest of Shire – 5.2%

Number of 
new businesses 
entering the Shire.

301 new business registrations.
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Council participated in activities to improve the 
Shire’s environmental sustainability and to ensure 
that planning processes and forward spending 
estimates maintain financial strength. Steps were 
taken to protect the natural and cultural heritage 
and support our unique community structure based 

in small towns and communities. There was a focus 
on long term planning to ensure that services and 
facilities were available in all communities across 
the Shire and all community members had equal 
access to what the Shire had to offer. 

NEW CIVIC CENTRE 
Council completed the refurbishment of the former 
School of Mines building located next to the 
Castlemaine Town Hall to create a new Customer 
Service and Civic Centre. 

The centralisation of the Customer Service Centre 
and Council’s offices into the new Civic Centre will 
result in a significant improvement to access to 
services for the community. 

The Civic Centre will be a one stop shop, where 
customers could access all services provided by 
Council, including: 
»  making payments for rates, permits, applications, 

venue hire
»  meeting with building and planning officers to 

discuss permit applications
»   access to public records including Council 

Meeting Agendas, Minutes, public registers
»  access to key publications including Council Plan, 

Annual Budget, Strategies and Policies
»  lodging service requests for repairs to roads, 

reporting potholes, ordering bins
»   general enquires on Council’s services.

The Customer Service Centre includes an online 
kiosk in the waiting area where residents can 

access Council’s website to find information, make 
on line payments and lodge service requests.

The VicRoads agency services provided by Council 
such as learner permit applications and log books, 
change of ownership details and unregistered 
vehicle permits will now be available five days  
a week.

Council acquired the School of Mines building 
from the State Government and endorsed 
plans for its refurbishment in February 2012. 
Since the formation of Mount Alexander Shire 
Council in 1995, Council had not had adequate 
accommodation to enable its civic and 
administrative functions to operate effectively. 
It had been a long held aspiration of Council to 
develop a sustainable arrangement for this.

The School of Mines Building is listed on the 
Victorian Heritage Register as being of cultural 
heritage significance to the State of Victoria. 

The architects for the project were Gregory 
Burgess Architects and central Victorian 
construction firm Nicholson Construction was 
awarded the tender for the refurbishment work.

DELIVERING ON OUR COMMITMENTS

Planning for a sustainable future
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IMPROVEMENTS TO ENERGY EFFICIENCY
Council set a high standard for the energy 
footprint for the building and consulting engineers 
Connor Pincus Group were engaged to identify 
opportunities to reduce energy use by the building.  
As a result, the building’s energy footprint will be 
reduced by 40 percent and carbon emissions will 
be reduced by approximately 65 tonnes per year.

The package of works included low energy variable 
lighting, maximising of natural light, improved 

ventilation and central ducted air-conditioning, a 
refurbished hydronic heating system, extensive 
insulation, sunscreens to control solar heat gain, 
installation of skylights, climate control systems 
and rainwater harvesting.

Council received a low interest loan of $105,000 
from the Federal Government’s Low Carbon 
Australia program to assist in delivering the 
sustainability elements of the refurbishment.

NEW GRADERS FOR SHIRE
Council purchased one motor grader to assist 
with the delivery of improved road maintenance 
across the Shire. The new equipment provides 
Council with a more reliable grader fleet with 
minimal down time and improved effectiveness. 
The machinery is quieter due to improved sound 
deadening engine upgrades with enhanced safety 
features including a roll-over protection system.  
A second grader will be delivered in 2013/2014.

Council’s current fleet of motor graders had 
seen in excess of 12,000 hours of operation 
resulting in increased maintenance needs of these 
graders, reduced operating time and higher costs 
associated with running an older fleet. The new 
graders offer more consistent levels of service 
delivery resulting in improvements to the road 
network across the Shire. 

The motor graders are used to maintain 
accessibility and levelling of unsealed roads, and to 
level unsealed road shoulders for improved safety 
on our sealed roads. This substantial investment 
ensures that the Shire’s $190 million of road assets 
are adequately maintained into the future. 

Council is currently responsible for maintaining 
775.5 kilometres of unsealed roads and a further 
700 kilometres of unsealed shoulders alongside the 
sealed local road network.
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WEBSITE
Number of website enquiries
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CUSTOMER SERVICE
Number of customer service requests
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REDUCING WASTE
Amount of waste to landfill from kerbside 
collections for the year (tonnes) – 2987

Amount of recycling for the year (tonnes) – 3052

Total amount of waste to landfill for the year 
(tonnes) – 4920

Tonnage to landfill is down compared to the 
previous year. A major factor is that kerbside 
collected waste is down by approximately 6%.

Kerbside collection waste
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WASTE EMISSIONS
Waste emissions for the 2012/2013 reporting period 
equalled 5884 tonnes for carbon dioxide equivalent. 
A carbon dioxide equivalent, abbreviated as CO2e, 
is a metric measure used to compare the emissions 
from various greenhouse gases on the basis of their 
global-warming potential (GWP), by converting 
amounts of other gases to the equivalent amount 
of carbon dioxide. Electricity emissions equalled 30 
tonnes; diesel 76 tonnes.

For 2012/2013 the carbon accounting methodology 
has changed in terms of what is included and 
excluded. The major change is that street lighting 
is now not included but emissions from the landfill 
are included. 

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT
Total number of enforcement activities undertaken 
for the year – 140

RISK AND SAFETY
Public liability incidents for the year – 43

The number of incidents recorded for the year was 
30% less than the previous year. The number of 
incidents in the previous 2 years was higher than 
average due to flood related events.

Public liability audit score for the year – 74%
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ANNUAL PLAN COMMITMENTS

PLANNING SCHEME AMENDMENT FOR EIGHT 
RESTRUCTURE PLANS

Project completed.

The objectives of the Restructure Overlays are 
to identify old and inappropriate subdivisions 
which are to be restructured, to preserve and 
enhance the amenity of the areas and to reduce 
the environmental impacts of dwellings and other 
development. The Restructure Overlays have been 
in place in the Mount Alexander Planning Scheme 
since its inception in 1999 and without a restructure 
plan owners of vacant land were unable to develop 
their land.

Council has prepared eight restructure plans for  
the outstanding Restructure Overlays for 
Ravenswood South, Muckleford South, Maldon 
North A, Maldon North B, Pollard/Bradford, 
Walmer, Gower and Tarilta. 

Planning Panels Victoria held a panel hearing 
to consider the Amendments in May 2013. The 
majority of the recommendations of the Panel  
were supported by Council and included in the  
final Planning Scheme Amendments.

IMPLEMENTED PLANNING SCHEME AMENDMENT 
FOR DIAMOND GULLY STRUCTURE PLAN

Project not completed.

Council engaged the Rural Flying Squad 
to undertake an independent review of the 
amendment, and provide recommendations to 
Council. 

The CFA have objected to the amendment as it 
is proposed, and as such the amendment cannot 
proceed in its current form. Council is currently 
investigating options to proceed with the 
amendment. 

COMPLETE RURAL LAND STUDY FOR 
APPROPRIATE RURAL ZONING

Two year project.

The Rural Land Study is a strategic framework 
for future use, development, conservation and 
responds to requirements to assess the agricultural, 
mixed farming, lifestyle farming and environmental 
conditions of the Shire’s rural lands. 

An Introductory Brochure, Background Technical 
Report, and Issues Paper were circulated and four 
community information sessions held in the rural 
areas. A Future Directions Workshop was held 
which resulted in a Draft Rural Land Strategy. The 
Strategy will be circulated for further comment 
during August 2013.

COMPLETE REFURBISHMENT OF SCHOOL  
OF MINES

Project completed.

See Page 44 for further information.

IMPLEMENT CUSTOMER SERVICE PROCESS 
IMPROVEMENTS TO TOWN PLANNING.

Project completed.

The implementation of the customer service and 
process improvements to town planning was 
completed, including the introduction of software 
to assist the subdivision process and establishing a 
register of standard Planning Permit conditions.



48  Mount Alexander Shire Council Annual Report 2012/2013

IMPLEMENT CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY 
CLIMATE CHANGE PROGRAMS

Program completed.

Council has taken a number of initiatives to create 
a more sustainable future whilst at the same time 
saving money.

The following projects were completed during  
the year:

•  An energy audit was completed on the Town 
Hall and several recommended actions were 
implemented. 

•  3kW solar energy systems were installed at  
the Castlemaine landfill and at the depot in  
Bull Street. 

•  A new energy contract was undertaken that has 
delivered a modest cost saving and enabled 
online monitoring of energy consumption. 

•  A National Australian Built Environment Rating 
System (NABERS) waste audit was undertaken 
at three significant Council locations. The auditor 
awarded all three sites a three and a half star 
rating – out of a possible five stars. To do even 
better, the Civic Centre is testing a new waste 
management regime including the use of worm 
farms to process all food waste.

•  The Council Green Team has led a number of 
initiatives including a ride to work day and an end 
to bottled water.

•  Council has led a Sustainable Home Workshop 
Series and begun publishing a quarterly 
Sustainability and Environment e-newsletter.

The development of a robust greenhouse emission 
management framework remained an ongoing 
priority and a task shared with the Central Victorian 
Greenhouse Alliance. 

Sixteen Councils across north, west and central 
Victoria joined forces to upgrade street lighting 
with energy efficient technology. With assistance 
from Central Victoria Greenhouse Alliance and 
Wimmera Mallee Sustainability Alliance, two-thirds 
of the total project costs were provided by the 
Federal Government under the Community Energy 
Efficiency Program, with the remainder funded by 
participating Councils.

DELIVER WORKS AND REPAIRS TO  
COMMUNITY BUILDINGS

Program completed.

A program of works and repairs to upgrade 
Councils community buildings was completed, 
which included Barfold Hall, Maldon Community 
Centre and the Castlemaine Market Building. 
Improvements to various buildings to meet current 
building standards and implement identified safety 
works to meet OH&S needs and asset preservation. 
The program also allowed for several items 
identified through community needs and greater 
access for people with special needs.

FINANCE SOFTWARE UPGRADE

Two year project.

A review was undertaken to investigate the 
feasibility of an update to the corporate systems 
as opposed to maximising and enhancing the use 
of existing systems, with the aim of supporting 
enhanced business and financial management 
practices across the organisation.

A series of consultations was conducted, as well 
as a brief review of the applications architecture. 
A report was prepared identifying priorities to 
achieve improvements in the way information is 
managed and making recommendations regarding 
the required functionality and configuration of any 
new systems required.

IMPLEMENT CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 
SOFTWARE 

Project deferred. 

This project was deferred as the corporate systems 
review identified opportunities to upgrade 
the current system which includes a contract 
management module.
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IMPLEMENT ROADSIDE CONSERVATION 
MANAGEMENT PLAN

Program completed. 

During the year a number of actions from the 
Roadside Conservation Management Plan were 
implemented including: installation of Significant 
Roadside Vegetation signage; a review of Council’s 
slashing program; and training of outdoor staff 
in regard biodiversity protection on roadsides. 
Further work is required on mapping and other GIS-
dependant activities to progress actions in the plan.

IMPLEMENT 2012/2013 DOMESTIC WASTEWATER 
MANAGEMENT PLAN

Project completed.

Improvements in data management and processing 
of old files has been implemented. All old files 
have now been sent to long term, scan-on-demand 
storage.

PROVIDE CENTRALISED CUSTOMER  
SERVICE CENTRE

Project completed.

The completion of the new Civic Centre 
consolidated customer service centres, providing 
for significant improvement to access services for 
the community. The Civic Centre provided a one 
stop shop where customers can access all Council 
services, including: Payments for rates, permits, 
applications, and venue hire; Meeting with building 
and planning officers to discuss permit applications; 
Access to public records including Council 
Meeting papers and public registers; Access to key 
publications including the Council Plan, Annual 
Budget, Strategies and Policies; Lodging service 
requests for reparation and maintenance works 
and ordering bins; An online kiosk in the Customer 
Service Centre. VicRoads Agency services will now 
be available five days per week.
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COUNCIL PLAN COMMITMENTS

OBJECTIVES STRATEGIES INDICATORS RESULT

To protect 
our natural 
environment 
and minimise 
our impact on 
non-renewable 
resources.

To protect, 
enhance 
and restore 
the natural 
environment.

Participation rate in 
Environmental Grant and Land 
Management Rebate Schemes.

385 participants. (446 for Land 
Management Rate and 14 for 
Environmental Grants.)

To reduce the 
Shire’s ecological 
‘footprint’ (water, 
energy, waste).

Greenhouse gas emission are 
now calculated to include all 
waste emissions and factors in 
electricity and diesel, calculated 
per tonne of carbon dioxide 
equivalent (C02e).

For 2012/13 the carbon 
accounting methodology has 
changed in terms of what is 
included and excluded. The 
major change is that street 
lighting is now not included but 
emissions from the landfill are 
included. 

Greenhouse gas emissions for 
2012/2013 were 5884 tonne 
CO2e.

Reduction in waste going to 
landfill.

4814 tonnes of waste sent to 
landfill in 2012/2013. This is a 
decrease of 9% from the prior 
year. 

Increase in level of recycling. 1526 tonnes of recycling was 
collected in 2012/2013. the total 
recycling as a percentage of 
all kerbside material collected 
waste was 49%. 

Percentage of waste to landfill 
that is recycled.

Only non-recyclable material is 
sent to the landfill. 

To plan land 
use to meet 
current and 
future farming, 
business and 
environmental 
needs.

To plan 
residential land 
use in order to 
enable a mix of 
housing types.

Strategic Planning studies 
undertaken as listed in the 
annual Action Plan.

There were 5 studies for 
completion 2011/2012: Review 
of Supply and Demand for 
Residential Land, (90% 
complete), Castlemaine 
Commercial Centre Study (90% 
complete), Signage Policy 
(50% complete), Heritage 
Strategy (100% complete), 
and Infrastructure Funding 
and Landfill Audit for Diamond 
Gully area (60% complete).

To plan land use 
to meet current 
and desired 
farming and 
business need.

Strategic Planning studies 
undertaken as listed in the 
annual Action Plan.
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OBJECTIVES STRATEGIES INDICATORS RESULT

To support the 
overall prosperity 
of our small 
towns and 
communities.

To support 
development 
in smaller 
communities 
through targeted 
projects and 
programs.

Population levels and land 
values in small towns and 
communities.

The population across the Shire 
is 17,800 

To maintain 
planning 
frameworks for 
the protection of 
our heritage.

To manage land 
use so that it 
complies with 
permitted usage.

Undertake compliance activities 
to manage non-permitted 
usage.

Newstead Heritage Study 
was approved and gazetted 
which added 392 places to the 
Heritage overlay to maintain 
planning frameworks for the 
protection of our heritage. 
Planning permits were 
assessed in accordance with 
the scheme to manage land 
use so that it complied with 
permitted usage.

173 planning permits were 
undertaken in 2012/2013 and 
137 investigations to possible 
planning breaches.

To protect 
and manage 
our historic 
environment.

Undertake compliance activities 
to manage non-permitted 
usage.

To plan and 
manage the 
organisation to 
ensure long term 
viability.

To improve 
financial 
sustainability so 
that long terms 
needs of the 
Shire are met.

Ratio of assets to liabilities for 
the Shire.

19.23
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How we deliver services
Council is committed to planning and managing the organisation so that service provision is efficient and 
effective. Council’s main priorities for the organisation are improving responsiveness and services to the 
community, sound financial management and being an employer of choice.

COUNCIL PLAN COMMITMENTS

STRATEGIES ACTIONS TARGET RESULT

Development and 
implementation of 
a Customer Service 
Strategy that includes 
measurable service 
standards.

Adoption of revised 
Customer Service 
Strategy.

Revised Customer 
Service Strategy

The Customer Service 
Strategy was revised for 
presentation to Council 
for August 2013.

Set agreed service levels. Improved Customer 
Service

The centralisation of 
services in the new Civic 
Centre allowed for great 
efficiencies of services 
to the community.

Monitor and implement 
service improvements.

Commencing 1 July 
2010 and then ongoing.

Included in Quarterly 
Service Activity 
Indicator reports

Undertake a records 
management 
improvement program.

Undertake a training 
program of record 
keeping principles and 
usage of the existing 
records management 
system.

Completion by 30 June 
2010.

Completed. Quarterly 
TRIM end user and 
refresher training now 
incorporated into 
Council annual training 
program.

Undertake a joint 
tendering process for 
the purchase of a new 
electronic document 
management system, 
under a shared 
agreement with ten other 
councils.

Commenced and 
ongoing over the next 
four years.

TRIM Electronic 
Document Management 
System implemented in 
March 2012 on time and 
within budget.

HOW WE DELIVER SERVICES
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SOUND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

STRATEGIES ACTIONS TARGET RESULT

To ensure long term 
financial viability.

Management in line with 
the Long Term Financial 
Plan.

Council Audited 
Financial Statements 
will show the following:

Improvement in the 
Financial Viability 
Indicators.

The trend in financial 
liability indicators 
improved overall in 
2012/2013.

Reduction in the 
Depreciation and 
Capital Renewal Gap.

Exceeded with renewal 
expenditure 124% of 
depreciation largely 
due to flood damage 
restoration.

Operating Result in line 
with the LTFP.

The operating result 
was $9.931 million 
compared to the Long 
Term Financial Plan 
estimate of $6.067 
million. The increase 
was mainly due to non-
monetary contributions 
of $2.35 million in 
relation to transfer of 
control of Harcourt 
Recreation Reserve and 
Harmony Way.

Adoption of a Rating 
Strategy.

Adoption by 30 June 
2010.

Completed.

Monitoring and Update of 
Asset Management Plans.

Ongoing task over the 
four year life of the Plan.

Revaluation of Roads 
undertaken as at 30 
June 2012 including full 
assessment of asset 
condition.

Moloney System 
Review undertaken and 
updated.

HOW WE DELIVER SERVICES
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BEING AN EMPLOYER OF CHOICE

STRATEGIES ACTIONS TARGET RESULT

To be an employer of 
choice.

Leadership development 
of our managers.

To provide professional 
development 
opportunity for 
managers to support 
development and 
identification as a team 
within Council.

Organisational cultural 
awareness and change 
management.

Customer Service 
Training for Managers 
and general staff was 
conducted.

Senior Leadership 
Development – 2 day 
course provided to 
Managers in November 
2012. 

Key focus – 
communication, 
leadership and 
change, understanding 
behaviour, the business 
of relating.

Workshops conducted 
March 2013 for all 
supervisors/ managers 
/leaders of Council to 
support understanding 
of cultural change 
through a transition 
process.

Implementation of a 
values program for all 
staff.

Completed by 30 June 
2013 

Staff Awards and Values 
ceremony to recognise 
staff contribution to 
council

Values recognition 
program commenced.

Ceremony conducted at 
Castlemaine Art Gallery 
October 2012.

81 staff were recognised 
at the ceremony.

Review of 
accommodation needs.

Completed by 30 July 
2013.

School of Mines Building 
was purchased and 
refurbishment design 
completed on schedule. 

HOW WE DELIVER SERVICES
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MOUNT ALEXANDER SHIRE COUNCIL

Performance Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2013

INTRODUCTION TO THE PERFORMANCE STATEMENT

The Local Government Act 1989 requires all 
Councils to develop and report on a number of 
Key Strategic Activities including performance 
measures and targets as part of its Annual Budget. 
The Act requires that the Key Strategic Activities 
be reported in the Annual Report. 

Activities selected as Key Strategic Activities are 
those that Council determined as key drivers of 
performance amongst the wide range of activities 
that Council undertakes throughout the year. 

The Performance Statement is the formal process 
for reporting on the Key Strategic Activities 
identified in the budget and monitored in the 
Council Plan. 

The Performance Statement is audited by the 
external auditor along with the Financial Statement 
which means that evidence must be produced for 
the auditor on the extent to which the nominated 
performance measure was reached.

PERFORMANCE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
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THEME: STRENGTHENING OUR COMMUNITY

Strategic Objective: To enable an active and healthy community by providing appropriate 
services and facilities.

Key Strategic Activity: Provide services that support our ageing population and enable them to 
participate in community life.

Performance Measures 
and Targets:

All clients assessed as eligible receive Home and Community Care services 
– 100%.

Comment: The target was met. All clients assessed as eligible received Home and 
Community Care Services.

Key Strategic Activity: Provide a safe and efficient road and transport network.

Performance Measures 
and Targets:

Compliance with Road Management Plan – 100%.

Comment: The target was met.

Strategic Objective: To enhance physical and social connections within the community.

Key Strategic Activity: Improve connections between walking and cycle paths to encourage the 
community to be active and enjoy the natural environment.

Performance Measures 
and Targets:

1. Cost of planned pathways is as per budget - Variance < 10%.

2. Percentage completed within Program of Work timeframes – 80%.

3. Length (metres) by which network extended – 2000 metres.

Comment: One target was met, two targets were not met.

1.  Target was not met. 
65% less than budget, due to deferral of the Maldon-Castlemaine rail trail 
to 2013/2014 this was 60% of the budget for the year.

2.  Target was not met. 
65% less than budget, due to deferral of the Maldon-Castlemaine rail trail 
to 2013/2014 this was 60% of the budget for the year.

3.  Target was met. 
3,500 metres of path was built.

PERFORMANCE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
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THEME: PARTNERING FOR BETTER SERVICES

Strategic Objective: Support volunteers and volunteer organisations.

Key Strategic Activity: Improve facilities used and managed by community groups.

Performance Measures 
and Targets:

1. Projects completed within agreed timeframes – 80%.

2. Number of facilities based projects completed – 10.

Comment: One target was met, one target was not met.

1.  Target was met. 
8 out of 9 projects were complete – 89%.

2.  Target was not met. 
8 projects were completed.

Key Strategic Activity: Support community based events and activities through the provision  
of grants.

Performance Measures 
and Targets:

1. Total grants paid as a proportion of total budget – 90%.

2. Grants processed within agreed timelines – 90%.

3. Number of community groups assisted – 60.

Comment: Two targets were met, one target was not met.

1. Target was met with 100% of the budget was expended.

2.  Target was not met with 84% of grants were processed within agreed 
time frames.

3. Target was met with 62 groups receiving grants.

PERFORMANCE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
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THEME: ENSURING A PROSPEROUS AND DIVERSE LOCAL COMMUNITY

Strategic Objective: To support the development of existing businesses and attract new 
investment.

Key Strategic Activity: Provide relevant and reliable information is available to support business 
development.

Performance Measures 
and Targets:

1. Number of Business Development Newsletters produced – 4.

2. Number of activities promoting the Business Data Base – 4.

Comment: Both targets were met.

1.  Target was met. 
The number of Business Development Newsletters was 6. 

2.  Target was met. 
The number of activities promoting the Business Data Base was 6.

Strategic Objective: To build tourism markets and provide quality visitor experiences.

Key Strategic Activity: Promote tourism service offered by Council to increase use.

Performance Measures 
and Targets:

1. Increase in the number of visits to Council’s Tourism Website – 5%.

2. Increase in number of industry marketing partners participating in 
Tourism Service Unit’s marketing initiatives – 10%.

Comment: Both targets were met.

1. Target was met with an increase of 16%.

2. Target was met with an increase of 65%.

Strategic Objective: To support the agricultural and business sectors.

Key Strategic Activity: Building and planning permit application processing.

Performance Measures 
and Targets:

1.  Percentage of building applications determined within the required 
timeframe – 80%.

2.  Percentage of planning applications determined within the required 
timeframe – 80%.

3. Percentage of Council decisions upheld by VCAT – 90%.

Comment: Two targets were met, one was not met.

1.  Target was met – 85 Building permits issued, 69 within timeframe,  
16 outside (81%).

2.  Target was not met – 263 planning applications received, 67 determined 
within the statutory timeframe (25%).

3. Target was met – 4 VCAT cases held. 100% were upheld.

PERFORMANCE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
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THEME: CREATING A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE

Strategic Objective: To protect our natural environment and minimise our impact on  
non-renewable resources.

Key Strategic Activity: Reduce the Shire’s ecological footprint (water, energy, waste).

Performance Measures 
and Targets:

1. Diversion rate of waste from landfill – 65%.

2. Reduction in emissions from Council’s operations – 5%.

3.  Increase participation in Environmental Grant and Land Management 
Rebate Schemes – 5%.

Comment: 1. Target was not met – diversion from landfill was 39.58%.

2.  Target was met – reduction in emissions from Council’s operations was 5%.

3.  Target was met – participation in the Environment Grant Scheme 
increased by 68.8% and the Land Management Scheme by 14.6%.

Strategic Objective: To maintain planning frameworks for the protection of our heritage.

Key Strategic Activity: Improve compliance with permitted land use.

Performance Measures 
and Targets:

1. Number of enforcement activities undertaken – 130.

2. % of enforcement activities undertaken successfully – 90%.

Comment: All targets were met

1.  310 enforcement activities were undertaken, 173 full permit audits 
(proactive compliance) 137 complaints follow up(reactive).

2.  98% – 4 reactive investigations remain outstanding, 1 pro-active audit 
remains outstanding.

Strategic Objective: To plan and manage the organisation to ensure long term viability.

Key Strategic Activity: Plan and manage the organisation to ensure long term viability.

Performance Measures 
and Targets:

1. Working capital in line with the LTFP > 150%.

2.  Borrowings maintained within Prudential Guidelines.  
Total indebtness / realisable assets.

Comment: Both targets were met.

1.  Target was met – Debt was 17.8% of realisable assets. $12.44 million to 
$69.89 million realisable assets.

2. Target was met – Working Capital ratio was greater than 200%.

PERFORMANCE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
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CERTIFICATION OF THE PERFORMANCE STATEMENT

PERFORMANCE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
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COMMUNITY SATISFACTION SURVEY

Community Satisfaction Survey Results 2013

In response to feedback from local councils, Local 
Government Victoria introduced methodological 
and content changes to the Community Satisfaction 
Survey in 2012 to provide the sector with more 
reliable and meaningful results to inform decision 
making and support strategic planning as follows:

»  The survey is now conducted as a representative 
random probability survey of residents aged 
18 years or over in local Councils, whereas 
previously it was conducted as a “head of 
household” survey.

»  As part of the change to a representative 
survey, results are now weighted post survey 
to the known population distribution of the 
Shire according to the most recently available 
Australian Bureau of Statics population 
estimates, whereas the results were previously 
not weighted.

»  The service responsibility area performance 
measures have changed significantly and the 
rating scale used to assess performance has also 
changed.

As such the results of the 2012 Community 
Satisfaction Survey should be considered as 
a benchmark. Please note that comparisons 
should not be made with the 2011 Community 
Satisfaction Survey results from 2011 and prior to 
the methodological and sampling changes.

The Community Satisfaction Survey 

2013 2012

Overall Performance 52 46

Community Consultation 
(Community consultation and 
engagement)

51 45

Advocacy 
(Lobbying on behalf of the 
community)

55 47

Customer Service 63 60

Overall Council Direction 49 35

PERFORMANCE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
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Governance
COUNCIL MEETINGS 
The attendance of Councillors at Council meeting over 2012/2013 is presented below.

Ordinary Meetings Special Meetings

Eligible Attended Eligible Attended

Councillor Barber 21 20 3 3

Councillor Bell1 13 12 2 2

Councillor Cole1 13 13 2 1

Councillor Henderson 21 19 3 3

Councillor Howard1 13 13 2 2

Councillor Redden 21 20 3 2

Councillor Telford1 13 13 2 2

Councillor Cropley2 8 8 1 1

Councillor Cross2 8 6 1 1

Councillor Machin2 8 6 1 1

Councillor Rewell2 8 6 1 1

Council conducts its business in open and publicly advertised meetings. Members of the public may attend 
any Ordinary or Special Meeting of the Council, except where confidential matters are being discussed.

In 2012/2013 there were 21 Ordinary and three Special Meetings of Council. 

1   Councillors Bell, Cole, Howard and Telford were elected effective from 26 October 2012.
2   Councillors Cropley, Cross, Machin and Rewell ceased to be Councillors from 25 October 2012.

COUNCILLOR BRIEFINGS
In addition to regular Council Meetings, Council 
held briefing sessions for Councillors where Council 
Officers made presentations to Councillors on 
policy and other matters. The briefings provided the 
opportunity for Councillors and officers to discuss 
items in detail and enabled issues, queries and 
concerns to be raised and addressed. Community 
organsations also presented deputations at 
breifings and Councillors requested presentations 
from parties in whom they had an interest.

Council decisions were not made at these 
briefing sessions, and all matters that required a 
decision were referred to a Council meeting for 
consideration.

Records of Assemblies of Councillors and Conflicts 
of Interest declarations were kept for all relevant 
briefings and meetings of Councillors and officers.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
In the interest of transparency, probity and 
good governance the Local Government Act 
requires Councillors to disclose interests prior to 
discussion at Council Meetings. The Act clearly 
defines ‘Interests’ and ‘Conflicts of Interest’ so 
that Councillors are aware of their responsibilities. 
Officers exercising delegated authority or  
advising Council were also required to declare  
any conflicts of interest.

GOVERNANCE
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COUNCILLOR REMUNERATION
An Order in Council by the Minister for Local 
Government published on 27 October 2012 gave 
effect to ranges for current Councillor and Mayoral 
allowances for the next four years. 

The allowance were in two parts, Part A was the 
base allowance and Part B which is the equivalent 
of the superannuation guarantee contribution 
(currently 9.25%) which is added to Part A to make 
up the total allowance.

Council set the allowances at the Ordinary Meeting 
of Council on 11 June 2013 at $17,969.00 for 
Councillors and at $53,684.00 for the Mayor, plus 
the Part B component of the allowance of 9.25%, 
providing for a total allowance of $19,631.13 for 
Councillors and an allowance of $58,649.77 for  
the Mayor.

CODE OF CONDUCT
A Code of Conduct amongst Councillors 
commits Councillors to work effectively together 
and provides for effective participation and 
accountability of Council to its community. The 
Code of Conduct was adopted on 11 November 
2009 and is available on Council’s website. It will 
be reviewed within 12 months of the 2012 election.

The Council Plan guides Council’s work for a 
period of four years. The Council Plan 2009–2013 
successfully met the vision and goals over the four 
year period. A new Council Plan for the period 
2013–2017 was adopted by the incoming Council 
on 25 June 2013.

COUNCIL PLAN 2009–2013
Council adopted the Council Plan 2009-2013 on 24 
June 2008 and reviewed it in April 2010 and again 
in May 2011. The Council Plan presented Council’s 
vision for the Shire and for a four-year period. The 
Plan detailed the objectives, strategies and targets 
against which Council’s progress to achieving 
the vision was measured and mapped out key 
areas where Council made a major contribution 
to achieving its objectives. The program over the 
four year period included initiatives involving 
community engagement processes, construction 
and maintenance programs, planning and policy 
development, advocacy to external bodies on 
strategic issues and complements the extensive 
range of ongoing services provided by Council.

COUNCIL PLAN 2013–2017
Councillors worked closely with the community in 
developing the new Council Plan 2013-2017. The 
Plan commenced with a series of consultation 
workshops and the outcomes from workshops 
formed the basis of the draft Council Plan including 
the Vision, Principles and Goals. The outcomes 
were then taken to the community for feedback 
and input.

There were two community forums at Maldon 
and Castlemaine, as well as five daily information 
sessions at the Castlemaine Library and at the 
Farmers Market in Castlemaine. A forum with 
Advisory Committee members was held and there 
were workshops with primary school students in 
Chewton, Elphinstone and Guildford. An online 
survey was prepared to allow for input from those 
residents unable to attend a community forum 
or information session. Submissions were also 
received from Mount Alexander Sustainability 
Group Inc and Maldon Inc. 

Vision

Mount Alexander Shire – a thriving community 
working together to create a sustainable and 
vibrant future.

GOVERNANCE
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Principles

Mount Alexander Shire Council:

»  Listens to its communities, respects their views 
and responds openly and responsibly

»  Insists on integrity, equity and fairness in delivery 
services and facilities

»  Is guided by the desire for a sustainable and 
vibrant future

»  Is a progressive, innovative and confident leader
»  Is an advocate for our Shire and collaborates 

with others for the benefit of our region.

Council each year prepares an Annual Plan 
setting out the major projects and initiatives to be 
delivered in the ensuing year. Reporting progress 
against the Plan complemented the other regular 
reporting that Council undertakes in relation to the 
Budget (including Key Strategic Activities), Capital 
Works Program, corporate performance indicators 
for service areas and Council Plan strategic 
indicators.

Council reports annually on progress against the 
Council Plan in the Annual Report and quarterly 
to the community on progress against the Annual 
Plan at Council Meetings. The reports are available 
at the Town Hall and on the website as attachments 
to the Council Meeting Agenda. 

CITIZENSHIP CEREMONIES
Three Citizenship Ceremonies were held during 
the year where 13 community members had their 
Australian Citizenship conferred by the Mayor, 
including one citizen welcomed at the Australia 
Day Ceremony. Citizens came from many countries 
including: United Kingdom, Thailand, Sudan, 
Netherlands, Nepal, England, Afghanistan and India.

RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk Management is the systematic application of 
policies, procedures and practices to the tasks of 
identifying, analysing, evaluating and controlling 
risk. Risk management is recognised as an integral 
part of good management practice and of corporate 
governance. Council aims to proactively manage 
risk in accordance with best practice to continuously 
improve sustainability and service provision.

It is crucial that risks are identified and managed 
in order to minimise their negative impact upon 
the achievement of Council’s objectives and to 
capitalise on potential opportunities. Council has 
the following Risk Management framework in place:

»  an Audit and Risk Advisory Committee which 
oversees the effectiveness of Council’s risk 
management systems, practices and procedures;

»  Risk Management and Health and Safety 
policies and supporting systems which build risk 
management disciplines into all organisational 
processes;

»  a comprehensive Risk Register covering both 
strategic and operational risks, together with a 
computer based information system that ensures 
risk visibility and accountability;

»  auditing of Risk Management systems by 
Council’s Insurer;

»  a suite of safety guidelines for common manual 
tasks;

»  Risk and Insurance Guidelines for Special 
Committees;

»  a detailed Business Continuity Plan and Unit sub-
plans, and

»  a comprehensive insurance portfolio.

Council reviewed and updated its Risk 
Management Policy and Framework in June 2013 
and undertook a comprehensive assessment of its 
property insurance prior to renewing this insurance 
for 2013/2014.

GOVERNANCE
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FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
Information held by Council may be accessed in 
accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 
1982. Nine requests were received and processed 
under the Act for the period 1 July 2012 to 30 June 
2013. Access was granted to two requests in full 
and five requests in part. One request was denied 
in full and in once case the Act did not apply to the 
request and information was able to be provided 
outside the Freedom of Information Act.

Requests for access to documents under the Act 
must be made in writing and a fee of $25.70 must 
accompany the application. 

Freedom of Information requests should be 
addressed to Council’s Freedom of Information 
Officer. Information on the Act and how to lodge 
an application can be found on Council’s web-site 
www.mountalexander.vic.gov.au.

PROTECTED DISCLOSURES  
ACT 2012
The Protected Disclosures Act 2012 came into 
effect on 10 February 2013. 

The purpose of the Act is to encourage and 
facilitate disclosures of improper conduct and to 
prohibit detrimental action against those who make 
such disclosures by providing them with protections 
and by ensuring confidentiality of their identity and 
the nature and content of their disclosures. 

Council is required to adopt new Protected 
Disclosure Procedures before August 2013. These 
Procedures are available from Council’s website 
or upon request from Council’s Customer Service 
Centre in the Civic Centre, Cnr Lyttleton and Lloyd 
Streets Castlemaine. 

Disclosures relating to Councillors may be made 
to the Independent Broad based Anti-Corruption 
Commission (IBAC). Disclosures against Council’s 
employees or contractors may be made to either 
Council’s Protected Disclosure Co-ordinator, the 
Chief Executive Officer or a line manager in Council, 
including Directors, Managers and supervisors. 

During 2012/2013 no disclosures of improper 
conduct or detrimental action under the 
Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 were received. 
In addition, no disclosed matters were referred 
to Council by the Ombudsman during the year. 
No disclosures were referred to IBAC since the 
operation of the Protected Disclosures Act 2013.

GOVERNANCE
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PUBLICLY AVAILABLE DOCUMENTS
In accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (General) Regulations 2004, 
the following information is available for inspection by request at the Civic Centre, Corner Lyttleton and 
Lloyd Streets, Castlemaine during office hours.

Details of current allowances fixed for the  
Mayor and Councillors under Section 74 or  
74A of the Act.

Total annual remuneration for all senior officers 
in respect of the current financial year and the 
previous financial year, set out in a list that states 
the ranges of remuneration of senior officers, 
where the difference between the lower amount 
and the higher amount in each range must not 
exceed $10 000; and the number of senior officers 
whose total annual remuneration falls within the 
ranges referred to.

Details of overseas or interstate travel (with the 
exception of interstate travel by land for less than 
three days) undertaken in an official capacity 
by Councillors or any member of Council staff 
in the previous 12 months, including the names 
of the Councillors or members of Council staff 
and the date, destination, purpose and total cost 
of the overseas or interstate travel, including 
accommodation costs.

 Names of Council officers who were required to 
submit a return of interest during the financial year 
and the date the returns were submitted.

Names of Councillors who submitted returns of 
interest during the financial year and the dates the 
returns were submitted.

Agendas for and minutes of ordinary and special 
meetings held in the previous 12 months kept 
under Section 93 of the Act, except if the minutes 
relate to parts of meetings which have been closed 
to members of the public.

A list of all special committees established by 
Council and the purpose for which each committee 
was established.

 A list of all special committees established by 
Council that were abolished or ceased to function 
during the financial year.

Minutes of meetings of special committees 
established under Section 86 of the Act and held in 
the previous 12 months, except if the minutes relate 
to parts of meetings which have been closed to 
members of the public under Section 89 of the Act.

Register of Delegations kept under Sections 87 and 
98 of the Act, including the dates on which late 
reviews under section 86(6) and 98 (6) took place.

Submissions received in accordance with Section 
223 of the Act during the previous 12 months.

Agreements to establish regional libraries under 
Section 196 of the Act.

Details of all property, finance and operating leases 
involving land, buildings, plant, computer equipment 
or vehicles entered into by the Council as lessor or 
lessee, including the name of the other party to the 
lease and the terms and value of the lease.

Register of Authorised Officers appointed under 
Section 224 of the Act.

List of donations and grants made by the Council 
during the financial year, including the names of 
persons or bodies which have received a donation 
or grant and the amount of each donation or grant.

List of the names of organisations of which the 
Council was a member during the financial year 
and details of all membership fees and other 
amounts and services provided during that year to 
each organisation by the Council.

List of contracts valued at $150,000 for goods and 
services or $200,000 for capital works or more 
which the Council entered into during the financial 
year without first engaging in a competitive 
process and which are not contracts referred to in 
Section 186(5) of the Act.

A statement pursuant to Section 94(6) of the Local 
Government Act related to the remuneration of the 
Chief Executive Officer.

GOVERNANCE
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AUDIT AND RISK ADVISORY COMMITTEE
The Audit and Risk Advisory Committee (the 
Committee) is appointed by Council pursuant to 
Section 139 of the Local Government Act 1989.

The main objectives of the Committee are to assist 
Council in discharging its oversight responsibilities 
in relation to the following matters:

»  Financial reporting process to ensure balance, 
transparency and integrity of published  
financial information;

»  The effectiveness of Council’s internal control  
and risk management systems;

»  The effectiveness of the internal audit function;

»  The independent external audit process  
including assessing the performance of the 
external auditor;

»  Council’s process for monitoring compliance  
with legislation and regulations and Council 
policies affecting financial reporting; and

»  Key policies impacting the effectiveness of 
Council’s governance framework, including Code 
of Ethics, Fraud Policy, Whistleblower Policy, etc.

Members of the Committee are:

Mr Bob Stensholt (Chair) 
Mr Alan Honey 
Mr Ken Belfrage 
Mr Garry Johnstone

Two Councillors were newly appointed to the 
Committee following Council elections in October 
2012. The two appointees were Mr Michael Redden 
and Mr Chris Cole.

GOVERNANCE

Audit and Risk Advisory Committee Membership 2012/2013

Committee/Council Member Role Term Attendance

Total No. of Meetings 4

Mr Bob Stensholt (Chair) Chair 
Independent Member

8 March 2011 – current 4

Mr Alan Honey Independent Member 8 March 2011 – current 4

Mr Ken Belfrage Independent Member 8 March 2011 – current 3

Mr Garry Johnstone Independent Member 8 March 2011 – current 4

Mr Michael Redden Councillor December 2008 – current 3

Mr Chris Cole Councillor October 2012 – current 2

Ms Janet Cropley Councillor December 2008 – October 2012 2

Mr Garry Rewell Councillor May 2010 – October 2012 1
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Statutory reporting
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BEST VALUE
The Local Government Act 1989 outlines a number 
of principles that Councils are required to review its 
services against as follows:

»  Meet quality and cost standards;
»  Are responsive to the needs of the community;
»  Are accessible to those members of the 

community whom the service is intended;
»  Achieve continuous improvement;
»  Include a process of regular consultation; and
»  Report regularly to the community on its 

achievements.

Council meets this requirement by supporting  
a culture of continuous improvement. Business  
plans across the organisation include initiatives  
for improving customer service, improving 
efficiency of service delivery and improvements  
to organisational culture. 

A Community Engagement Policy and Framework 
was adopted during the year which outlines 
Council’s commitment to engaging with the 
community and its intent to ensure clear and 
thorough communication from the start to the end 
of each community engagement undertaking. 

Council also adopted a Youth Engagement Charter 
developed by the Youth Advisory Group based 
on consultation with young people and Council. 
The Youth Engagement Charter Project aimed 
to understand and address the barriers to young 
people participating in Council’s consultation and 
decision making.

The Customer Service Action Plan sets out 
the organisation’s ongoing commitment to 
customer service excellence and outlined the 
key initiatives to be undertaken in 2012/2013 to 
achieve improvement in our customer service 
performance. Initiatives completed during the year 
included the implementation of a new Customer 
Request System; increase in the number of on-line/
electronic payment options, improved information 
on Council’s Website and planning for a new 
Customer Service Centre in the Civic Centre.

The IT Strategy adopted by Council in 2011 outlined 
key initiatives for improving services to customers 
and delivering efficiencies in service delivery 
through technology improvements. Projects 
implemented in 2012/2013 included: increased 
use of mobile technology to improve efficiency of 
staff offsite; completion of the final stage of the 
move to a virtual server environment to reduce 
the cost of data storage, reduce energy use and 
improve disaster recovery capabilities; relocation 
of Council’s website to a separate server to free up 
bandwidth Council’s operations. 

Council transitioned its Corporate Information 
Database to Interplan during the year. Interplan 
is able to provide greater functionality allowing 
Council to record and monitor its performance 
against the Council Plan, Annual Plan, Business 
Plans and Key Performance Indicators.

Service reviews undertaken during the year 
included a review to guide planning for the future 
direction of Council’s Home and Community Care 
Delivered Meals Service and Assessment and Care 
Coordination. The review findings were considered 
in the context of improving the Council’s service 
system for assisting older people and people with  
a disability to live independently at home.

Council continued to report regularly to the 
community on its achievements during the year 
with quarterly reporting provided on financial 
performance, service activity indicators and 
progress against initiatives outlined in the  
Annual Plan. 

STATUTORY REPORTING
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VICTORIAN LOCAL GOVERNMENT INDICATORS
The following indicators have been developed to report on key indicators for Local Government.  
The following indicators must be included in every Council’s Annual Report.

Indicator Description Definition 2011/2012 2012/2013

Overall 
performance

Community 
satisfaction 
rating for 
overall 
performance 
generally of the 
council.

Council result from the Annual Community 
Satisfaction Survey for Local Governments, 
(Chart One: Summary of Results – Result No. 1), 
coordinated by Local Government Victoria.

46 52

Advocacy Community 
satisfaction 
rating for 
Councils 
making 
representations 
on behalf of 
the community.

Council result from the Annual Community 
Satisfaction Survey for Local Governments 
coordinated by Local Government Victoria.

47 55

Community 
consultation

Community 
satisfaction 
rating for 
Council’s 
community 
consultation 
and 
engagement.

Council result from the Annual Community 
Satisfaction Survey for Local Governments 
coordinated by Local Government Victoria.

45 51

All rates Average rates 
and charges 
per assessment 

Rates and charges declared as being receivable, 
in the calculations for the adopted rates, at the 
beginning of the year, including:

•  general rates and charges declared under  
ss. 160, 161,161A of the Local Government  
Act 1989 (the Act)

•  municipal charges and service rates and charges 
(that is, garbage services) levied under ss. 159, 
162 of the Act respectively

• supplementary rates declared,

divided by the number of assessments used in the 
calculation of the adopted rate (that is, when the 
rate was struck).

$1,454 $1,539

STATUTORY REPORTING



76  Mount Alexander Shire Council Annual Report 2012/2013

Indicator Description Definition 2011/2012 2012/2013

Residential 
rates

Average 
residential 
rates and 
charges per 
assessment 

Rates and charges declared for all residential 
assessments (including vacant residential 
assessments) as defined in “All rates”, except for 
residential assessments only

divided by the number of residential assessments 
used in the calculation of the adopted rate (that 
is, when the rate was struck).

$1,303 $1,696

Operating 
costs

Average 
operating 
expenditure 
per assessment 

Total expenses per the Income Statement 
(previously known as the statement of financial 
performance) plus net gain (loss) on disposal of 
property, plant and equipment infrastructure. 

divided by the number of assessments used in the 
calculation of the adopted rate (that is, when the 
rate was struck).

N.B. Where major factors of expenditure such as 
devaluations or transfers of assets are excluded, 
councils should provide a note explaining what  
has been excluded. 

$3,131 $4,566

Capital 
expenditure

Average capital 
expenditure 
per assessment 

Amount of Council’s expenditure capitalised to the 
Balance Sheet (previously known as the statement 
of financial position) and contributions by a local 
government to major assets not owned by the 
local government, including expenditure on:

•  capital renewal of existing assets which returns 
the service potential or the life of the asset up to 
that which it had originally

•  capital expansion which extends an existing 
asset at the same standard as currently enjoyed 
by residents to a new group of users

•  capital upgrade which enhances an existing 
asset to provide a higher level of service or 
expenditure that will increase the life of the 
asset beyond that which it had originally

divided by the number of assessments used in the 
calculation of the adopted rate (that is, when the 
rate was struck).

Note. Exactly what is included as capital 
expenditure will vary according to the local 
government’s policy in defining the ‘asset’  
and its ‘life’.

$836 $1,392

STATUTORY REPORTING
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Indicator Description Definition 2011/2012 2012/2013

Infrastructure Renewal Ratio of current spending on capital renewal of 
existing infrastructure assets which returns the 
service potential or the life of the asset up to that 
which it had originally to the AAAC

totalled for each and every infrastructure asset to 
give one ratio.

95% 135%

Renewal and 
maintenance 

Ratio of current spending on capital renewal of 
existing infrastructure assets which returns the 
service potential or the life of the asset up to that 
which it had originally plus current spending on 
maintenance: 

•  to AAAC plus all anticipated planned and 
unplanned maintenance (that is, the expected 
level of maintenance which was used in the 
calculation of the useful life of the asset) 

•  totalled for each and every infrastructure asset 
to give one ratio.

The Average Annual Asset Consumption (AAAC) 
is the amount of a local government’s asset base 
consumed during a year. It is based on the current 
replacement cost ‘as new’ divided by useful life.

183% 178%

Debts Average 
liabilities per 
assessment 

Total liabilities as per the Balance Sheet 
(previously known as the statement of financial 
position) less items held in trust (reflected in 
assets also held) 

divided by the number of assessments used in the 
calculation of the adopted rate (that is, when the 
rate was struck).

NB Items held in trust does not include employee 
leave entitlements such as long service leave.

$1,290 $1,097

STATUTORY REPORTING
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Indicator Description Definition 2011/2012 2012/2013

Operating 
result

Operating 
result per 
assessment 

Profit//Loss for the period per the Comprehensive 
Income Statement (previously known as the 
Surplus/Deficit) for the period per the Income 
Statement (also previously known as the Bottom 
line per statement of financial performance) 
divided by the number of assessments used in the 
calculation of the adopted rate (that is when the 
rate was struck)

A note should be provided to this indicator 
explaining any major factors including their dollar 
amount, which have contributed to the result. For 
example, capital grants, developers contributions, 
revaluations of non current assets and what the 
result would be excluding these major factors.

NB: Surpluses should be shown as positive and 
losses or deficits as negatives.

$189 $912

* Average rates and charges includes waste charges.  
+ These indicators come from the Community Satisfaction Survey. 

In response to feedback from local councils, Local Government Victoria introduced methodological and 
content changes to the Community Satisfaction Survey in 2012 to provide the sector with more reliable 
and meaningful results to inform decision making and support strategic planning. 

Methodological improvements to the Community Satisfaction Survey in 2012 included increasing the 
sample size from the previous minimum of 350 respondents per municipality up to 400 respondents and 
ensuring that the sample reflects the demographic composition of a municipality. The survey also allows 
for respondents to be “residents over 18 years of age” instead of restricting respondents to “head of 
household”. These changes together with revisions to the performance scale and scoring have improved 
the useability of the survey.

For these reasons, direct comparison with previous Community Satisfaction Survey results is not possible. 
(Circular DPCD 20 July)

STATUTORY REPORTING
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OUR STRUCTURE

Chief Executive Officer

A number of support services report directly to the 
Chief Executive Officer including organisational 
development, communications and media relations. 
The focus of this group is to support Council 
in delivering on good governance principles of 
inclusive, transparent, open and accountable 
decision making to the community, as well as 
providing policy and processes that support the 
organisation. 

Corporate Support

Corporate Support has a focus on the services 
required to support the organisation in service 
delivery to the community, to deliver front-line 
services to community members and to develop 
a strategic focus to support the Council’s key 
direction of Strengthening Our Organisation. 

Economic and Social Development

This directorate recognises the strong relationships 
required to foster the on-going prosperity and 
growth of the Shire, particularly the links between 
community well-being and economic sustainability. 
The consolidation of a range of services and 
programs with planning and policy development 
functions under a single Director strengthens 
Council’s capacity to ensure these services are 
delivered and managed in an integrated and 
coordinated manner.

Technical Services

This directorate provides a range of physical 
services encompassing infrastructure, planning and 
building, and the environment. There is substantial 
focus on developing strategies and plans which 
ensure an integrated and coordinated approach to 
service delivery particularly in relation to capital 
works, strategic planning, waste management and 
environmental issues.

Our organisation
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ORGANISATION CHART

MOUNT ALEXANDER SHIRE COUNCIL
Organisation Chart
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OUR SERVICES

STRENGTHENING OUR 
COMMUNITY

Arts and Culture

Arts and Culture provides a varied ongoing 
program of arts and cultural events and activities, 
plans and develops arts and cultural facilities and 
infrastructure and develops policies and strategies 
to facilitate art practice.

Community Services – Aged and Disability Services

This service provides assessments for older people 
and people with disabilities and plans services 
to enable them to remain living independently. 
It provides home care services, personal care 
services, respite services, delivered meals, home 
safety program services and social support 
programs for isolated older people.

Community Services – Families and Children

This service provides consultations, activities and 
referrals for all children from birth to school age 
and their families, through key ages and stages to 
provide information advice and support relevant to 
the individual family circumstances.

Environmental Health

The Environmental Health Unit conducts 
inspections and maintains registrations for 
businesses covered under the Food and Public 
Health and Wellbeing Acts, including registration 
and approval of temporary food permits; processes 
all septic tank applications in accordance with 
legislative requirements and investigates and 
takes action where necessary of reported nuisance 
complaints.

Infrastructure – Engineering, Depots and Plant

The Infrastructure Unit undertakes design, 
tendering, contract management and supervision 
of various works within Council’s capital 
works program. The service also approves and 
supervises private development activities such as 
subdivisions and infrastructure associated with unit 
developments. Depots are operated at Maldon and 

Castlemaine in order to provide infrastructure to 
support the delivery of a broad range of physical 
works, to provide amenities for staff at the two 
locations and to securely house major and minor 
items of plant and equipment.

Library Operations

Library operations are provided via a single branch 
library located in Castlemaine providing a range 
of educational and recreational service that caters 
for the needs of all residents including story time 
sessions for preschoolers and junior collections; 
youth collections including graphic novels and web 
based loans, renewals and reservations.

Local Laws

This service provides staff at school crossings 
throughout the municipality. It maintains and 
improves the health and safety of people, animals 
and the environment in Council by providing 
services including control of domestic animals 
and livestock, undertaking inspections necessary 
to ensure community safety and to assist in the 
prevention of fires, regulating parking across the 
Shire, issuing local law permits and infringement 
notices and the provision of information and advice 
to the community.

Roads and Paths

This unit undertakes cyclic safety and condition 
inspections of all road, bridge and footpath 
infrastructure, to compile maintenance schedules 
and implement maintenance requirements 
across a broad range of activities including 
maintenance grading, patrol patching, periodic 
gravel resurfacing, periodic bituminous resurfacing, 
road and intersection renewals and upgrades fire 
prevention works, maintenance and renewal of 
road line markings and signage, drain clearance 
and street sweeping.

Parks and Gardens

Parks and Gardens provides tree pruning, planting, 
removal, planning and street tree strategies and 
management of all parks and gardens and related 
infrastructure maintenance.

OUR ORGANISATION
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Recreation

The Recreation Unit is responsible for the 
management, development and use of sporting 
grounds and pavilions. The service provides advice 
to Council on local recreational needs and facility 
use and planning. It conducts special events to 
promote and develop healthy physical activity in 
the Shire.

Street Beautification, Maintenance and Lighting

This unit conducts an annual inspection, 
programming and implementation of Powerline 
Clearance Requirements in Castlemaine and 
Maldon declared areas. It manages street trees 
across the Shire, co-ordinates new lighting 
installations where required, and maintains 
community conveniences and facilities.

PARTNERING FOR BETTER 
SERVICES

Community Development

Community Development supports policy and 
planning development in response to a range 
of social issues impacting the Shire, such as 
health and wellbeing, early years, access to 
community services and facilities, support for local 
communities to identify and act on their needs 
and aspirations, support for new and emerging 
communities and responding to transport 
disadvantage.

Emergency Management

Emergency Management implements measures 
to prevent or reduce the causes or effects of 
emergencies, manage arrangements for the 
recovery phase of an emergency by assisting 
the affected community to recover following an 
emergency. It promotes fire awareness within 
the community in partnership with the CFA and 
co-ordinates annual property inspections and 
compliance.

Primary Care Partnership (PCP)

Council is the auspicing body for the Central 
Victorian Health Alliance (CVHA) Primary Care 
Partnership. The CVHA brings together health and 
community services to plan for and coordinate 
delivery of health and community services. 

Youth Development

The Youth Development Unit works with young 
people and the broader community to increase 
opportunities for young people to engage 
in community planning and decision making 
processes. Activities include the National Youth 
Week Youth Awards, the Meeting Place mentoring 
and culture sharing program for Indigenous and 
non-Indigenous youth, and the FReeZA Program 
which actively engages young people in the 
planning and delivery of alcohol and drug free 
cultural and music events.

ENSURING A PROSPEROUS AND 
DIVERSE LOCAL ECONOMY

Building Services

Building Services provides statutory building 
services to the community including processing 
of building permits, emergency management 
responsibilities, fire safety inspections, audits 
of swimming pool barriers and investigations of 
complaints and illegal works.

Economic Development

Economic Development provides a range of 
services and initiatives in order to develop the Shire 
as a desirable location to live, work and invest.

Statutory Planning 

Statutory Planning manages land use and 
development through the provision of planning 
information and advice to the community. It 
assesses planning permit applications, ensures 
compliance with the provisions of the Planning 
Scheme and administers Subdivision processes.

Tourism Services

Tourism Services are responsible for the provision 
of visitor information services, marketing and 
industry development for the Shire. It operates 
Visitor Information Centres in Castlemaine and 
Maldon and provides accommodation and tour 
booking services.

OUR ORGANISATION
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PLANNING FOR A  
SUSTAINABLE FUTURE

Communications

Communications is responsible for the 
management and provision of advice on external 
communications, ensuring information is provided 
to the community on Council’s services and 
initiatives in the most effective way.

Corporate Support

Corporate Support oversees the provision of 
financial services, purchasing and contracts, 
governance, accommodation and other 
administrative support services for the organisation.

Customer Service

Customer Service assists customers with general 
enquiries and distributes appropriate information 
on behalf of all business units across the 
organisation; registers community requests for 
service and processes payments, whilst offering 
several payment facilities.

Executive Services

Executive Services provides strategic management 
of the organisation in keeping with the 
requirements of good governance, legislative 
requirements and strategic policy of the Council.

Environmental Management

This service develops environmental policy, 
coordinates and implements environmental 
projects and works with other services to improve 
Council’s environmental performance.

Finance

Finance provides services to both internal and 
external customers including the management 
of Council’s finances, payment of salaries and 
wages to Council employees, procurement and 
contracting of services, raising and collection of 
rates and charges and valuation of properties 
throughout the municipality.

Governance

Governance coordinates Council meetings, and 
all Councillor-related activities and costs. It also 
provides organisational policy, systems and 
support in the areas of continuous improvement, 
corporate planning, performance measurement and 
reporting.

Organisational Development

Organisational Development coordinates a series 
of developmental initiatives for transforming 
people and organisations towards positive growth, 
such as leadership development, performance 
development, change management, career 
development; and succession planning, supported 
by robust policies and processes.

Information Services

Information Services provides support 
and maintains reliable and cost-effective 
communications and IT systems, enabling Council 
to deliver services in a productive and efficient way. 
It also provides records services including storage 
and retrieval of records and archiving services.

Property Management

Property Management prepares maintenance 
management programs for Council’s property 
assets in order to optimise their strategic value 
and service potential. These include municipal 
buildings, pavilions and other community  
buildings. This service also facilitates the 
management and strategic planning for Councils 
building, land and property leases and licenses 
including caravan parks.

Risk Management

Risk Management is responsible for managing 
Council’s insurance portfolio and overseeing 
insurance claims for all classes of insurance. It 
develops Council’s risk management and health 
and safety policies and supporting systems for 
Council’s employees, volunteers and contractors.

OUR ORGANISATION



84  Mount Alexander Shire Council Annual Report 2012/2013

Strategic Planning

Strategic Planning provides analysis of current and 
future constraints and opportunities in relation 
to land use and development and development 
of evidence based strategic policy for their 
management for the net benefit of the community. 
It undertakes planning scheme amendments to 
implement strategic land use studies or to improve 
the functioning of the planning scheme.

Waste Management

This service provides kerbside rubbish collections 
of garbage, hard waste and green waste from all 
households and some commercial properties in 
Council. This service provides public tipping to the 
Council and wider community.

OUR ORGANISATION
The values which the organisation has set for our 
employees are:

positive We are positive and 
enthusiastic in how we 
work together.

We are accountable 
for what we do.

accountable

We are respectful to 
each other at all  
times. I treat you 
fairly, politely and  
how I would like to  
be treated

respectful

We will try new ideas  
and aim to improve.

innovative &  
improving

Our actions will  
match our words.

genuine

We are open and 
constructive in how we 
communicate  
and solve problems.

open

We are supportive  
of each other.

supportive

OUR ORGANISATION
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These values are promoted and encouraged at all 
levels and in all parts of Council. Part of selecting 
new staff is their capacity to demonstrate and lead 
others to work by the values. The values are part 
of the annual appraisal of staff and included in our 
contract documents for contractors.

Those staff who were judged by their peers to ‘live’ 
the values were recognised at the staff awards 
ceremony held at the Castlemaine Art Gallery in 
October 2012. 

In 2012/2013 the focus of the organisation 
moved toward the Civic Centre refurbishment 
and transition. The opportunity to realise 
significant initiatives in the realms of sustainable 
work practises, cultural development and staff 
engagement, provided an arena where teams 
across the organisation, working collaboratively, 
could utilise their expertise to inform the change 
processes that a successful move to the Civic 
Centre required.

Stage two of the transition involves the 
refurbishment of the Town Hall. Once this is 
complete it will enable staff who remain in Halford 
Street to join their colleagues by the close of 2013.

OUR STAFFING PROFILE
Council employs a diverse and skilled staff. All 
staff are employed under the Local Government 
Authorities Award 2001 and the Mount Alexander 
Shire Council Enterprise Bargaining Agreement No 
5, with the exception of the Chief Executive Officer 
and Directors who are on individual contracts. 

The staffing profile for each Directorate as at 30 
June 2013 is below.

Directorate
On-

going
Fixed 
term

Casual
Grand 

Total

CEO 6 1 7

Corporate 
Support 31 1 1 33

Technical 
Services 68 6 2 76

Economic 
and Social 
Development

82 12 3 97

Total 187 20 6 213

213 employees equates to 155 full-time staff. Of 
these 188 are core employees and twenty are 
funded as short term project positions from 
special purpose funds or have been created on a 
fixed term basis as a Council initiative. The actual 
number of staff at 30 June in any year may vary as 
a result of positions in the process of being filled.

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITY
The gender profile of our staff group reflects the 
encouragement given to women in applying for 
positions in Council and our human resources 
practices which support a positive work-life balance 
and assist our staff with family commitments.

Management level Female Male Total

CEO 1 1

Director 2 1 3

Manager/
Supervisor 11 8 19

Other 115 75 190

Grand Total 128 85 213 

OUR ORGANISATION
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

In Brief

Council achieved a $9.931 million surplus for 
the period which was $3.676 million more than 
budget.

Council ended the 2012/2013 financial year 
with a cash balance of $12.411 million which was 
higher than budget by $4.429 million.  Of the 
cash balance $850,000 was unrestricted.

An increase in the value of Property, 
Infrastructure, Plant and Equipment to $220.215 
million from $210.232 million as a result of 
revaluations and capital expenditure of $11.756 
million up from $9.168 million in 2011/2012. 

Infrastructure assets increased in value by S20.52 
million with contributed assets of $686,000, 
the recognition of stone drains ($9.657 million), 
additions of $6.279 million and revaluations of 
$16.279 million offset by depreciation of $3.788 
million.

Revenue

Council’s total revenue for the 2012/2013 year 
was $44.891 million compared to $37.691 million 
in 2011/2012 as per the Comprehensive Income 
Statement. The increase in income was due to 
increased grant income and contribution income 
related to road and land under roads transferred 
to Council. 

•  Rates and charges on property account for  
37% of revenue

• Fees, fines and charges 4%
•  Grants from State and Federal  

Governments 50%
•  Asset sales, donations, contributions, 

reimbursements and interest earned 9%

Expenditure 

Council’s total expenses for the 2012/2013 year 
were $34.961 million (compared to $35.654 
million in 2011/2012). 

A breakdown of Council’s expenses hightlights 
that 89% relates to the following three 
expenditure categories. 

•  Employee Benefits 36%
•  Materials and services 39%
•  Depreciation 14%

Capital Works

During the financial year, Council invested $11.756 
million on capital works projects ($9.169 million 
in 2011/2012).  

Land and building accounted for 39% of the 
capital spend.

  Rates and charges 37%

  Fees, fines and charges 4%

  Recurrent grants 16%

  Non-recurrent grants 34%

  Contributions 7%

  Other income 2%

  Employee benefits 36%

  Material and services 39%

  Depreciation 14%

  Finance costs 1%

  Asset write-offs 5%

  Other expenses 5%

  Land and buildings 39%

  Roads 21%

  Other infrastructure 17%

  Plant, vehicles, IT 13%
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (CONT.)

Capital Spend over time

Council has increased its investment over the 
last five years in buildings and infrastructure 
such as roads, bridges and footpaths to address 
the issue of ageing infrastructure. The graph 
below highlights the extent of this increased 
investment. In 2012 and 2013 significant 
additional roadworks were also undertaken 
as a result of flood events in January 2011 and 
February 2012.
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Debt Service Ratio

The debt service and redemption ratio assesses 
the degree to which rate revenues are committed 
to the repayment and servicing of loans. In 
2012/2013 the ratio was 4.59% well below the 
prudential guideline of 10%.
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Adjusted Working Capital Ratio

The ratio expresses the level of current assets the 
Council has available to meet its current liabilities. 
Current liabilities have been reduced to reflect the 
long service leave that is shown as current but is 
not likely to fall due within the next 12 months. The 
ratio at 3.1 is well above the target in the Long Term 
Financial Plan of 2.0.
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Operating result before revaluations

Council’s 2012/2013 operating result, before asset 
revaluations, includes one off contributions income 
relating to assumption of control for the Harcourt 
Recreation Reserve ($2.354 million) and Harmony 
Way ($679,000).

-2000

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013



88  Mount Alexander Shire Council Annual Report 2012/2013

MOUNT ALEXANDER SHIRE COUNCIL

Financial Report
For the year ended 30 June 2013



  Mount Alexander Shire Council Annual Report 2012/2013   89

MOUNT ALEXANDER SHIRE COUNCIL

Financial Report
For the year ended 30 June 2013

CONTENTS 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Comprehensive Income Statement 90

Balance Sheet 91

Statement of Changes in Equity 92

Statement of Cash Flows 93

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction 94

Note 1 Significant accounting policies 94

Note 2 Rates and charges 102

Note 3 Statutory fees and fines 102

Note 4 User fees 102

Note 5 Grants 103

Note 6 Contributions 104

Note 7 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of 
property, infrastructure, plant  
and equipment

104

Note 8 Other income 104

Note 9 Employee benefits 104

Note 10 Materials and services 104

Note 11 Bad and doubtful debts 104

Note 12 Depreciation and amortisation 105

Note 13 Finance costs 105

Note 14 Other expenses 105

Note 15 Investments in associates 106

Note 16 Cash and cash equivalents 106

Note 17 Trade and other receivables 107

Note 18 Inventories 107

Note 19 Assets held for sale 107

Note 20 Other assets 107

Note 21 Intangible Assets 107

Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment

108

Note 23 Trade and other payables 113

Note 24 Trust funds and deposits 113

Note 25 Provisions 114

Note 26 Interest bearing loans and 
borrowings

116

Note 27 Reserves 117

Note 28 Correction of error 121

Note 29 Reconciliation of cash flows from 
operating activities to surplus 
(deficit)

122

Note 30 Reconciliation of cash and cash 
equivalents

123

Note 31 Financing arrangements 123

Note 32 Restricted assets 123

Note 33 Superannuation 123

Note 34 Commitments 124

Note 35 Operating leases 126

Note 36 Contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets

126

Note 37 Financial instruments 127

Note 38 Auditors’ remuneration 133

Note 39 Events occurring after balance date 133

Note 40 Related party transactions 133

Note 41 Revenue, expenses and assets by 
functions/activities

135

Note 42 Financial ratios (Performance 
indicators)

136

Note 43 Capital expenditure 137

Note 44 Special committees and other 
activities

138

Certification of the Financial Report 139

STANDARD STATEMENTS 140

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013



90  Mount Alexander Shire Council Annual Report 2012/2013

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENT 
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 2013   
$’000

2012    
$’000

Income

Rates and charges 2  16,849  15,691 

Statutory fees and fines 3  472  464 

User fees 4  1,529  1,146 

Contributions - cash 6 (a)  750  59 

Contributions – non-monetary assets 6 (b)  2,354  – 

Grants – Operating (recurrent) 5  6,550  7,511 

Grants – Operating (non-recurrent) 5  9,465  6,877 

Grants – Capital (recurrent) 5  492  735 

Grants – Capital (non-recurrent) 5  5,688  4,374 

Other income 8  742  834 

Total income  44,891  37,691 

Expenses

Employee costs 9  (12,007)  (13,081)

Materials and services 10  (15,811)  (13,834)

Bad and doubtful debts 11  (36)  (29)

Depreciation and amortisation 12  (5,052)  (4,917)

Finance costs 13  (262)  (228)

Other expenses 14  (1,374)  (1,732)

Share of net profits/(losses) of associates accounted for by the equity method 15  (12)  (81)

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 7  (406)  (1,752)

Total expenses  
(34,960)

 
(35,654)

Surplus/(deficit)  9,931  2,037 

Items that will not be reclassified to surplus or deficits:

Other comprehensive income

Net asset revaluation increment(decrement)  691  28,217 

Reversal of impairment of flood impacted costs  -  3,170 

Comprehensive result  10,622  33,424 

The above comprehensive income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

BALANCE SHEET 
as at 30 June 2013

NOTE 2013   $’000 2012    $’000

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 16  12,411  11,876 

Trade and other receivables 17  3,423  2,995 

Inventories 18  123  62 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 19  492  1,034 

Other assets 20  1,580  3,290 

Total current assets  18,029  19,257 

Non-current assets

Investments in regional library corporation 15  763  775 

Intangible assets 21  215  214 

Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 22  220,215  210,232 

Total non-current assets  221,193  211,221 

Total assets  239,222  230,478 

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 23  3,586  7,552 

Trust funds and deposits 24  491  404 

Provisions 25  1,759  1,646 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 26  608  428 

Total current liabilities  6,444  10,030 

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 25  2,989  1,974 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 26  3,005  2,313 

Total non-current liabilities  5,994  4,287 

Total liabilities  12,438  14,317 

Net Assets  226,784  216,162 

Equity

Accumulated surplus  100,532  92,864 

Reserves 27  126,252  123,298 

Total Equity  226,784  216,162 

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
for the year ended 30 June 2013

2013 Note
Total  

2013  $’000

Accumulated 
Surplus 

2013  $’000

Revaluation 
Reserve 

2013  $’000

Other 
Reserves 

2013  $’000

Balance at beginning of the financial year  216,162  92,864  114,166  9,132 

Comprehensive result  10,622  9,931  691  - 

Transfers to other reserves 27(b)  -  (8,273)  -  8,273 

Transfers from other reserves 27(b)  -  6,010  -  (6,010)

Balance at end of the financial year  226,784  100,532  114,857  11,395 

2012 Note
Total  

2012   $’000

Accumulated 
Surplus 

2012  $’000

Revaluation 
Reserve 

2012  $’000

Other 
Reserves 

2012  $’000

Balance at beginning of the financial year  167,152  76,418  83,444  7,290 

Correction of error  15,587  15,587  -  - 

Restated balance at beginning of financial year  182,739  92,005  83,444  7,290 

Comprehensive result  30,317  2,037  28,280  - 

Reversal of impairment losses on revalued assets 28  3,107  -  3,107  - 

Remove disposed assets from revaluation reserve 27a  -  665  (665)  - 

Transfers to other reserves 27(b)  -  (6,987)  -  6,987 

Transfers from other reserves 27(b)  -  5,144  -  (5,144)

Balance at end of the financial year  216,162  92,864  114,166  9,132 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 2013 INFLOWS/
(OUTFLOWS) 

$’000

2012 INFLOWS/
(OUTFLOWS) 

$’000

Cash flows from operating activities 

Rates  16,709  15,483 

Statutory fees and fines  472  464 

User fees  1,529  1,223 

Grants  24,119  16,619 

Contributions  750  59 

Interest  567  490 

Other receipts  207  298 

Net GST refund/payment  2,334  1,980 

Employee costs  (11,995)  (11,314)

Materials and services  (22,710)  (13,184)

Other payments  (1,381)  (1,568)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 29  10,601  10,550 

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  (11,760)  (9,173)

Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 7  940  403 

Trust funds and deposits  87  (56)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (10,733)  (8,826)

Cash flows from financing activities     

Finance costs  (205)  (223)

Proceeds from interest bearing loans and borrowings  1,310  300 

Repayment of interest bearing loans and borrowings  (438)  (375)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  667  (298)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  535  1,426 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  11,876  10,450 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 29  12,411  11,876 

Financing arrangements 31

Restrictions on cash assets 32

The above statement of cash flows should be read with the accompanying notes. 
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INTRODUCTION
(a)  Mount Alexander Shire Council was established 

by an Order of the Governor in Council on 17th 
January 1995 and is a body corporate. 

  The Council’s main office is located at 27 
Lyttleton Street Castlemaine. 

(b) The purpose of the Council is to:

 –  provide for the peace, order and good 
government of its municipal district; 

 –  to promote the social, economic and 
environmental viability and sustainability of 
the municipal district; 

 –  to ensure that resources are used efficiently 
and effectively and services are provided in 
accordance with the Best Value Principles to 
best meet the needs of the local community; 

 –  to improve the overall quality of life of people 
in the local community;

 –  to promote appropriate business and 
employment opportunities;

 –  to ensure that services and facilities provided 
by the Council are accessible and equitable;

 –  to ensure the equitable imposition of rates 
and charges; and

 –  to ensure transparency and accountability in 
Council decision making.

  External Auditor – Auditor-General of Victoria 
Internal Auditor – Crowe Horwath 
Solicitors – Beck Legal, Maddocks 
Bankers – National Australia Bank 
Website address – www.mountalexander. 
vic.gov.au

  This financial report is a general purpose 
financial report that consists of an 
Comprehensive Income Statement, Balance 
Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, 
Statement of Cash Flows , and notes 
accompanying these financial statements. 
The general purpose financial report complies 
with Australian Accounting Standards, 
other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board, 
the Local Government Act 1989, and the 
Local Government (Finance and Reporting) 
Regulations 2004.

NOTE 1   Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting 

This financial report has been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, except where specifically 
stated in notes 1(h), 1(l), 1(t).

Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies 
are consistent with those applied in the prior year. 
Where appropriate, comparative figures have been 
amended to accord with current presentation, and 
disclosure has been made of any material changes 
to comparatives. 

All entities controlled by Council, that have material 
assets or liabilities, such as Special Committees of 
Management, have been included in this financial 
report. All transactions between these entities and 
the Council have been eliminated in full. Details of 
entities not included in this financial report based 
on their materiality are detailed in note 44.

(b)  Change in accounting policies

There have been no material changes to accounting 
policy during the financial year.

(c)  Prior period error – adjustment directly  
to equity

An adjustment has been made to the opening 
balance of drainage assets to recognise an error in 
the reporting of old stone drains ommitted from 
the 2011-2012 revaluation and corrections to local 
road infrastructure to recognise corrections to  
road lengths. The adjustment is immaterial being 
5.78% of total infrastructure asset for drainage 
($9.656 million) and 3.55% of total infrastructure 
asset for local roads ($5.932 million), and therefore 
no third balance sheet disclosures are required. 
Refer Note 28. 

(c) Revenue recognition

Rates, grants and contributions 

Rates, grants and contributions (including 
developer contributions) are recognised as 
revenues when the Council obtains control over the 
assets comprising these receipts.
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NOTE 1   Significant accounting policies (cont.)

(c) Revenue recognition (cont.)

Control over assets acquired from rates is obtained 
at the commencement of the rating year as it is an 
enforceable debt linked to the rateable property or, 
where earlier, upon receipt of the rates. 

A provision for doubtful debts on rates has not 
been established as unpaid rates represents a 
charge against the rateable property that will be 
recovered when the property is next sold.

Control over granted assets is normally obtained 
upon their receipt (or acquittal) or upon earlier 
notification that a grant has been secured, and are 
valued at their fair value at the date of transfer.

Income is recognised when the Council obtains 
control of the contribution or the right to receive 
the contribution, it is probable that the economic 
benefits comprising the contribution will flow to 
the Council and the amount of the contribution can 
be measured reliably.

Where grants or contributions recognised as 
revenues during the financial year were obtained 
on condition that they be expended in a particular 
manner or used over a particular period and those 
conditions were undischarged at balance date, the 
unused grant or contribution is disclosed in note 5. 
The note also discloses the amount of unused grant 
or contribution from prior years that was expended 
on Council’s operations during the current year. 

A liability is recognised in respect of revenue that is 
reciprocal in nature to the extent that the requisite 
service has not been provided at balance date. 

User fees and fines

User fees and fines (including parking fees and 
fines) are recognised as revenue when the service 
has been provided, the payment is received, or 
when the penalty has been applied, whichever  
first occurs.

A provision for doubtful debts is recognised when 
collection in full is no longer probable. 

Sale of property, plant and equipment, 
infrastructure

The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined 
when control of the asset has irrevocably passed to 
the buyer.

Rental

Rents are recognised as revenue when the payment 
is due or the payment is received, whichever first 
occurs. Rental; payments received in advance are 
recognised as a prepayment until they are due. 

Interest 

Interest is recognised progressively as it is earned.

Dividends

Dividend revenue is recognised when the Council’s 
right to receive payment is established. 

(d)  Trade receivables and inventories

Trade receivables

Receivables are carried at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method. A provision for 
doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective 
evidence that an impairment has occurred.

Inventories

Inventories held for distribution are measured 
at cost adjusted when applicable for any loss of 
service potential.

Other inventories are measured at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. 

(e)  Depreciation and amortisation of property, 
plant and equipment, infrastructure, 
intangibles

Buildings, land improvements, plant and equipment, 
infrastructure, heritage assets, and other assets 
having limited useful lives are systematically 
depreciated over their useful lives to the Council in 
a manner which reflects consumption of the service 
potential embodied in those assets. Estimates 
of remaining useful lives and residual values are 
made on a regular basis with major asset classes 
reassessed annually. Depreciation rates and 
methods are reviewed annually.

Where assets have separate identifiable components 
that are subject to regular replacement, these 
components are assigned distinct useful lives and 
residual values and a separate depreciation rate is 
determined for each component.

Straight line depreciation is charged based on the 
residual useful life as determined each year.
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NOTE 1   Significant accounting policies (cont.)

(e)  Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant 
and equipment, infrastructure, intangibles (cont.)

Major depreciation periods used are listed below 
and are consistent with the prior year unless 
otherwise stated:

PROPERTY PERIOD 2013

Land

   land improvements 10 to 100 years

Buildings

   buildings 20 to 100 years

   building improvements 20 to 100 years

Plant and Equipment

    plant, machinery and 
equipment

3 to 10 years

    fixtures, fittings and furniture 3 to 5 years

    computers and 
telecommunications

2 to 10 years

Infrastructure

Bridges

   bridges deck 80 years

   bridges deck and substructure 80 to 150 years

Culverts – major 60 to 80 years

Drainage pits 80 years

Drainage pipes 80 to 200 years

Footpaths 30 to 80 years

Kerb and channels 25 to 100 years

Landfill 2 to 3 years

Local Roads

   road pavements and seals 65 years

   road sealed surfaces 12 to 25 years

   roads unsealed pavements 16 to 20 years

    road formation and earthworks 200 years

    parks, open space and 
streetscapes

10 to 20 years

Intangible assets

   intangible assets 5 to 10 years

(f) Repairs and maintenance 

Routine maintenance, repair costs, and minor 
renewal costs are expensed as incurred. Where the 
repair relates to the replacement of a component 
of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation 
threshold the cost is capitalised and depreciated. 
The carrying value of the replaced asset is 
expensed. 

(g) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense 
in the period in which they are incurred, except 
where they are capitalised as part of a qualifying 
asset constructed by Council. Except where 
specific borrowings are obtained for the purpose 
of specific asset acquisition, the weighted 
average interest rate applicable to borrowings at 
balance date, excluding borrowings associated 
with superannuation, is used to determine the 
borrowing costs to be capitalised.

Borrowing costs include interest on bank 
overdrafts, interest on borrowings, and finance 
lease charges.

(h) Recognition and measurement of assets

Acquisition

The purchase method of accounting is used for all 
acquisitions of assets, being the fair value of assets 
provided as consideration at the date of acquisition 
plus any incidental costs attributable to the 
acquisition. Fair value is the amount for which the 
asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 

Where assets are constructed by Council, cost 
includes all materials used in construction, 
direct labour, borrowing costs incurred during 
construction, and an appropriate share of directly 
attributable variable and fixed overheads.
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NOTE 1   Significant accounting policies (cont.)

(h) Recognition and measurement of assets (cont.)

The following classes of assets have been 
recognised in notes 21 and 22. In accordance with 
Council’s policy, the threshold limits detailed below 
have applied when recognising assets within an 
applicable asset class and unless otherwise stated 
are consistent with the prior year:

PROPERTY THRESHOLD 
LIMIT  

$’000

Land

   land and land improvements  10 

   land under roads  10 

Buildings and building improvements

Plant and Equipment

   plant, machinery and equipment  5 

   fixtures, fittings and furniture  5 

   computers and telecommunications  5 

Infrastructure

Bridges  10 

Drainage  5 

Footpaths and cycle ways  5 

Kerb and channel  5 

Landfill  10 

Local Roads  10 

Intangible assets

   intangible assets  25
 

Revaluation

Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, 
non-current physical assets, other than plant and 
equipment and intangibles, are measured at their 
fair value, being the amount for which the assets 
could be exchanged between knowledgeable 
willing parties in an arms length transaction. At 
balance date, the Council reviewed the carrying 
value of the individual classes of assets measured 
at fair value to ensure that each asset materially 
approximated its fair value. Where the carrying 

value materially differed from the fair value at 
balance date the class of asset was revalued. 

In addition, Council undertakes a formal revaluation 
of land, buildings, and infrastructure assets on 
a regular basis ranging from 1 to 5 years. The 
valuation is performed either by experienced 
council officers or independent experts. 

Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation 
increments are credited directly to the asset 
revaluation reserve except to the extent that 
an increment reverses a prior year decrement 
for that class of asset that had been recognised 
as an expense in which case the increment is 
recognised as revenue up to the amount of the 
expense. Revaluation decrements are recognised 
as an expense except where prior increments 
are included in the asset revaluation reserve for 
that class of asset in which case the decrement is 
taken to the reserve to the extent of the remaining 
increments. Within the same class of assets, 
revaluation increments and decrements within the 
year are offset.

Land under roads

Council recognises land under roads it controls and 
acquired since 2001 at fair value.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, 
cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, 
deposits at call, and other highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less, net 
of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(j) Financial assets

Council does not hold any managed funds. 

(k) Investments

Investments, other than investments in associates, 
are measured at cost.
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NOTE 1   Significant accounting policies (cont.)

(l) Accounting for investments in associates

Council’s investment in associates is accounted for 
by the equity method as the Council has the ability 
to influence rather than control the operations of 
the entities. The investment is initially recorded at 
the cost of acquisition and adjusted thereafter for 
post-acquisition changes in the Council’s share of 
the net assets of the entities. The Council’s share of 
the financial result of the entities is recognised in 
the comprehensive income statement.

(m) Tender deposits

Amounts received as tender deposits and retention 
amounts controlled by Council are recognised as 
Trust funds until they are returned or forfeited 
(refer to note 24).

(n) Employee costs

Wages and salaries

Liabilities for wages and salaries and rostered days 
off are recognised and measured as the amount 
unpaid at balance date and include appropriate 
oncosts such as workers compensation and  
payroll costs.

Annual leave

Annual leave entitlements are accrued on a pro rata 
basis in respect of services provided by employees 
up to balance date. 

Annual leave expected to be paid within 12 months 
is measured at nominal value based on the amount, 
including appropriate oncosts, expected to be paid 
when settled.

Annual leave expected to be paid later than one 
year has been measured at the present value of 
the estimated future cash outflows to be made for 
these accrued entitlements. Commonwealth bond 
rates are used for discounting future cash flows

Long service leave

Long service leave entitlements payable are 
assessed at balance date having regard to 
expected employee remuneration rates on 
settlement, employment related oncosts and 
other factors including accumulated years of 
employment, on settlement, and experience of 
employee departure per year of service

Long service leave expected to be paid within 12 
months is measured at nominal value based on the 
amount expected to be paid when settled.

Long service leave expected to be paid later than 
one year has been measured at the present value of 
the estimated future cash outflows to be made for 
these accrued entitlements. Commonwealth bond 
rates are used for discounting future cash flows.

Classification of employee costs

An employee costs liability is classified as a 
current liability if the Council does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the 
period. This would include all annual leave and 
unconditional long service leave entitlements.

Superannuation

The superannuation expense for the reporting year 
is the amount of the statutory contribution the 
Council makes to the superannuation plan which 
provides benefits to its employees. In addition 
Council may, periodically be required to contribute 
to the defined benefits schemes for current and 
former employees. Details of these arrangements 
are recorded in note 33.

(o) Leases

Operating leases

Lease payments for operating leases are required 
by the accounting standard to be recognised on 
a straight line basis, rather than expensed in the 
years in which they are incurred.
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NOTE 1   Significant accounting policies (cont.)

(p) Allocation between current and non-current

In the determination of whether an asset or 
liability is current or non-current, consideration 
is given to the time when each asset or liability 
is expected to be settled. The asset or liability is 
classified as current if it is expected to be settled 
within the next twelve months, being the Council’s 
operational cycle, or if the Council does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of a liability 
for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

(q) Agreements equally proportionately 
unperformed

The Council does not recognise assets and 
liabilities arising from agreements that are equally 
proportionately unperformed in the balance sheet. 
Such agreements are recognised on an ‘as incurred’ 
basis.

(r) Web site costs

Costs in relation to websites are charged as an 
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

(s) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net 
of the amount of GST, except where the amount 
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the 
Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the 
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. 
Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are 
shown inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are presented in the cash flow 
statement on a gross basis, except for the GST 
component of investing and financing activities, 
which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

(t) Impairment of assets

At each reporting date, the Council reviews the 
carrying value of its assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that these assets have 
been impaired. If such an indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher 
of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use, is compared to the assets carrying 
value. Any excess of the assets carrying value 
over its recoverable amount is expensed to the 
comprehensive income statement, unless the asset 

is carried at the revalued amount in which case, the 
impairment loss is recognised directly against the 
revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of 
asset to the extent that the impairment loss does 
not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus 
for that same class of asset.

(u) Rounding

Unless otherwise stated, amounts in the financial 
report have been rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars. Figures in the financial statement may not 
equate due to rounding.

(v) Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset held for sale (including 
disposal groups) is measured at the lower of its 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, 
and are not subject to depreciation. Non-current 
assets, disposal groups and related liabilities assets 
are treated as current and classified as held for sale 
if their carrying amount will be recovered through 
a sale transaction rather than through continuing 
use. This condition is regarded as met only when 
the sale is highly probable and the asset’s sale (or 
disposal group sale) is expected to be completed 
within 12 months from the date of classification.

(w) Financial guarantees

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as 
a liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The 
liability is initially measured at fair value, and if 
there is material increase in the likelihood that 
the guarantee may have to be exercised, at the 
higher of the amount determined in accordance 
with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets and the amount initially 
recognised less cumulative amortisation, where 
appropriate. In the determination of fair value, 
consideration is given to factors including the 
probability of default by the guaranteed party and 
the likely loss to Council in the event of default.
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NOTE 1   Significant accounting policies (cont.)

(x) Pending Accounting Standards

The following Australian Accounting Standards have been issued or amended and are applicable to the 
Council but are not yet effective. 

They have not been adopted in preparation of the financial statements at reporting date.

SUMMARY EFFECTIVE DATE IMPACT /ACTION

AASB 9 Financial Instruments: AASB 9 standard is 
one of a series of amendments that are expected to 
eventually completely replace AASB 139. During 2010-
11, the standard was expanded to include new rules on 
measurement of financial liabilities and hedge accounting. 
Currently the existing provisions of AASB 139 will 
continue to apply in these areas. AASB 9 simplifies the 
classifications of financial assets into those to be carried 
at amortised cost and those to be carried at fair value – 
the ‘available for sale’ and ‘held-to-maturity’ categories 
no longer exists. AASB 9 also simplifies requirements for 
embedded derivatives and removes the tainting rules 
associated with held-to-maturity assets. 

Periods 
beginning 
on or after 1 
January 2015. 
The standard 
was amended 
in 2012 to 
delay the 
effective date 
by two years 
(previously 1 
January 2013).

The impact is not likely to 
be extensive in the local 
government sector,although it 
will vary considerably between 
entities. While the rules are less 
complex than those of AASB 
139, the option to show equity 
instruments at cost has been 
largely removed, which is likely 
to lead to greater volatility 
within the income statement. 
However it may also lead to 
an improved financial position 
for some entities. This will also 
create a requirement to measure 
some instruments annually that 
has not previously existed.

AASB 12 Disclosure of Involvement with Other Entities: 
AASB 12 requires the disclosure of information to enable 
users to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated 
with, its interests in other entities and the effect of those 
interests on its financial position, financial performance, 
and cash flows. AASB 12 applies to all entities that 
have subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates, 
or unconsolidated structured entities, and requires 
disclosures grouped into four categories:

•  Significant judgments and assumptions, including how 
control, joint control, or significant influence has been 
determined.

•  Interests in subsidiaries, including details of the 
composition of the group, the interests held by any 
non-controlling interest, any changes in control, and the 
nature of any associated risks.

•  Interests in joint arrangements and associates, including 
their nature and extent, the effects on the group, and 
any associated risks.

•  Interests in unconsolidated structured entities, including 
their nature and extent, any changes during the year, 
and any associated risks.

Periods 
beginning 
on or after 1 
January 2013

The disclosures required 
will be both qualitative and 
quantitative. In particular, 
management should document 
and be able to justify its key 
judgments concerning control 
and significant influence. 
In the local government 
context this is likely to require 
increased disclosures around 
the operations of Library 
Corporations as well as other 
activities that Council have an 
interest in. 
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SUMMARY EFFECTIVE DATE IMPACT /ACTION

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement: AASB 13 replaces the 
existing IFRS guidance on fair value measurement and 
disclosure. It applies whenever another standard permits 
or requires the use of fair value measurements. It sets out 
a fair value hierarchy for such measurements:

•  Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets and liabilities, which can be accessed at the 
measurement date.

•  Level 2 – inputs other than quoted market prices 
included within Level 1, which are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

•  Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
There are also extensive disclosure requirements relating 
to each of the three levels within the hierarchy.

Periods 
beginning 
on or after 1 
January 2013

The standard determines ‘how 
to’ rather than ‘when’ in respect 
of fair value measurements, 
and summarises the existing 
IFRS guidance in one place. 
This standards may assist 
those councils that have equity 
investments that are no longer 
able to be held at cost.

AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: 
AASB 128 has been amended to ensure consistency with 
the new requirements of AASB 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements and AASB 11 Joint Arrangements. The 
standard sets out how the equity method of accounting 
is to be applied, defines “significant influence,” and how 
impairment is to be tested for investments in associates 
or joint ventures.

Periods 
beginning 
on or after 1 
January 2013

Some joint ventures which were 
previously accounted for under 
the proportionate consolidation 
method must now be accounted 
for as associates. These changes 
are not expected to impact 
significantly on Councils

(y) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities and commitments

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet, but are disclosed 
by way of a note and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are 
presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.

Commitments are not recognised in the Balance Sheet. Commitments are disclosed at their nominal  
value by way of note and presented inclusive of the GST payable.

NOTE 1   Significant accounting policies (cont.)

(x) Pending Accounting Standards (cont.)
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NOTE 2   Rates and charges
Council uses capital improved value (CIV) as the 
basis of valuation of all properties within the 
municipal district. The CIV is the value of land and 
all its improvements. 

The valuation base used to calculate rates for 
2012/2013 was $3,498,867,500 (2011/2012 was 
$3,015,580,650 ). The 2012/2013 residential 
and rural rate in the CIV dollar was 0.003426 
(2011/2012, 0.003778).

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Residential 8,885 8,194

Rural 945 1,004

Commercial 1,039 970

Land management  697 617

Vacant land 837 820

Municipal charge 1,703  1,580

Garbage charge 2,743 2,506

Total rates and charges 16,849  15,691

The date of the latest general revaluation of land 
for rating purposes within the municipal district 
was January 2012, and the valuation was first 
applied in the rating year commencing 1 July 2012.

The date of the previous general revaluation of land 
for rating purposes within the municipal district 
was January 2010, and the valuation first applied to 
the rating period commencing 1 July 2010.

NOTE 3   Statutory fees and fines
2013  

$’000
2012  

$’000

Animal control 105 98

Building information certificates 13 14

Health registrations 98 95

Land information certificates 13 13

Local laws 38 32

Planning permit and fees 144 148

Other fees – 19

Parking fines 37 41

Other fines 24 4

Total statutory fees and fines 472 464

NOTE 4   User fees and charges
(a)

2013  
$’000

2012 
$’000

Home and community care 538 441

Tourism services 111 89

Building services fees 64 112

Private works 11 24

Facility hire 44 50

Landfill charges 449 194

Employee vehicle contribution 143 170

Other user charges 86 56

Debt collection 83 10 

Total user fees 1,529 1,146

(b) Ageing analysis of contractual receivables

Please refer to table in note 37 (e) entitled Ageing 
of trade and other receivables for the ageing 
analysis of contractual receivables.
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NOTE 5   Grants

2013  
$’000

2012 
$’000

Grants were received in respect of the following:

Summary of grants

Federally funded grants 702 863

State funded grants 21,493 18,633

Total 22,195 19,496

Operating grants – recurrent

Strengthening our community 3,354 3,590

Partnering 483 702

Economy – 14

Sustainable future 2,713 3,205

Total operating recurrent grants 6,550 7,511

Operating grants -non-recurrent

Strengthening our community 317 447

Partnering 9,022 6,329

Economy 113 46

Sustainable future 13 55

Total operating non-recurrent 
grants

9,465 6,87 7

Capital grants

Grants – capital (recurrent) 492 735

Grants – capital (non-recurrent) 5,688 4,374

Total capital grants 6,180 5,109

2013  
$’000

2012 
$’000

Conditions on grants

Grants recognised as revenue during the year that 
were obtained on condition that they be expended 
in a specified manner that had not occurred at 
balance date were:

Community activity and culture 33 98

Community development 329 261

Community services 201 284

Emergency management 100 350

Environmental management 29 25

Infrastructure assets 1,015 180

Primary care partnerships 39 144

Recreation facilities and other 
infrastructure

534 14

Urban maintenance 8 –

Total 2,288 1,486

Grants which were recognised as revenue in prior 
years and were expended during the current year in 
the manner specified by the grantor were:

Community activity and culture 120 –

Community development 165 130

Community services 284 156

Emergency management 211 72

Environmental management 9 9

Infrastructure assets 180 75

Parks and gardens – 662

Primary care partnerships 144 2

Property management – 101

Recreation facilities and 
programs

90 102

Urban maintenance – 87

1,203 1,396

Net increase (decrease) in 
restricted assets resulting from 
grant revenues for the year:

1,085 90
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NOTE 6   Contributions

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

(a) Cash

Roads 679 –

Recreational, leisure and 
community facilities

12 –

Open space and streetscapes 59 56

Other – 3

Total 750 59

(b) Non-monetary assets

Land and building assets 1,184 –

Land under roads 484 –

Local road assets 686 –

Total 2,354 –

Total contributions 3,104 59

NOTE 7   Net gain/(loss) on disposal 
of property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Proceeds of sale 940 403

Written down value of assets 
disposed

(1,346) (2,155)

Total (406) (1,752)

NOTE 8   Other income

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Interest 356 458

Interest on rates 179 164

Insurance settlements 34 78

Rent 99 79

Reimbursement 72 4

Other 2 51

Total other income 742 834

NOTE 9   Employee costs

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Salaries and wages 9,668 9,244

Annual leave and long service 
leave

1,048 1,013

Superannuation 860 811

Superannuation – additional 
contribution*

– 1,565

Workcover insurance 167 199

Fringe benefits tax 50 84

Other employee related 
expenses

214 165

Total employee costs 12,007 13,081

*  During the period 2011/2012 Council recognised 
an additional contribution to Vision Super to meet 
our obligations in relation to members of the 
defined benefit plan. Refer to note 33. 

NOTE 10   Materials and services

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Administration 857 707

Contracts and service 
providers

11,333 9,386

Insurance 425 332

Maintenance and materials 2,502 2,822

Public relations and 
advertising

190 179

Utilities 504 408

Total materials and services 15,811 13,834

NOTE 11   Bad and doubtful debts

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Sundry debtors 36 29

Total bad and doubtful debts 36 29
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NOTE 12   Depreciation and amortisation

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Property

Land

   Land improvements 68 65

Buildings

   Buildings 650 514

Plant and Equipment

IT, furniture and equipment 170 159

Motor vehicles 184 166

Plant and machinery 170 162

Infrastructure

Bridges 433 433

Drainage 277 18 

Footpaths and cycle ways 137 113

Kerb and channel 178 178

Landfill 25 380

Local roads 2,738 2,556

Intangibles

Intangibles – software 22 5

Total depreciation and 
amortisation

5,052 4,917

NOTE 13   Finance costs

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Interest – borrowings 209 192

Net (gain)/loss on landfill 
provision

53 36

Total 262 228

NOTE 14   Other expenses

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Auditors’ remuneration – VAGO 29 28

Auditors’ remuneration – other 75 52 

Councillors’ allowances 170 167

Donations and contributions 401 588 

Government levies paid 133 128

Library contribution 38 376

Operating lease rentals 68 113

Other 109 280

Total other expenses 1,374 1,732
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NOTE 15   Investment in associates

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Investments in associates accounted for by the equity method are:

–  North Central Goldfields Regional Library Corporation 763 775

Total 763 775

North Central Goldfields Regional Library Corporation

Background 
Council is a member of the North Central Goldfields Regional Library Corporation which provides library services 
to the municipalities of Greater Bendigo, Macedon Ranges, Loddon and Mount Alexander Shires. Council’s share 
of the net assets of the Corporation at 30 June 2012 was 11.48% (2011, 11.56%).

Council’s share of accumulated surplus (deficit)

Council’s share of accumulated surplus (deficit) at start of year 347 427

Reported surplus (deficit) for year (12) (81)

Council’s share of accumulated surplus (deficit) at end of year 335 347

Movement in carrying value of specific investment

Carrying value of investment at start of year 775 856

Share of surplus (deficit) for year (12) (81)

Carrying value of investment at end of year 763 775

NOTE 16   Cash and cash equivalents

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Cash on hand 3 3

Cash at bank 561 1,571

Negotiable certificate of deposit 1,059 1,019 

Term deposits 10,788 9,283

Total cash and cash equivalents 12,411 11,876 

Councils cash and cash equivalents are subject to a number of internal and external restrictions that limit 
amounts available for discretionary or future use. These include:

– Statutory reserve funds allocated for specific purposes (Note 27) 900 912 

– Unexpended grants (Note 5 and Note 27) 2,288 1,486

– Reserve funds allocated for specific future purposes (Note 27) 7,882 6,332 

– Trust funds and deposits (Note 24) 491 404 

Restricted funds 11,561 9,134

Total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 850 2,742
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NOTE 17   Trade and other receivables

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Current

Rates debtors 1,277 1,138

Parking infringement debtors 19 14

Pet infringements debtors 8 9

Home and community care 85 76 

Special charge schemes 31 44 

State government 1,203 784

Other debtors 61 117

Net GST receivable 914 961

Provision for doubtful debts (175) (148)

Total 3,423 2,995

NOTE 18   Inventories

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Stock on hand (materials) – 
depot

83 25

Stock on hand – Visitor 
Information Centre

27 25

Stock on hand (fuel) – depot 13 12

Total inventories 123 62

NOTE 19   Assets held for sale

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Cost of acquisition 265 815

Capitalised development costs 227 219

Borrowing costs capitalised 
during development

– –

Total 492 1,034

NOTE 20   Other assets

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Current

Accrued income 1,504 3,183

Prepayments 76 107

Total 1,580 3,290

NOTE 21   Intangibles

$’000 
TOTAL

$’000 
TOTAL

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 1 July 2011 0 0

Additions 219 219

Balance at 1 July 2012 219 219

Additions 23 23

Balance at 1 July 2013 242 242

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

Balance at 1 July 2011 0 0

Amorisation expense (5) (5)

Balance at 1 July 2012 (5) (5)

Amorisation expense (22) (22)

Balance at 1 July 2013 (27) (27)

Net book value at 30 June 2012 214 214

Net book value at 30 June 2013 215 215
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NOTE 22   Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Summary

at cost 22,762 10,370

at fair value as at 30 June 2013 4,947 –

at fair value as at 30 June 2012 322,789 330,098

Less accumulated depreciation (130,284) (130,236)

Total 220,215 210,232

Property

Land

at cost 421 –

at fair value as at 30 June 2012 21,141 21,396

21,562 21,396

Land under roads

at fair value as at 30 June 2013 484 –

484 –

Land improvements

at Council valuation at 30 June 2012 1,537 1,713 

Less accumulated depreciation (155) (87)

1,382 1,626

Total Land 23,428 23,022 

Buildings

at cost 4,859 –

at fair value as at 30 June 2012 49,325 49,325

Less Accumulated depreciation (28,852) (28,205)

Total Buildings 25,332 21,120 

Total Property 48,760 44,142

Valuation of land (excluding land under roads) and buildings were undertaken by a qualified independent 
valuer Mr Ian Gumley of LG Valuations at 30 June 2012. The valuation of buildings is at fair value based on 
current replacement cost less accumulated depreciation at the date of valuation. The valuation of land is at 
fair value, being market value based on highest and best use permitted by relevant land planning provisions. 
All freehold land reserved for public open space is valued at a discount of 30 percent to market value based 
on legal precedents.
Land under roads is valued at deemed cost. Deemed cost is based on Council valuations at 30 June 2012 
and at the date acquired for subsequent acquisitions using site values adjusted for englobo (undeveloped 
and/or unserviced) characteristics, access rights and private interests of other parties and entitlements of 
infrastructure assets and services.
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2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Plant and Equipment

IT, furniture and equipment

at cost 1,743 1,432 

Less accumulated depreciation (1,089) (941)

654 491

Motor vehicles

at cost 1,436 1,410

Less accumulated depreciation (275) (285)

1,161 1,125

Plant and machinery

at cost 3,846 3,760

Less accumulated depreciation (2,555) (2,816)

1,291 944

Total Plant and Equipment 3,106 2,560

Infrastructure

Bridges

at cost 1,427 –

at Council valuation at 30 June 2012 38,521 39,831

Less accumulated depreciation (14,617) (15,494)

25,331 24,337

Drainage

at cost 1,023 –

at Council valuation at 30 June 2012 35,224 36,247

Less accumulated depreciation (10,491) (11,237)

25,756 25,010

Footpaths and cycleways

at fair value as at 30 June 2013 4,463 –

at fair value as at 30 June 2012 – 3,479 

Less accumulated depreciation (1,149) (1,260)

3,314 2,219

Kerb and channel

at fair value as at 30 June 2012 9,089 9,089 

Less accumulated depreciation (4,534) (4,356)

4,554 4,733 

NOTE 22   Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)
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2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Landfill

at cost 3,846 2,407 

Less accumulated depreciation (2,370) (2,346)

1,476 61

Local roads

at cost 2,911 –

at fair value as at 30 June 2012 167,953 169,018

Less accumulated depreciation (64,196) (63,209)

106,668 105,809

Total Infrastructure 167,099 162,168

Valuation of infrastructure assets has been determined in accordance with an independent valuation 
undertaken by Peter Maloney Dip C E C.E. MIEAust. The valuation is at fair value based on replacement cost 
less accumulated depreciation as at the date of valuation.

Works in progress

175 184

Buildings at cost 960 402

Footpaths and cycleways 72 22

IT, furniture & fittings at cost – 22

Land improvements at cost – 205

Landfill at Cost – 12

Local roads at cost 43 515

Total Works in progress 1,250 1,362

Total property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 220,215 210,232

NOTE 22   Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)
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2013

Balance at 
beginning  

of financial 
year 

$’000

Acquisition  
of assets  

$’000

Revaluation 
increments/ 

(decrements) 
$’000

Depreciation 
and 

amortisation 
$’000

Written 
down value 

of  
disposals 

$’000

Other 
Transfers 

$’000

Prior 
Year WIP 
expensed 

$’000
Transfers 

$’000

Balance 
at end of 
financial  

year  
$’000

(note 27) (note 12) (a)

Property
land  21,396  90  -  -  (113)  (142)  -  331  21,562

land improvements  1,626  -  -  (68)  -  (176)  -  -  1,382

land under roads  -  484  -  -  -  -  -  -  484

Total land  23,022  574  -  (68)  (113)  (318)  -  331  23,428

buildings  21,120  1,098  -  (650)  -  -  -  3,764  25,332

building improvements  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total buildings  21,120  1,098  -  (650)  -  -  -  3,764  25,332

Total property  44,142  1,672  -  (718)  (113)  (318)  -  4,095  48,760

Plant and equipment
IT, furniture & equipment  491  -  -  (170)  -  -  -  333  654 

motor vehicles  1,125  583  -  (184)  (363)  -  -  -  1,161 

plant & machinery  944  532  -  (170)  (15)  -  -  -  1,291 

Total plant & equipment  2,560  1,115  -  (524)  (378)  -  -  333  3,106 

Infrastructure
bridges  24,337  -  -  (433)  -  -  -  1,427  25,331 

drainage  25,010  -  -  (277)  -  -  -  1,023  25,756 

footpaths & cycleways  2,219  -  691  (137)  -  -  -  541  3,314 

kerb & channel  4,732  -  -  (178)  -  -  -  -  4,554 

landfill*  61  1,063  -  (25)  -  -  -  377  1,476 

local roads  105,809  686  -  (2,738)  -  -  -  2,911  106,668 

recreational & 
community facilities

 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total infrastructure  162,168  1,749  691  (3,788)  -  -  -  6,279  167,099 

Works in progress
bridges  184  1,418  -  -  -  -  -  (1,427)  175 

buildings  402  4,321  -  -  -  22  (22)  (3,763)  960 

drainage  -  1,023  -  -  -  -  -  (1,023)  - 

footpaths & cycleways  22  579  -  -  -  12  -  (541)  72 

IT, furniture & equipment  22  333  -  -  -  (22)  -  (333)  - 

land  -  331  (331)  - 

landfill  205  172  -  -  -  -  -  (377)  - 

land improvement  12  -  -  -  -  (12)  -  -  - 

local roads  515  2,440  -  -  -  -  -  (2,912)  43 

Total works in progress**  1,362  10,618  -  -  -  -  (22) (10,707)  1,250 

Total property, plant & 
equipment, infrastructure

 210,232  15,154  691  (5,030)  (491)  (318)  (22)  (0)  220,215 

*Addition is reassessment of landfill rehabilitation costs 
**Other transfers represents reallocation of opening balance of WIP

NOTE 22   Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)
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2012

Balance at 
beginning  

of financial 
year 

$’000

Acquisition  
of assets  

$’000

Revaluation 
increments/ 

(decrements) 
$’000

Depreciation 
and 

amortisation 
$’000

Written 
down value 

of  
disposals 

$’000

Other 
Transfers 

$’000

Prior 
Year WIP 
expensed 

$’000
Transfers 

$’000

Balance 
at end of 
financial  

year  
$’000

(note 27) (note 12) (a)

Property
land 21,073  -  1,717  -  (1,174)  -  -  (220)  21,396 

land improvements 1,686  -  -  (65)  -  -  -  5  1,626 

land under roads  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total land 22,759  -  1,717  (65)  (1,174)  -  -  (215) 23,022 

buildings  17,312  -  3,174  (514)  (635)  -  -  1,783  21,120 

building improvements  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total buildings  17,312  -  3,174  (514)  (635)  -  -  1,783  21,120 

Total property  40,071  -  4,891  (579)  (1,809)  -  -  1,568  44,142 

Plant and equipment
IT, furniture & equipment  515  -  -  (159)  -  -  -  135  491 

motor vehicles  968  581  -  (166)  (258)  -  -  -  1,125 

plant & machinery  816  290  -  (162)  -  -  -  -  944 

Total plant & equipment  2,299  871  -  (487)  (258)  -  -  135  2,560 

Infrastructure
bridges  21,469  -  2,757  (433)  -  -  -  544  24,337 

drainage**  22,332  -  2,844  (186)  -  -  -  20  25,010 

footpaths & cycleways  1,775  -  339  (113)  -  -  -  217  2,219 

kerb & channel  3,958  -  937  (178)  -  -  -  15  4,732 

landfill  380  61  -  (380)  -  -  -  -  61 

local roads**  84,433  -  16,512  (2,556)  -  3,107  -  4,313  105,809 

Total infrastructure  134,347  61  23,389  (3,846)  -  3,107  -  5,109  162,168 

Works in progress
bridges  49  680  -  -  -  -  -  (545)  184 

buildings  689  2,279  -  -  -  -  (145)  (2,421)  402 

drainage  15  5  -  -  -  -  -  (20)  - 

footpaths & cycleways  29  210  -  -  -  -  -  (217)  22 

IT, furniture & equipment  4  156  -  -  -  -  (4)  (135)  22 

kerb & channel  15  -  -  -  -  -  -  (15)  - 

landfill*  130  75  -  -  -  -  -  -  205 

land improvement  -  17  -  -  -  -  -  (5)  12 

local roads  168  4,660  -  -  -  -  -  (4,313)  515 

Total works in progress**  1,099  8,082  -  -  -  -  (149)  (7,671)  1,362 

Total property, plant & 
equipment, infrastructure

 177,816  9,015  28,280  (4,912)  (2,067)  3,107  (149)  (859)  210,232 

*Addition is reassessment of landfill rehabilitation costs 
**Opening Balance of WIP has been reallocated

(a) Impairment losses Impairment losses and the reversal of impairment losses on revalued assets, are recognised in the revaluation reserve.

NOTE 22   Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)
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NOTE 23   Trade and other payables

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Trade payables 2,278 5,116

Accrued expenses

– Trade payables 886 345 

–  Superannuation, salaries and 
wages

356 1,903

Income received in advance 62 183

Loan interest 4 5

Total trade and other payables 3,586 7,552

NOTE 24   Trust funds and deposits

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Refundable building deposits 30 53

Refundable contract deposits 357 281

Refundable hire bonds and 
deposits

2 3

Refundable planning deposits 47 3

Building levy 7 12

Castlemaine and Maldon 
heritage fund

34 34

Emergency relief – 6

Other refundable deposits 13 1 

Unclaimed monies 1 2

Total trust funds and deposits 491 404

The nature and purpose of trust funds and deposits 
held at the end of the reporting period are:

Refundable building and planning deposits
Council may issue a building permit or planning 
permit subject to a condition that the applicant 
deposit with the Council a bond, for an amount 
determined in accordance with the regulations, to 
secure the complete and satisfactory carrying out 
of the work authorised by the building permit or 
planning permit.

Refundable contract deposits
Council collects contract retentions under normal 
commercial practice. These amounts are refundable 
to the contractor after the satisfactory completion 
of a warranty period.

Refundable hire bonds and deposits
Council collects funds as surety against damage 
from hirers of Council facilities. These funds are 
refundable to the hirer after the facility has been 
vacated without damage by the hirer.

Castlemaine and Maldon heritage fund
Council received funding on behalf of the State 
Government to provide low interest restoration 
loans to the owners of heritage properties 
requiring renovation or maintenance. These 
funds are repayable back to the Victorian State 
Government when Council ceases to be involved in 
the program. 

Emergency relief
Council held funds on behalf of the Minister for 
Family and Community Service’s determination 
during 2011/2012 financial year. Balance of funds 
was returned in 2012/2013 financial year.

Building levy
Council issues building permits which have a 
funding component that is remitted to the Building 
Control Commission. These funds represent the 
component for the Building Control Commission.

Unclaimed monies
These funds represent monies owed by Council to 
persons or organisations unable to be located.

Other refundable deposits
These funds represent various small amounts held 
by Council on behalf of other organisations or 
individuals. 
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NOTE 25   Provisions
Annual  

leave 
$’000

Long service 
leave  

$’000

Rostered 
days off 

$’000

Landfill 
rehabilitation 

$’000
Total 

$’000

2013

Balance at beginning of the financial year 554 1,436 36 1,594 3,620

Additional provisions 875 173 20 1,115 2,183

Amounts used (847) (233) (16) – (1,096)

Increase in the discounted amount arising 
because of time and the effect of any change 
in the discount rate

 – 41 – – 41

Balance at the end of the financial year 582 1,417 40 2,709 4,748

2012

Balance at beginning of the financial year 558 1,213 34 1,497 3,301

Additional provisions 763 333 24 97 1,217

Amounts used (767) (152) (22) – (941)

Increase in the discounted amount arising 
because of time and the effect of any change 
in the discount rate

– 42 – – 42

Balance at the end of the financial year 554 1,436 36 1,594 3,620
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NOTE 25   Provisions (cont.)

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

(a) Employee benefits provisions

Current (i)

Annual leave 582 554

Long service leave 1,137 1,056 

Rostered days off 40 36

1,759 1,646 

Non-current (ii)

Long service leave 280 380

280 380

Aggregate carrying amount of employee benefits:

Current 1,759 1,646

Non-current 280 380

2,039 2,026

The following assumptions were adopted in measuring the present value of employee benefits:

Weighted average increase in employee costs 3.80% 4.31%

Weighted average discount rates 3.06% 3.06%

Weighted average settlement period 13 years 13 years

(i) Current

All annual leave and the long service leave entitlements of 7 or more years continuous service measured at 
present value.

–  Short-term employee benefits, that fall due within 12 months after the end of 
the period measured at nominal value

622 590

–  Other long-term employee benefits that do not fall due within 12 months 
after the end of the period measured at present value.

1,137 1,056

1,759 1,646 

(ii) Non-current

Long service leave representing less than 7 years of continuous service 
measured at present value

280 380

(b) Land fill rehabilitation

Under legislation Council is obligated to restore the landfill site to a particular standard. Current engineering 
projections indicate that the landfill site will cease operation in 2021 and restoration work is expected to 
commence shortly thereafter. The forecast life of the landfill site is based on current estimates of remaining 
capacity and the rate of infill. The provision for landfill restoration has been calculated based on the present 
value of the expected cost of works to be undertaken. Accordingly, the estimation of the provision required is 
dependent on the accuracy of the forecast timing of the work, work required and related costs. Council does 
not expect to receive reimbursement from a third party.

Non-current 2,709 1,594

2,709 1,594

(c) Total Provisions

Current 1,759 1,646

Non-current 2,989 1,974

Total 4,748 3,620



116  Mount Alexander Shire Council Annual Report 2012/2013

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

NOTE 26   Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
2013  

$’000
2012  

$’000

Current

Borrowings – secured 608  428 

 608  428 

Non-current

Borrowings – secured  3,005  2,313 

Total  3,613  2,741 

The maturity profile for Council’s borrowings is:

   Not later than one year  608  428 

   Later than one year and not later than five years  1,901  1,455 

   Later than five years  1,104  858 

Total  3,613  2,741 

Aggregate carrying amount of interest-bearing loans and borrowings:

Current  608  428 

Non-current  3,005  2,313 

Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings  3,613  2,741 

Borrowings are secured by the general rates.
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NOTE 27   Reserves

Balance at 
beginning of 

reporting period 
$’000

Increment 
(decrement)  

$’000
Impairment 

$’000

Transfer to 
 accumulated  

surplus 

 Balance at  
end of  

reporting period  
$’000

(a) Asset revaluation reserve

2013

Property

Land  14,266  -  - -  14,266 

Buildings  11,925  -  - -  11,925 

 26,191  -  -  -  26,191 

Infrastructure  87,975  691  -  -  88,666

 87,975  691  -  -  88,666

Total asset revaluation reserve  114,166  691  -  -  114,857 

2012

Land  13,008  1,717  -  (459)  14,266

Buildings  8,957  3,174  -  (206)  11,925

 21,965  4,891  -  (665)  26,191

Infrastructure  61,479  23,389  3,107   87,975  

Total asset revaluation reserve  83,444  28,280  3,107  (665)  114,166

Asset revaluation reserves are used to record the increased (net) value of Council’s assets over time.
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NOTE 27   Reserves (cont.)

Balance at 
beginning of 

reporting period 
$’000

Transfer from 
accumulated 

surplus  
$’000

Transfer to 
 accumulated  

surplus 
$’000

Balance at  
end of  

reporting period 
$’000

(b) Other reserves

2013

Campbells Creek section 86 reserve  60  -  - 60

Car parking reserve  19  -  - 19

Diamond Gully project reserve  40  -  (40)  -

Drainage reserve  18  -  -  18

Energy/water saving reserve  59  3  -  62

General reserve  532  -  (206)  326

Gravel pit rehabilitation reserve  9  -  - 9

Industrial land reserve  25  -  (25) -

Market Building reserve  10  2  - 12

Motor vehicles reserve  -  380  (380) -

Heritage Advisory Committee reserve  2  -  - 2

Former Maldon Courthouse reserve  15  -  - 15

Parkland/open space reserve  377  58  - 435

Primary Care Partnership reserve  498  469  (539) 428

Plant replacement reserve  192  793  (523) 462

Sale of land under S181 reserve  89  -  - 89

School of Mines reserve  -  -  -  -

Swimming pool reserve  2,356  412  -  2,768

Tree planting reserve  5  -  -  5

Uncompleted works reserve  2,484  2,921  (2,485)  2,920

Unspent grants reserve  1,485  2,288  (1,486)  2,287

Waste reserve  857  947  (326)  1,478

Total other reserves  9,132  8,273  (6,010)  11,395 
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NOTE 27   Reserves (cont.)

Balance at 
beginning of 

reporting period 
$’000

Transfer from 
accumulated 

surplus  
$’000

Transfer to 
 accumulated  

surplus 
$’000

Balance at  
end of  

reporting period 
$’000

(b) Other reserves

2012

Castlemaine Botanical Gardens reserve  1,086  11  (1,097)  - 

Campbells Creek section 86 reserve  60  -  -  60 

Car parking reserve  19  -  -  19 

Diamond Gully project reserve  47  -  (7)  40 

Drainage reserve  18  -  - 18

Energy/water saving reserve  61  -  (2)  59 

General reserve  577  155  (200) 532 

Gravel pit rehabilitation reserve  9  -  - 9 

Industrial land reserve  25  155  (155)  25

Market Building reserve  8  2  -  10 

Motor vehicles reserve  116  421  (537)  - 

Heritage Advisory Committee reserve  2  -  -  2 

Former Maldon Courthouse reserve  15  -  -  15 

Parkland/open space reserve  321  56  -  377 

Primary Care Partnership reserve  519  455  (476)  498 

Plant replacement reserve  314  168  (290)  192 

Sale of land under S181 reserve  89  -  -  89 

School of Mines reserve  116  -  (116)  - 

Swimming pool reserve  1,510  1,042  (196)   2,356  

Tree planting reserve  5  -  -  5 

Uncompleted works reserve  506  2,485  (507)  2,484 

Unspent grants reserve  1,477  1,485  (1,477) 1,485

Waste reserve  390  552  (85)  857 

Total other reserves  7,290  6,987  (5,146)  9,132 
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NOTE 27   Reserves (cont.)

The purposes to which these reserves are put are 
as follows:

Plant replacement reserve 
To provide funds for the future purchase of plant 
and equipment and for extraordinary maintenance 
costs.

Primary Care Partnership 
Funds set aside that are held by Council on 
behalf of the partnership of seven Councils which 
have combined to administer certain Health and 
Community Services.

Waste reserve 
Funds set aside to provide for the capital 
improvements at the Castlemaine landfill.

Industrial land reserve 
Funds set aside to provide for the continued 
development of Council owned industrial zoned 
land.

General reserve 
Funds set aside for the future provision of Council 
purchases or construction of assets.

Parkland/open spaces reserve 
Funds to provide for future recreational 
infrastructure within the Shire.

Drainage reserve 
Funds for the provision of future drainage 
infrastructure within the Shire.

Car parking reserve 
Funds set aside for the creation of additional car 
parking. These funds were paid to Council in lieu 
of sufficient car parking areas being included in 
private developments.

Tree planting reserve 
Funds set aside for the planting of trees associated 
with subdivisions.

School of Mines reserve 
Funds for the future maintenance and capital 
development of the Castlemaine School of Mines 
building.

Market Building reserve 
Funds that are set aside for the future capital 
works at the Market Building. 

Gravel Pit rehabilitation reserve  
Funds set aside for the future rehabilitation works 
at Council’s gravel pit.

Former Maldon Courthouse  
Funds set aside for the future repair and 
maintenance needs

Sale of land under Section 181 
Surplus unclaimed money after properties sold 
to collect unpaid rates. To be held in reserve until 
statutory claim period lapses.

Swimming pool reserve 
Funds set aside for future capital works on 
swimming pools.

Energy/water saving reserve 
Funds set aside for the undertaking of works on 
Council property which reduces future energy or 
water usage.

Motor vehicle reserve 
Funds set aside for future changeover of motor 
vehicles.

Campbell’s Creek Section 86 committee reserve 
Funds set aside to undertake works at Campbell’s 
Creek recreation reserve.

Diamond Gully project reserve 
Funds set aside to Council to undertake planning 
scheme works in the Diamond Gully area.

Castlemaine Botanical Gardens reserve 
Grant Funds provided to Council for refurbishment 
of the Castlemaine Botanical Gardens

Unspent grants reserve 
Grant fund provided to Council with conditions on 
how they are spent that remain unspent at end of 
year.

Heritage Advisory Committee reserve 
Funds provided to Council to assist with Heritage 
Housing.
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NOTE 28   Correction of error 

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Reversal of impairment losses on revalued assets  -  3,107 

Correction of prior period error found infrastructure assets  -  15,587 

 -  18,694 

The affected reported balances at 30 June 2012 and restated balances as at 1 July 2012 are shown below:

 Total 

Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure 2012

Balance at beginning of financial year  162,229 

Local roads error correction  5,932 

Drainage error correction  9,655 

Restated balance at beginning of financial year  177,816 

Equity 2012

Balance at beginning of financial year  167,152 

Movement in asset revaluation reserve - local roads error correction  5,932 

Movement in asset revaluation reserve - drainage error correction  9,655 

Restated balance at beginning of financial year  182,739 
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NOTE 29   Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus (deficit)  

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Surplus/(deficit) for the year  9,931  2,036 

Items not involving cash:

Depreciation/amortisation note 12  5,052  4,917 

Write back of carry forward WIP  22  149 

Movement in carrying value of associated entities  12  81 

Contributions - Non-monetary assets  (2,354)  - 

Investing Activities

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  406  1,752 

Financing Activitiies

Finance costs  262  223 

Change in assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in other assets  1,710  (3,001)

(Increase)/decrease in other receivables  (315)  (427)

(Increase)/decrease in rates receivables  (139)  (207)

Increase/(decrease) in provision for doubtful debts  27  29 

(Increase)/decrease in inventories  (61)  18 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  (3,966)  4,659 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions  13  320 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  10,601  10,550 
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NOTE 30   Reconciliation of cash and 
cash equivalents

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents (see 
note 16)

 12,411  11,876 

Total reconciliation of cash and 
cash equivalents

 12,411  11,876 

NOTE 31   Financing arrangements

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Loans – used facilities  3,613  2,741 

Unused facilities  500  500 

Unused facilities  4,113  3,241 

NOTE 32   Restricted assets

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Council has cash and cash equivalents (note 16) 
that are subject to restrictions. As at the reporting 
date, Council had legislative restrictions in relation 
to the following:

Car parking reserve  19  19 

Drainage reserve  18  18 

Parkland/open space reserve  435  377 

Primary Care Partnership reserve  428  498 

Unspent grants reserve  2,287  1,485 

Trust funds and deposits (note 24)  491  404 

Total restricted assets  3,678  2,801 

NOTE 33   Superannuation

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Council made contributions to the following funds:

Defined benefit funds

Employer contributions paid to 
Local Authorities Superannuation 
Fund (Vision Super)

 55  1,648 

Employer contributions payable to 
Local Authorities Superannuation 
Fund (Vision Super) at reporting 
date.

 38  1,595 

Accumulation funds

Employer contributions paid to 
Local Authorities Superannuation 
Fund (Vision Super)

 804  743 

 804  743 

Employer contributions payable to 
Local Authorities Superannuation 
Fund (Vision Super) at reporting 
date.

 5  7 

 5  7 

Council’s share of the Local Authorities 
Superannuation defined benefit fund shortfall,  
$1.33 million plus contributions tax, was paid before 
1 July 2013. 
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NOTE 34   Commitments
The Council has entered into the following commitments

2013

Not later 
than 1 year 

$’000

Later than 
1 year and 

not later 
than 2 years 

$’000

Later than 
2 years and 

not later 
than 5 years 

$’000

Later than 5 
years 

$’000
Total 

$’000

Operating

Animal control services  24  24  -  -  48 

Castlemaine Botanical Gardens rotunda  75  -  -  -  75 

Civic Centre removalists  33  -  -  -  33 

Community engagement learning and 
development

 15  -  -  -  15 

Conservation management plan, Market building  11  -  -  -  11 

Customer request management system licence  18  18  52  -  88 

Debt management services  75  75  225  -  375 

Delivered meals  185  -  -  -  185 

Electrical supply  124  124  127  -  375 

Electronic document management system licence  33  33  96  -  162 

Heritage advisory services  54  27  -  81 

Industrial special risks insurance  158  -  -  -  158 

Landfill and Diamond Gully structure plan  47  47  49  -  143 

Landfill management  557  -  -  -  557 

Local community planning project  15  -  -  -  15 

Management of swimming pools  233  -  -  -  233 

MECC IT systems  5  5  5  -  15 

Public lighting  55  -  -  -  55 

Total  1,717  353  554  -  2,624 

Capital

Bridge Rehabilitation  324  -  -  -  324 

Castlemaine town hall building works  312  -  -  -  312 

Implementation Harcourt master plan  262  -  -  -  262 

Footpath construction  185  -  -  -  185 

Heavy machinery  287  -  -  -  287 

Recreation Reserves  278  -  -  -  278 

Maldon Rail Trail design and project management  82  -  -  -  82 

Total  1,730  -  -  -  1,730 
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2012

Not later 
than 1 year 

$’000

Later than 
1 year and 

not later 
than 2 years 

$’000

Later than 
2 years and 

not later 
than 5 years 

$’000

Later than 5 
years 

$’000
Total 

$’000

Operating

Animal control services  20  -  -  -  20 

Community Infrastructure planning  31  -  -  -  31 

Delivered meals  365  185  550 

Diamond Gully apportionment plan  39  -  -  -  39 

Electrical supply  58  58 

Electronic document management system 
licence

 33  33  65  131 

Heritage advisory services  54  -  -  -  54 

Industrial special risks insurance  224  -  -  -  224 

Intergrated performance monitoring and 
reporting

 8  8  8  24 

Landfill and Diamond Gully structure plan  46  46  77  169 

Landfill management  534  534  -  -  1,068 

Local community planning project  23  -  -  -  23 

MECC IT systems  5  5  10  -  20 

Management of swimming pools  225  233  -  -  458 

Newstead pool shell testing  28  -  -  -  28 

Public lighting  55  55  -  -  110 

Total  1,748  1,099  160  -  3,007 

Capital

Castlemaine Caravan Park  28  -  -  -  28 

Harcourt BMX  22  -  -  -  22 

Drainage Works  101  -  -  -  101 

Intersection upgrade works  192  -  -  -  192 

Bridge rehabilitation  117  -  -  -  117 

Former School of Mines refurbishment  120  -  -  -  120 

Wesley Hill Stadium Plan  40  -  -  -  40 

Castlemaine Landfill - drop off wall  64  -  -  -  64 

Recreation reserves  115  -  -  -  115 

Cycling Ppaths– design  16  -  -  -  16 

Total  815  -  -  -  815 

NOTE 34   Commitments (cont.)
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NOTE 35   Operating leases

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

(a) Operating lease commitments

At the reporting date, the Council had the following 
obligations under non-cancellable operating leases 
for the lease of equipment for use within Council’s 
activities (these obligations are not recognised as 
liabilities):

Not later than one year  29  58 

Later than one year and not later 
than five years

 1  32 

Later than five years  -  - 

 30  90 

NOTE 36   Contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets
Contingent liabilities

1.  Council has a contingent liability under its 
agreement with Wheelie Waste to provide a 
guarantee against default for Wheelie Waste’s 
financing agreement for garbage bins included in 
the contract. The value of the contingent liability 
amortises over the life of the contract. The value 
of the contingent liability at 30 June 2013 is 
$560,780 (30 June 2012, $954,524).

2.  Council is a participant of Vision Super defined 
benefit super scheme. Council has potential 
liability for its share of scheme’s future 
deficiency.

3.  A potential liability exists for costs associated 
with de-contaminating waste sand dumped 
at the Castlemaine Rifle Range, if the polluter 
defaults on the requirements that may be 
imposed by the EPA. The extent of the financial 
liability to decontaminate the site and any 
associated legal costs is unable to be determined 
at balance date.

4.  A rehabilitation bond has been issued for the 
restoration of the Tarilta gravel pit. The bank 
guarantee is for $23,500 to the Minister of 
Agriculture and Resources.
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NOTE 37   Financial Instruments
(a) Accounting policy, terms and conditions

Recognised 
financial 
instruments Note Accounting Policy Terms and Conditions

Financial assets

Cash 
and cash 
equivalents

16 Cash on hand and at bank and money market 
call account are valued at face value.

On call deposits returned a floating 
interest rate of 2.75% (3% in 2011/2012) to 
3% (4.25% in 2011/2012). 

Interest is recognised as it accrues. The interest rate at balance date was 
2.75% (3% in 2011/2012).

Investments and bills are valued at cost. Funds returned a fixed interest rate of 
between 2.5% (4.25% in 2011/2012), and 
5.96% (6.5% in 2011/2012) net of fees.

Investments are held to maximise interest 
returns of surplus cash.

Interest revenues are recognised as they accrue. 

Managed funds are measured at market value. Council did not invest in managed funds 
during the year.

Trade and other receivables

Other 
debtors

17 Receivables are carried at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. A 
provision for doubtful debts is recognised 
when there is objective evidence that an 
impairment loss has occurred. 
Collectability of overdue accounts is assessed 
on an ongoing basis.

General debtors are unsecured and arrears 
attract an interest rate of 0% (0% in 
2011/2012). Credit terms are based on  
30 days. 
Special Schemes and accrued income 
include interest receivable components. 
Interest rates were provided by Council’s 
banking institution.

Financial liabilities

Trade 
and other 
payables

23 Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be 
paid in the future for goods and services 
provided to Council as at balance date 
whether or not invoices have been received.

General creditors are unsecured, not 
subject to interest charges and are 
normally settled within 30 days of invoice 
receipt.

Interest-
bearing 
loans and 
borrowings

26 Loans are carried at their principal amounts, 
which represent the present value of future 
cash flows associated with servicing the debt. 
Interest is accrued over the period it becomes 
due and recognised as part of payables.

Borrowings are secured by way of 
mortgages over the general rates of the 
Council. 
The weighted average interest rate on 
borrowings is 6.86% (7.23% in 2011/2012).

Finance leases are accounted for at their 
principal amount with the lease payments 
discounted to present value using the interest 
rates implicit in the leases.

As at balance date, the Council had not 
entered into any finance leases.

Bank 
overdraft

30 Overdrafts are recognised at the principal 
amount. Interest is charged as an expense as 
it accrues.

The overdraft is subject to annual review. 
It is secured by a mortgage over Council’s 
general rates and is repayable on demand. 
The interest rate as at balance date was 
8.17% (10.31% in 2011/2012).
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NOTE 37   Financial Instruments (cont.)

(b) Interest rate risk

The exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rates of financial assets and financial liabilities, 
both recognised and unrecognised, at balance date are as follows: 

Floating 
interest 

 rate 
$’000

Fixed interest maturing in:

Non-interest 
bearing 

$’000
Total 

$’000

1 year or 
less 

$’000

Over 1 to 5 
years 

$’000

More than 
5 years 
$’000

2013

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents  6,599  5,809  -  -  3  12,411 

Trade and other receivables  31  -  -  -  1,201  1,232 

Other assets  32  -  -  -  1,549  1,581 

Total financial assets  6,662  5,809  -  -  2,753  15,224 

Weighted average interest rate 2.79% 4.17%

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables  -  -  -  -  3,586  3,586 

Trust funds and deposits  -  -  -  -  491  491 

Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings

 -  608  1,901  1,104  3,613 

Total financial liabilities  -  608  1,901  1,104  4,077  7,690 

Weighted average interest rate 6.86% 6.43% 5.26%

Net financial assets (liabilities)  6,662  5,201  (1,901)  (1,104)  (1,324)  7,534 

2012

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents  1,571  10,302  -  -  3  11,876 

Trade and other receivables  44  -  -  -  853  896 

Other assets  65  -  -  -  3,225  3,290 

Total financial assets  1,680  10,302  -  -  4,081  16,062 

Weighted average interest rate 3.23% 4.72%

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables  -  -  -  -  7,552  7,552 

Trust funds and deposits  -  -  -  -  404  404 

Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings

 -  428  1,455  858  2,741 

Total financial liabilities  -  428  1,455  858  7,956  10,697 

Weighted average interest rate 6.88% 7.19% 7.48%

Net financial assets (liabilities)  1,680  9,874  (1,455)  (858)  (3,875)  5,365 
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NOTE 37   Financial Instruments (cont.)

(c) Net fair values

The aggregate net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, both recognised and unrecognised, 
at balance date are as follows:

Financial Instruments Total carrying amount as per Balance Sheet Aggregate net fair value

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents  12,411  11,876  12,411  11,876 

Trade and other receivables  1,232  896  1,232  1,857 

Other financial assets  -  -  -  - 

Other assets  1,581  3,290  1,581  3,290 

Total financial assets  15,224  16,063  15,224  17,023 

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables  3,586  7,552  3,586  7,552 

Trust funds and deposits  491  404  491  404 

Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings

 3,613  2,741  3,613  2,741 

Total financial liabilities  7,690  10,697  7,690  10,697 
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NOTE 37   Financial Instruments (cont.)

(d) Credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance 
date in relation to each class of recognised financial 
asset is represented by the carrying amount of 
those assets as indicated in the Balance Sheet.

(e) Risks and mitigation

The risks associated with our main financial 
instruments and our policies for minimising these 
risks are detailed below.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future 
cash flows of our financial instruments will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices.  
The Council’s exposures to market risk are primarily 
through interest rate risk with only insignificant 
exposure to other price risks and no exposure to 
foreign currency risk. Components of market risk  
to which we are exposed are discussed below.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value 
of a financial instrument or cash flows associated 
with the instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 
market interest rates. Interest rate risk arises from 
interest bearing financial assets and liabilities that 
we use. Non derivative interest bearing assets are 
predominantly short term liquid assets. Our interest 
rate liability risk arises primarily from long term 
loans and borrowings at fixed rates which exposes 
us to fair value interest rate risk. 

Our loan borrowings are sourced from major 
Australian banks by a quotation process. An 
overdraft facility is arranged with Councils major 
banker. We manage interest rate risk on our net 
debt portfolio by:

– ensuring access to diverse sources of funding;
–  reducing risks of refinancing by managing 

borrowings in accordance with target maturity 
profiles; and

–  setting prudential limits on interest repayments 
as a percentage of rate revenue.

We manage the interest rate exposure on our debt 
portfolio by appropriate budgeting strategies 
and obtaining approval for borrowings from 
the Department of Planning and Community 
Development each year.

Investment of surplus funds is made with approved 
financial institutions under the Local Government 
Act 1989. We manage interest rate risk by adopting 
an investment policy that ensures:

–  conformity with State and Federal regulations 
and standards,

–  capital protection,
–  appropriate liquidity,
–  diversification by credit rating, financial 

institution and investment product,
–  monitoring of return on investment,
–  benchmarking of returns and comparison with 

budget.

Maturity will be staggered to provide for interest 
rate variations and to minimise interest rate risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity 
will not complete its obligations under a financial 
instrument and cause us to make a financial loss. 
We have exposure to credit risk on some financial 
assets included in our balance sheet. To help 
manage this risk:

–  we have a policy for establishing credit limits for 
the entities we deal with; 

–  we may require collateral where appropriate; 
and 

–  we only invest surplus funds with financial 
institutions which have a recognised credit rating 
specified in our investment policy.

Trade and other receivables consist of a large 
number of customers, spread across the consumer, 
business and government sectors. Credit risk 
associated with the Council’s financial assets is 
minimal because the main debtor is the Federal 
Government. Apart from the Federal Government 
we do not have any significant credit risk exposure 
to a single customer or groups of customers. 
Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the 
financial condition of our customers and, where 
appropriate, an allowance for doubtful debts  
is raised.

We may also be subject to credit risk for 
transactions which are not included in the balance 
sheet, such as when we provide a guarantee for 
another party. Details of our contingent liabilities 
are disclosed in note 36.
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NOTE 37   Financial Instruments (cont.)

(e) Risks and mitigation (cont.)

Movement in provisions for doubtful debts

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Balance at the beginning of the 
year

 148 119 

New provisions recognised 
during the year

36 29 

Amounts already provided for 
and written off as uncollectable

 (9) –

Balance at end of year 175 148 

Ageing of trade and other receivables

At balance date other debtors representing 
financial assets were past due but not impaired. 
These amounts relate to a number of independent 
customers for whom there is no recent history of 
default. The ageing of the Council’s trade and other 
receivables was:

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Current (not yet due) 2,165  1,546

Past due by up to 30 days  33  716 

Past due between 31 and 180 days 980 195

Past due between 181 and 365 days  94 16 

Past due by more than 1 year 147 522 

Total trade and other receivables 3,419 2,995 

Ageing of individually impaired trade and other 
receivables

At balance date, other debtors representing 
financial assets with a nominal value of $175,000 
(2012 $148,000) were impaired. The individually 
impaired debtors relate to general and sundry 
debtors and have been impaired as a result of their 
doubtful collection. Many of the long outstanding 
past due amounts have been lodged with Council’s 
debt collectors or are on payment arrangements.

The ageing of trade and other receivables that 
have been individually determined as impaired at 
reporting date was:

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Current (not yet due) - 

Past due by up to 30 days - - 

Past due between 31 and 180 days  - - 

Past due between 181 and 365 
days

3 26 

Past due by more than 1 year 172  122 

Total trade and other receivables  175  148 

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of 
our operational liquidity requirements:

–  we will not have sufficient funds to settle a 
transaction on the date;

–  we will be forced to sell financial assets at a value 
which is less than what they are worth; or

–  we may be unable to settle or recover a financial 
assets at all.

To help reduce these risks we:

–  have a liquidity policy which targets a minimum 
and average level of cash and cash equivalents to 
be maintained;

–  have readily accessible standby facilities and 
other funding arrangements in place;

–  have a liquidity portfolio structure that requires 
surplus funds to be invested within various bands 
of liquid instruments;

–  monitor budget to actual performance on a 
regular basis; and

–  set limits on borrowings relating to the 
percentage of loans to rate revenue and 
percentage of loan principal repayments to  
rate revenue.

The Council’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed 
insignificant based on prior periods’ data and 
current assessment of risk.
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NOTE 37   Financial Instruments (cont.)

(e) Risks and mitigation (cont.)

The table below lists the contractual maturities for financial liabilities
These amounts represent undiscounted gross payments including both principal and interest amounts

6 months  
or less 
$’000

6-12 
months 

$’000

1-2  
years 

$’000

2-5 
years 

$’000

>5 
years 

$’000

Contracted 
Cash Flow 

$’000

Carrying 
Amount 

$’000

2013

Trade and other payables  3,586  -  -  -  -  3,586  3,586 

Trust funds and deposits  491  -  -  -  -  491  491 

Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings

 121  727  871  1,550  1,228  4,497  3,613 

Total financial liabilities  4,198  727  871  1,550  1,228  8,574  7,690 

2012

Trade and other payables  7,552  -  -  -  -  7,552  7,552 

Trust funds and deposits  404  -  -  -  -  404  404 

Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings

 308  305  564  1,337  973  3,487  2,741 

Total financial liabilities  8,264  305  564  1,337  973  11,443  10,697 

(f) Sensitivity disclosure analysis

Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management’s knowledge 
and experience of the financial markets, the Council believes the following movements are ‘reasonably possible’ 
over the next 12 months (Base rates are sourced from Reserve Bank of Australia):

– A parallel shift of + 0.5% and -0.5% in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end rates of 2.79%.

The table below discloses the impact on net operating result and equity for each category of financial 
instruments held by the Council at year-end, if the above movements were to occur.

Interest rate risk

0.5% 
50 basis points

-0.5% 
50 basis points

2013 $ Profit  $ Equity  $ Profit  $ Equity  $

Financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalents  6,599 33 33 (33) (33)

Financial liabilities:

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  3,613 18 18 (18) (18)

(g) Fair Value Hierarchy

All financial assets carried at fair value are measured at quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities
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NOTE 38   Auditors’ remuneration 
2013  

$’000
2012  

$’000

Audit fee to conduct external 
audit – Victorian Auditor-General

29 28

Internal audit fees – Crowe 
Horwath

73 36

Fees for other services provided 
by internal auditor

 1 16

 103 80

NOTE 39   Events occurring after  
balance date 

No matters have occurred after balance date that 
require disclosure in the financial report.

NOTE 40   Related party transactions

(i) Responsible persons

Names of persons holding the position of a 
responsible person at the Council at any time 
during the year are:

Councillors

Councillor Micheal Redden 

Elected 1/12/2008 Mayor 1/11/2012 to current

Councillor Janet Cropley 

Elected 1/12/2008 Mayor 22/07/2010 to 28/10/2012

Councillor Christine Henderson 

Elected 1/12/2008

Councillor Tim Barber 

Elected 28/02/2012

Councillor Tracey Cross 

Elected 1/12/2008 to 28/10/2012

Councillor Garry Rewell 

Elected 8/06/2010 to 28/10/2012

Councillor Bronwen Machin 

Elected 2/06/2011 to 28/10/2012

Councillor Tony Bell 

Elected 1/11/2012

Councillor Chris Cole 

Elected 1/11/2012

Councillor Jessica Howard 

Elected 1/11/2012

Councillor Sharon Telford 

Elected 1/11/2012

Chief Executive Officer

Phil Rowland
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NOTE 40   Related party transactions

(ii) Remuneration of responsible persons

The numbers of responsible officers, whose total 
remuneration from Council and any related entities 
fall within the following bands:

2013  
NO.

2012  
NO.

$1,000 – $19,999  14  7 

$40,000 – $49,999  1         - 

$50,000 – $59,999         -  1 

$200,000 – $229,999         -  1 

$230,000 – $239,999  1         - 

 16  9 

2013  
$’000

2012  
$’000

Total remuneration for the 
reporting year for responsible 
persons included above 
amounted to:

401 394

(iii)  No retirement benefits have been made by the 
Council to a responsible person.  
(2011/12, Nil).

(iv)  No loans have been made, guaranteed or 
secured by the Council to a Responsible 
Person during the reporting year (2011/12, Nil).

(v) Other transactions

No transactions other than remuneration payments 
or the reimbursement of approved expenses were 
entered into by Council with responsible persons 
(2011/12 Nil.) During 2012/13 Council transacted 
with the following entities which were related 
parties of responsible persons. Rewells Mower 
Services $8,242 (2011/12, $12,212) and Leech 
Earthmoving $183,555 (2011/12, $107,270).

(vi) Senior officers remuneration

A senior officer other than a responsible person, 
is an officer of Council who has management 
responsibilities and reports directly to the Chief 
Executive or whose total annual remuneration 
exceeds $130,000.

The number of Senior Officers other than the 
Responsible Persons, are shown below in their 
relevant income bands:

INCOME RANGE
2013  
NO.

2012  
NO.

<$130,000  8  8 

$130,000 – $139,999  1 - 

$140,000 – $149,999 -  1 

$160,000 – $169,999 -  1 

$170,000 – $179,999  2 - 

 11  10 

Total remuneration for the reporting 
year for Senior Officers included 
above, amounted to

 1,242  974 
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NOTE 41   Income, expenses and assets by function/activities

Strengthening Our 
Community Partnering

Propsperous 
Economy Sustainable Future  Total 

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

Income

Grants 9,851 9,145 9,505 7,031 113 60 2,726 3,260 22,195 19,496

Other 3,396 1,519 (894) 68 341 704 19,853 15,822 22,696 18,113

Total 13,247 10,664 8,611 7,099 454 764 22,579 19,082 44,891 37,609

Expenses (14,882) (20,614) (9,479) (1,922) (1,829) (1,826) (8,771) (11,210) (34,961) (35,573)

Surplus (deficit) for the year (1,635) (9,950) (868) 5,177 (1,375) (1,062) 13,808 7,872 9,930 2,036

Assets attributed to 
functions / activities *

170,408 150,862  -  - 52 28 68,760 64,003 239,220 214,893

* Assets have been attributed to functions/activities based on the control and/or custodianship of  
specific assets.

The activities relating to the Council’s functions 
reported on in the Comprehensive Income 
Statement and above are as per the Key Delivery 
Areas contained in the Council Plan. Details of each 
Key Delivery Area are as follows:

Strengthening Our Community

OBJECTIVE: To enable an active and healthy 
community by providing appropriate services and 
facilities.

KEY SERVICES: Arts and Culture, Community 
Services - Aged and Disability Services, Community 
Services -Families and Children, Enviromental 
Health, Infrastructure - Engineering, Depots and 
Plant, Library Operations, Local Laws, Parks and 
Gardens, Recreation, Street Beautification, Roads 
and Paths.

Partnering for Better Services

OBJECTIVE: To partner with individuals and 
organisations to provide services and facilities.

KEY SERVICES: Community Development, 
Emergency Management, Fire Management, 
Primary Care Partnerships, Youth Services.

Ensuring a Prosperous and Diverse Local Economy

OBJECTIVE: To support the development of 
existing businesses and attract new investment. 

KEY SERVICES: Building, Economic Development, 
Heritage, Planning, Tourism Services.

Creating a Sustainable Future

OBJECTIVE: To protect our natural environment 
and minimise our impact on non-renewable 
sources.

KEY SERVICES: Communications, Corporate 
Services, Customer Service, Environmental 
Management, Executive Services, Finance, 
Governance, Organisational Development, 
Information Services, Property Management,  
Rates, Risk Management, Strategic Planning,  
Waste Management.
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NOTE 42   Financial ratios (Performance indicators)

2013 2013 2012 2012 2011 2011

$’000 (%) $’000 (%) $’000 (%)

(a) Debt servicing ratio (to identify the capacity of Council to service its outstanding debt)

Debt servicing costs 209
= 0.47%

192
= 0.51%

180
= 0.64%

Total revenue 44,891 37,691 28,103

Debt servicing costs refer to the payment of interest on loan borrowings, finance lease, and bank overdraft. 

The ratio expresses the amount of interest paid as a percentage of Council’s total revenue.

(b) Debt commitment ratio (to identify Council’s debt redemption strategy)

Debt servicing and redemption costs 647
= 4.59%

568
= 4.30%

552
= 4.65%

Rate revenue 14,106 13,185 11,868

The ratio expresses the percentage of rate revenue utilised to pay interest and redeem debt principal. 

(c) Revenue ratio (to identify Council’s dependence on non-rate income)

Rate revenue 14,106
= 31.42%

13,185
= 35.06%

11,868
= 42.23%

Total revenue 44,891 37,609 28,103

The level of Council’s reliance on rate revenue is determined by assessing rate revenue as a proportion of the 
total revenue of Council.

(d) Debt exposure ratio (to identify Council’s exposure to debt)

Total indebtedness 12,438
= 17.79%

14,317
= 21.71%

9,470
= 17.59%

Total realisable assets  69,895 65,959 53,827

For the purpose of the calculation of financial ratios, realisable assets are those assets which can be sold and 
which are not subject to any restriction on realisation or use.

Any liability represented by a restricted asset (note 32) is excluded from total indebtedness.

The following assets are excluded from total assets when calculating Council’s realisable assets: land and 
buildings on Crown land; restricted assets; heritage assets; total infrastructure assets; and Council’s  
investment in associate.

This ratio enables assessment of Council’s solvency and exposure to debt. Total indebtedness refers to the 
total liabilities of Council. Total liabilities are compared to total realisable assets which are all Council assets 
not subject to any restriction and are able to be realised. The ratio expresses the percentage of total liabilities 
for each dollar of realisable assets.

(e) Working capital ratio (to assess Council’s ability to meet current commitments)

Current assets 18,029
= 2.8:1

19,257
= 1.9:1

13,538
= 2.5:1

Current liabilities 6,444 10,030 5,327

The ratio expresses the level of current assets the Council has available to meet its current liabilities.

(f) Adjusted working capital ratio (to assess Council’s ability to meet current commitments)

Current assets 18,029
= 3.3:1

19,257
= 2.1:1

13,538
= 2.5:1

Current liabilities 5,307 8,974 5,327

The ratio expresses the level of current assets the Council has available to meet its current liabilities.

Current liabilities have been reduced to reflect the long service leave that is shown as a current liability 
because Council does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting date, but is not likely to fall due within 12 months after the end of the period.
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NOTE 43   Capital expenditure

NOTE
2013  

$’000
2012  

$’000
Capital expenditure areas

Bridges  1,418 680 

Buildings  4,321 2,280 

Drainage  1,023 5 

Foot and cycle paths  579 210 

IT, furniture and equipment  333  156 

Kerb and gutter  -  - 

Land  331  - 

Landfill  172  75 

Land improvement  -  17 

Local roads  2,440  4,660 

Motor vehicle  583  581 

Plant and machinery  532  290 

Intangibles  23  215 

Total capital works  11,756  9,169 

Represented by:

Renewal of infrastructure (a)  4,779  5,341 

Upgrade of infrastructure (b)  168  289 

Expansion of infrastructure (c)  686  - 

Renewal of land and buildings  1,408  1,761 

Renewal of plant and equipment  1,185  1,002 

New infrastructure  -  - 

New land and buildings  3,244  536 

New plant and equipment  263  25 

Upgrade intangibles  23  215 

Total capital works  11,756  9,169 

Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure movement 

The movement between the previous year and the current year in property, plant and equipment, 
infrastructure as shown in the Balance Sheet links to the net of the following items:

Total capital works less intangibles  11,733  8,954 

Contributions - non-monetary assets 6(b)  2,354  - 

Asset revaluation movement 27(a)  691  28,280 

Asset impairment 27(a)  -  3,107 

Depreciation/amortisation 22  (5,030)  (4,912)

Transfer to land held for resale 22  (318)  (858)

Prior year work in progress expensed 22  (22)  (149)

Restatement of Landfill remediation 25  1,066  61 

Written down value of assets disposed 22  (491)  (2,067)

Net movement in property, plant and equipment, infrastructure 22  9,983  32,416 
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NOTE 43   Capital expenditure (cont.)

(a) Renewal 

Expenditure on an existing asset which returns 
the original service potential or useful life of the 
asset . It is periodically required expenditure, 
relatively large (material) in value compared with 
the value of the components or sub-components 
of the asset being renewed. As it reinstates existing 
service potential, it has no impact on revenue, but 
may reduce future operating and maintenance 
expenditure if completed at the optimum time.

(b) Upgrade

Expenditure which extends an existing asset, 
at the same standard as is currently enjoyed by 
residents, to a new group of users. It is discretional 
expenditure which increases future operating and 
maintenance costs, because it increases council’s 
asset balance.

(c) Expansion

Expenditure which extends an existing asset, 
at the same standard as is currently enjoyed by 
residents, to a new group of users. It is discretional 
expenditure which increases future operating and 
maintenance costs, because it increases council’s 
asset base, but may be associated with additional 
revenue from the new user group.

NOTE 44   Special committees and other 
activities
Barfold Hall Committee of Management
Baringhup Community Association  
Committee of Management
Bill Woodfull Recreation Reserve  
Committee of Management
Camp Reserve Committee of Management
Campbells Creek Community Centre  
Committee of Management
Campbells Creek Recreation Reserve  
Committee of Management
Castlemaine War Memorial Stadium  
Committee of Management
Chewton Community and Senior Citizens Centre 
Committee of Management
Elphinstone Community Facilities  
Committee of Management
Guildford Hall Committee of Management
Guildford Saddle Club Reserve  
Committee of Management
John Powell Reserve Committee of Management
Maldon Community Centre  
Committee of Management
Maldon Easter Fair Committee of Management
Metcalfe Hall Committee of Management
Mount Alexander Diggings Management Board
Mount Alexander Shire Audit and Risk  
Advisory Committee
Mount Alexander Shire Heritage  
Advisory Committee
Muckleford Community Centre  
Committee of Management
Newstead Community Centre  
Committee of Management
Newstead Rotunda Park  
Committee of Management
Sutton Grange Hall Committee of Management
Taradale Hall Committee of Management
Taradale Mineral Springs  
Committee of Management
Taradale Recreation Reserve  
Committee of Management
Wattle Flat Reserve Committee of Management
Wesley Hill Facility Committee of Management
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Standard Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013

INTRODUCTION

The following four Standard Statements and 
explanatory notres for the Annual Report form 
a special purpose financial statement prepared 
specifically to meet  the requirements of the  
Local Government (Democratic Reform) Act  
2003 relating to Standard statements. 

The Standard Statements in this comparison  
report each provide information in relation to an 
aspect of Council’s financial management. They 
should be read in conjunction with one another 
to obtain an overall understanding of Council’s 
financial position and management.

The Standard Income Statement, Standard Balance 
Sheet, Standard Cash Flow Statement and Standard 
Capital Works Statement for the Annual Report 
are consistent with the budget adopted on 10 
July 2012 and are prepared on bases consistent 
with the Financial Statements. During 2012/2013 
Council adopted a revised budget for the loan and 
acquisition of a building for the Maldon Visitor 
Information Centre which is not reflected in the 
adopted budget. 

This report is a summary of the information found 
in the Budget and the Financial Statements and 
as such cannot be expected to provide as full an 
understanding of financial performance as the 
complete records from which it is derived. The 
Budget and Financial Statements together with 
their detailed notes should be examined for  
further detailed information.
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STANDARD INCOME STATEMENT 
for the year ended 30 June 2013

Budget 2012/13 
$’000

Variance $ 
$’000

Variance  
%

Ref Actual 
2012/13 

$’000

Income

Rates and charges  16,904  (55)  (0)   16,849 

Statutory fees and fines  526  (54)  (10) 1  472 

User fees  1,542  (13)  (1)  1,529 

Contributions – cash  40  710  1,774 2  750 

Contributions – non-monetary assets  -  2,354  - 3  2,354 

Grants – Operating (recurrent)  6,432  118  2  6,550 

Grants – Operating (non-recurrent)  4,251  5,214  123 4  9,465 

Grants – Capital (recurrent)  700  (208)  (30) 5  492 

Grants – Capital (non-recurrent)  6,503  (815)  (13) 6  5,688 

Other income  1,100  (511)  (46) 7  589 

Reimbursements  136  18  13 8  154 

Total income  38,134  6,757  18  44,891 

Expenses

Employee benefits  (12,452)  445  (4)   (12,007)

Materials and services  (12,196)  (3,615)  30 9  (15,811)

Bad and doubtful debts  -  (36)  -  (36)

Depreciation and amortisation  (4,870)  (182)  4  (5,052)

Finance costs  (228)  (34)  15 10  (262)

Other expenses  (2,093)  719  (34) 11  (1,374)

Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint 
ventures accounted for by the equity method

 -  (12)  -   (12)

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment

 (41)  (365)  891 12  (406)

Total expenses  (31,880)  (3,081)  10  (34,960)

Profit/(Loss)  6,254  3,676  59  9,931 

Other comprehensive income

Net asset revaluation increment(decrement)  1,000  (309)  (31) 13  691 

Comprehensive result  7,254  3,367  46  10,622 

The above standard income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Cash contributions were included in Other income in the budget.
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STANDARD INCOME STATEMENT VARIANCE EXPLANATION REPORT

1 Statutory fees and 
fines

Statutory fees and fines are less than budget as in the budget non statutory 
building services were classified as fees and fines rather than user charges. 

2 Contributions – 
cash

The contribution from VicRoads for future maintenance of the Old Calder 
Highway transferred to Council was budgeted to be received in 2011/2012  
and not received until 2012/2013.

3 Contributions – 
non-monetary 
assets

Non-monetary contributions of $2.354 million relates to road and land under 
road assets related to the transfer to Council of the Old Calder Highway.  It 
also includes the resumption of control by Council of the Harcourt Recreation 
Reserve.

4 Grants - Operating 
(non-recurrent)

Non-recurrent grants exceeded budget by $5.2 million.  Of this flood 
recovery works were $4.83 million and other unbudgeted grants of $353,000 
were received, including the Learner Driver Mentor program, Fryerstown 
Community Hall restoration  and various Home and Community Services 
grants. These were offset by some budgeted grants not received.

5 Grants – Capital 
(recurrent)

Council received lower Roads to Recovery funding due to delays in 
completing the planned program of works.

6 Grants – Capital 
(non-recurrent)

Capital non-recurrent grants were less than budget by $815,000 as a result  
of a greater proportion of flood recovery works being for minor repair works 
that were not capital in nature. Two expected grants for tennis court works 
were not received. 

7 Other income Interest income on investments was less than budget due to reduced interest 
rates and lower cash balances.  The budget also included some internal 
income which is offset against expenses in the financial statements. 

8 Reimbursements Reimbursements were more than budget due to higher debt recovery 
reimbursement of legal costs. 

9 Materials and 
services

The materials and services costs were more than the budget with significant 
expenditure on flood recovery works which were fully funded from grants. 

10 Finance costs Finance costs are more than budget due to restatement of the landfill 
provision and additional borrowing.

11 Other expenses Other expenses were less than budget as a result of actual expenses being 
more correctly classified in other categories.

12 Net gain/(loss) 
on disposal of 
property, plant and 
equipment

The loss on disposal of property plant and equipment was greater than 
budget as a result of the Old Castlemaine Gaol sale offset by no gains from 
sales of Wesley Hill Business Park lots. 

13 Net increase/
(decrease) in 
asset revaluation 
reserves

The  increase in the asset revaluation reserve reflects higher build and 
constructions costs for footpath assets.  This was less than budget due  
to no indexation being applied to other infrastructure assets. 
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STANDARD BALANCE SHEET 
as at ended 30 June 2013

Budget 2012/13 
$’000

Variance $ 
$’000

Variance  
%

Ref Actual 2012/13 
$’000

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents  7,982  4,429  55 1  12,411 

Trade and other receivables  2,823  600  21 2  3,423 

Inventories  62  61  99 3  123 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale  -  492 - 4  492 

Other assets  714  866  121 5  1,580 

Total current assets  11,581  6,448  18,029 

Non-current assets

Investments in associates accounted for using the 
equity method

 856  (93)  (11)   763 

Intangible assets  -  215 - 6  215 

Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  178,145  42,070  24 7  220,215 

Total non-current assets  179,001  42,191  221,193 

Total assets  190,582  48,639  239,222 

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables  2,294  1,292  56 8  3,586 

Trust funds and deposits  110  381  346 9  491 

Provisions  1,589  170  11 10  1,759 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  522  86  16 11  608 

Total current liabilities  4,515  1,929  6,444 

Non-current liabilities

Provisions  2,061  928  45  2,989 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  2,716  289  11 11  3,005 

Total non-current liabilities  4,777  1,217  5,994 

Total liabilities  9,292  3,146  12,438 

Net Assets  181,290  45,493  226,784 

Equity

Accumulated surplus  91,174  9,357  10  100,531 

Asset revaluation reserve  85,444  29,413  34 12  114,857 

Other reserves  4,672  6,723  144 13  11,395 

Total Equity  181,290  45,494  226,784 

The above standard balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1 Cash and cash 
equivalents

Cash assets were higher than budgeted by $4.429 million, due to uncompleted 
works and unspent grants totalled $5.21 million (see reserves note 27).  

2 Trade and other 
receivables

Receivables are greater than budget due to an assumption that the economy 
would recover and outstanding rates debts would reduce.  Rates outstanding 
has increased by $139,000. Government grant receivables were also higher 
than budget.

3 Inventories Inventory has increased as a result of additional timbers held for planned 
bridge renewal works.  

4 Non-current 
assets classified 
as held for sale

The budget did not separately classify assets held for sale.

5 Other assets Other assets are greater than budget due to the accrual relating to recoveries 
for the flood damage recovery work.

6 Intangible assets At the time of developing the budget the replacement of Council’s document 
management system was classified as IT equipment rather than intangibles.

7 Property, 
infrastructure, 
plant and 
equipment 

The higher value for property, infrastructure and plant is due to the 2012 and 
2013  revaluations of assets. 

8 Trade and other 
payables

Trade and other payables are higher than budget as the budget  assumed a 
greater reduction in payables.

9 Trust funds and 
deposits

Trust funds and deposits are higher than budget due to higher than expected 
retentions for capital works undertaken.

10 Provisions Staff turnover has reduced the provision for long service leave. The net increase 
in provisions for landfill rehabilitation was $211,000. 

11 Interest-bearing 
loans and 
borrowings

The net variance for interest bearing loans and borrowings is $375,000 due to 
an additional loan for the purchase of the Maldon Visitor Information Centre 
which was included in the Revised Budget adopted by Council on 27 November 
2012. 

12 Asset revaluation 
reserve

The variance to budget is due to both the 2012 and 2013 revaluations of assets, 
which reflect higher contruction costs. 

13 Other reserves The budget for other reserves under estimated the level of unspent grants and 
uncompleted works.
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STANDARD CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
for the year ended 30 June 2013

Budget 
2012/13 

$’000

Variance $ 
$’000

Variance  
%

Ref Actual 
2012/13 

$’000 
Inflows/ 

(Outflows)

Cash flows from operating activities

Rates  16,804  (95)  (1)  16,709 

Statutory fees and fines  526  (54)  (10)  1  472 

User charges and other fines (inclusive of GST)  1,542  (13)  (1)  1,529 

Grants (inclusive of GST)  17,886  6,233  35  2  24,119 

Contributions (inclusive of GST)  720  30  4  750 

Interest  463  104  22  3  567 

Other receipts (inclusive of GST)  93  114  122  4  207 

Net GST refund/payment  -  2,334  -  2,334 

Payments to employees (including redundancies)  (12,268)  273  (2)  (11,995)

Payments to suppliers (inclusive of GST)  (14,390)  (9,701)  67  5  (24,091)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  11,376  (777)  10,599 

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment

 (13,842)  2,082  (15)  6  (11,760)

Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant 
and equipment

569  371  65  7  940 

Trust funds and deposits 0  87  87 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (13,273)  2,540  (10,733)

Cash flows from financing activities     

Finance costs  -  (205)  8  (205)

Proceeds from interest bearing loans and borrowings 950  360  38  8  1,310 

Repayment of interest bearing loans and borrowings  (450)  12  (3)  8  (438)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  500  167  667 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (1,397)  1,932  (138)  535 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year

9379  2,497  27  11,876 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the  
financial year     

 7,982  4,430 Note 29  12,412 

Financing arrangements Note 31

Restrictions on cash assets Note 32

The above standard cash flow statement should be read with the accompanying notes.
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1 Statutory fees and 
fines

Statutory fees and fines were less than budget by $54,664 with lower 
building and land information certificates and the classification of building 
services as user charges. 

2 Grants (inclusive of 
GST)

For details of grant variances please see Standard Income Statement 
variances. Accrued grants reduced by $1.7 million.

3 Interest Interest on unpaid rates were higher than budget due to the level of 
outstanding rates being higher than budget. 

4 Other receipts 
(inclusive of GST)

The budget also included some internal income which is offset against 
expenses in the financial statements. 

5 Payments to suppliers 
(inclusive of GST)

The materials and services costs were more than the budget with 
significant expenditure on flood recovery works, particularly for contractors 
engaged to complete these works.

6 Payments 
for property, 
infrastructure, plant 
and equipment

Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment were less than 
budget as a result of uncompleted works. The value of uncompleted works 
increased by $1.6 million.

7 Proceeds from 
sale of property, 
infrastructure, plant 
and equipment

Proceeds from the sale of property, $525,000, were greater than budget 
due to the sale of the Old Castlemaine Gaol offset by no sales of Wesley 
Hill Business Park lots. Proceeds from the sale of plant was $114,000 more 
than budget due to the replacement of a grader and other plant. 

8 Repayment of interest 
bearing loans and 
borrowings

Interest payments, proceeds of borrowings and repayment of borrowings 
were higher than budget due to an additional loan for the purchase of a 
building to relocate the Maldon Visitor Information Centre.
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STANDARD CAPITAL WORKS STATEMENT 
for the year ended 30 June 2013

Budget 
2012/13 

$’000

Variance $ 
$’000

Variance  
%

Ref Actual 
2012/13 

$’000 
Inflows/ 

(Outflows)

Capital Works Areas

Bridges  1,287  131  10  1  1,418 

Buildings  3,263  290  9  3,553 

Drainage  115  908  790  2  1,023 

Local roads  4,959  (2,519)  (51)  3  2,440 

Other infrastructure- foot and cycle paths  1,435  (19)  (1)  1,416 

Plant, equipment & other  1,088  49  5  1,137 

Recreation facilities  1,395  (627)  (45)  4  768 

Total Capital Works  13,542  (1,786)  11,756 

Represented by:

Asset renewal  9,107  (1,735)  (19)   7,372 

New assets  4,435  (51)  (1)  4,384 

Total Capital Works  13,542  (1,786)  11,756 

The above standard capital works statement should be read with the accompanying notes.

STANDARD CAPITAL WORKS STATEMENT  
VARIANCE EXPLANATION REPORT

1 Bridges Expenditure was more than budget due to additional flood recovery works. 

2 Drainage Drainage expenditure was higher than budget due to flood related works which 
were budgeted as roads capital works. 

3 Local roads Expenditure was less than budget due to grant funded flood recovery works being 
reclassfied to drainage works and delays in the pavement rehabilitation program. 

4 Recreation Capital works on recreation facilities was less than budget due to delays in the 
design works for the Wesley Hill Recreation Reserve,  Campbells Creek Recreation 
Reserve, Newstead tennis court lights and disability access works.  
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NOTES TO STANDARD STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2013

Note 1  
Basis of Preparation of Standard Statements

Council is required to prepare and include audited 
standard statements within its annual report. 
An income statement, balance sheet, statement 
of cash flows and capital works, together with 
explanatory notes are required.

These statements and supporting notes form a 
special purpose financial statements prepared to 
meet the requirements of the Local Government 
Act 1989 and Local Government (Finance and 
Reporting) Regulations 2004.

The standard statements have been prepared on 
accounting basis consistent with those used for 
the general purpose financial statements and the 
budget and the results reported are consistent.

The standard statements are not a substitute for 
the general purpose financial statements, which 
are included in the annual report. They have not 
been prepared in accordance with all Australian 
Accounting Standards or other authoritative 
professional pronouncements. 

The standard statements compare council’s 
financial plan, expressed through its budget, with 
actual performance. The Local Government Act 
1989 requires explanation of any material variances. 
Explanations have been provided for variations 
which exceed a material amount or which are 
material in nature, that is for variances greater  
than 10%.

The budget figures included in the statements 
are those adopted by Council on 10 July 2012. 
The budget was based on assumptions that were 
relevant at the time of adoption of the budget. The 
Council set guidelines and parameters for revenue 
and expense targets in this budget in order to meet 
council’s business plan and financial performance 
targets for both the short and long term. 

Detailed information on the actual results is 
contained in the financial statements of the annual 
report.  The standard statements should be read 
with reference to the detailed budget which can be 
obtained through the council’s website.  
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